Hybrid Fuzzy System Dynamics Model for Risk Analysis and Contingency Determination

by

Nasir Bedewi Siraj

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Construction Engineering and Management

Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering University of Alberta

© Nasir Bedewi Siraj, 2019

Abstract

The unique nature of construction projects and the uncertainties encountered during project execution make construction a highly-risk prone industry. Risks on construction projects (especially large-scale projects) are extremely complex and highly dynamic, and substantial interrelationships exist among risks throughout the lifecycle of the project. The dynamic nature of risk and opportunity events and the causal interactions and dependencies between them have a considerable effect on risk analysis and contingency determination; their lack of consideration can lead to overestimation or underestimation of contingency.

System dynamics (SD) is a viable option for modeling and analyzing construction risks to determine work package and project contingency, as it is capable of handling such characteristics. However, conventional SD models do not effectively account for the subjective uncertainties associated with system variables, the imprecise nature of factors that influence the variables, and the vague interdependencies between variables. Therefore, a hybrid fuzzy system dynamics (FSD) model that combines the strengths of both SD and fuzzy logic is developed in this research to analyze the severity of interrelated and interacting risk and opportunity events on work package cost and determine work package and project contingencies.

A systematic review and detailed content analysis of selected articles was conducted to identify, categorize, and rank potential risk and opportunity events affecting construction projects. A fuzzy-based risk assessment procedure, which assesses the probability and impact of both risk and opportunity events and considers the experts' expertise level, was employed to assess and prioritize risk and opportunity events. Linguistic scales, represented by fuzzy numbers, were used to allow experts to use natural language to assess the probability and impact of risk and opportunity events

and the causal relationships between them. The alpha-cut method and the extension principle based on drastic *t*-norm were implemented in the FSD model to carry out fuzzy arithmetic operations whenever a fuzzy variable was involved in a given mathematical equation to determine an intermediary or final output. The comparison of project contingency fuzzy numbers obtained based on the two fuzzy arithmetic methods indicates that the accumulation of fuzziness and overestimation of uncertainty encountered in the FSD model was significantly reduced by using the drastic *t*-norm instead of the α -cut method. Structural and behavioral validation tests were performed to validate the FSD model. Moreover, the performance of the FSD model was evaluated by implementing it using actual project case study and the results were compared against contingency values obtained from Monte Carlo simulation and Fuzzy Contingency Determinator[©].

This research addresses the lack of a systematic review and content analysis of published articles related to risk identification and provides a useful reference on common potential risks affecting construction projects. Moreover, it provides a systematic risk assessment and prioritization procedure. This research provides both researchers and construction industry practitioners with a hybrid FSD modeling approach for understanding the dynamic causal interactions and dependencies among risk and opportunity events and determining their severity on work package and project cost contingency using subjective evaluation and experience. It also provides a structured and systematic method of defining causal relationships among risk and opportunity events and constructing subjective fSD model. Additionally, this research provides a basis for the implementation of fuzzy arithmetic methods (both alpha-cut and extension principle) and defuzzification methods in FSD modeling for risk analysis and contingency determination.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Nasir Bedewi Siraj. The research project, on which this dissertation is based on, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Project Name "Risk Assessment of Power Projects' Budgets Using Fuzzy Logic", Study ID: Pro00044029, approved on November 12, 2015. This research was funded by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada Industrial Research Chair in Strategic Construction Modeling and Delivery (NSERC IRCPJ 428226–15), which is held by Dr. Aminah Robinson Fayek.

Chapter 3 of this thesis has been published in the *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*: Siraj, N.B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2018). "Risk identification and common risks in construction: Literature review and content analysis." *J. Const. Eng. Manage.*, 145(9), 03119004-1–03119004-13. Chapter 4 and Chapter 5 of this thesis have been submitted for publication in *Automation in Construction*: Siraj, N.B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2019). "Hybrid fuzzy system dynamics model for analyzing the impacts of interrelated risk and opportunity events on project contingency." *Automat. Constr.*, 70 manuscript pages, submitted July 9, 2019. I was responsible for the data collection and analysis, as well as, the composition of the two manuscripts. Dr. Aminah Robinson Fayek was the supervisory author and was involved with concept formation and composition of the two manuscripts.

Dedication

I dedicate this thesis to my mother, Hawa Shafi, to the memory of my father, Bedewi Siraj, my siblings, and my beloved wife, Muna Naser.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Aminah Robinson Fayek, for her guidance and unwavering support throughout my time as a graduate student. I have benefited from her great knowledge and expertise during my research, and her meticulous and instructive comments have always been helpful. I also want to extend my thanks to my doctoral committee members: Dr. Simaan Abourizk and Dr. Petr Musilek for their contribution and invaluable input during the course of my research.

I greatly appreciate the cooperation, time, and the valuable information provided by the company and experts who participated in this study; without their active engagement in my research, it would have been not just difficult, but impossible to complete this work.

I want to particularly thank Dr. Ronald Ekyalimpa for his contribution to the development of the fuzzy arithmetic library and Dr. Abraham Tsehayae for the fruitful discussions we held at various stages of my research. Their perspectives on some problems helped me refine my work and address the issues in more detail. In addition, I want to mention colleagues and friends who provided continuous assistance and encouragement: Dr. Nima Gerami Seresht, Dr. Mohammad Raoufi, Sarah Miller, Getaneh Tiruneh, Nebiyu Kedir, Yisshak Gebretekle, Selam Yazew, Eyerusalem Tessera, Tebikachew Betru, Muaz Fagiar, Dr. Esayas G/Yohannes, Selamawit Zewdie, Yared Asrat, Bethelihem Hagos, Habtamu Asaminew, Yonatan Sahle, Elias Ahmed, and Zelalem Tadesse.

Finally, I would like to express my indebtedness to my family: my mother, Hawa Shafi; my siblings, Reshad Bedewi, Nebiha Bedewi, Nuritu Bedewi, Siti Bedewi, Shelo Bedewi, and Fatuma Bedewi; and my beloved wife, Muna Naser, for her unyielding support, patience, and love.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	ii
PREFACE	iv
DEDICATION	v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
	<u>All</u>
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND NOTATIONS	xiv
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 BACKGROUND	1
1.2 PROBLEM STATEMENT	3
1.3 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES	8
1.4 EXPECTED CONTRIBUTIONS	9
1.4.1 Academic Contributions	10
1.4.2 Industrial Contributions	11
1.5 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	11
1.5.1 The First Stage	11
1.5.2 The Second Stage	
1.5.3 The Third Stage	
1.5.4 The Fourth Stage	13
1.6 Thesis Organization	14
1.7 References	16
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	21
2.1 INTRODUCTION	21
2.2 RISK MANAGEMENT	
2.3 RISK IDENTIFICATION	
2.3.1 Background on Risk Identification Process	
2.3.2 Risk Identification Tools and Techniques	27
2.3.3 Risk Classification Methods	
2.4 OVERVIEW OF RISK ANALYSIS AND CONTINGENCY DETERMINATION METHODS	
2.5 FUZZY SYSTEM DYNAMICS	

2	.5.1	General Background on System Dynamics	36
2	.5.2	Application of System Dynamics in Construction	38
2	.5.3	Application of System Dynamics for Risk Analysis and Contingency Determination	39
2	.5.4	Integrating Fuzzy Logic and System Dynamics	39
2	.5.5	Application of Fuzzy System Dynamics in Construction	40
2	.5.6	Application of Fuzzy System Dynamics for Risk Analysis and Contingency Determination	41
2.6	Сн	APTER SUMMARY	42
2.7	Re	FERENCES	44
снар'	TER 4	RISK IDENTIFICATION PROCESS AND COMMON RISKS IN CONSTRUCTION.	
SVSTE	EMAT	IC REVIEW AND CONTENT ANALYSIS	55
51511			
3.1	INI	RODUCTION	55
3.2	PR	EVIOUS STATE OF THE ART REVIEWS CONDUCTED ON RISK-RELATED TOPICS	56
3.3	Re	SEARCH METHODOLOGY	57
3	.3.1	Journal Selection	58
3	.3.2	Article Selection	59
3	.3.3	Content Analysis	60
3.4	Re	SULTS AND DISCUSSION	61
3	.4.1	Profile of the Selected Articles	61
3	.4.2	Profile of the Projects in the Selected Articles	64
3	.4.3	Risk Identification Tools and Techniques Used in the Selected Articles	66
3	.4.4	Risk Classification Methods Used in the Selected Articles	70
3	.4.5	Identification, Classification, and Ranking of Common Risks from the Selected Articles	72
3.5	Сн	APTER SUMMARY	84
3.6	Re	FERENCES	87
СНАР	TER 4	FUZZY SYSTEM DYNAMICS MODELLING METHODOLOGY	93
4.1	Int	RODUCTION	93
4.2	Ide	ENTIFICATION OF RISK AND OPPORTUNITY EVENTS	94
4.3	As	sessing Experts' Levels of Expertise and Assigning Importance weights to Experts	94
4.4	As	SESSMENT AND PRIORITIZATION OF RISK AND OPPORTUNITY EVENTS	97
4.5	FS	D MODEL DEVELOPMENT	100
4	.5.1	Constructing the Qualitative FSD Model	100
4	.5.2	Constructing the Quantitative FSD Model	111
4.6	Dy	NAMIC SIMULATION OF THE FSD MODEL AND OUTPUT DETERMINATION	117
4.7	FU	ZZY ARITHMETIC AND OUTPUT DETERMINATION METHODS	117
4.8	Сн	APTER SUMMARY	121

4.9	Refe	RENCES	124
СНАРТ	TER 5	CONSTRUCTION APPLICATION AND MODEL VALIDATION: CASE STUDY .	128
5.1	Intr	ODUCTION	128
5.2	Iden	TIFICATION, ASSESSMENT, AND PRIORITIZATION OF RISK AND OPPORTUNITY EVENTS	129
5.3	QUA	LITATIVE FSD MODEL DEVELOPMENT	136
5.4	QUA	NTITATIVE FSD MODEL DEVELOPMENT	147
5.5	DYN	AMIC SIMULATION OF THE FSD MODEL AND OUTPUT DETERMINATION	148
5.6	FSD	MODEL VALIDATION	157
5.7	Сна	PTER SUMMARY	163
5.8	Refe	RENCES	165
СНАРТ	TER 6	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	167
6.1	Intr	ODUCTION	167
6.2	RESE	ARCH SUMMARY	167
6.2	2.1	Гhe First Stage	168
6.2	2.2	The Second Stage	169
6.2	2.3	Гhe Third Stage	170
6.2	2.4	Гhe Fourth Stage	171
6.3	RESE	ARCH CONTRIBUTIONS	175
6.3	3.1	Academic Contributions	175
6.3	3.2 1	ndustrial Contributions	178
6.4	Rese	ARCH LIMITATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	179
6.4	4.1 0	Content Analysis on Risk Identification Process and Common Risks in Construction	179
6.4	4.2	Assessing Experts' Levels of Expertise and Assigning Importance weights to Experts	181
6.4	4.3 1	Development of Membership Functions for Linguistic Terms	181
6.4	4.4]	Prioritization of Risk and Opportunity Events	182
6.4	4.5 1	mprovement of the Fuzzy DMEATEL Method	
6.4	4.6 1	mplementation of Fuzzy Arithmetic Methods	
6.4	4.7]	Further Expansion of the FSD Model	184
6.5	Refe	RENCES	186
BIBLIC	OGRAP	НҮ	187
APPEN	DICES		204
APPEN	DIX A	SELECTED ARTICLES FOR THE CONTENT ANALYSIS	205
APPEN	DIX B	EXPERTISE LEVEL OF THE EXPERTS IN RISK MANAGEMENT	211

APPENDIX B.1	. Self-evaluation Form (Completed by Experts)	211
APPENDIX B.2	. SUPERVISOR EVALUATION FORM (COMPLETED BY SUPERVISOR)	
APPENDIX C.	PROJECT AND WORK PACKAGE CHARACTERISTICS ASSESSMENT	222
APPENDIX D.	RISK AND OPPORTUNITY EVENTS IDENTIFICATION AND ASSESSMENT	226
APPENDIX E.	ASSESSMENT OF CAUSAL RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN RISK AND OPPO	RTUNITY
EVENTS		239
APPENDIX F.	PRIORITIZED LIST OF RISK AND OPPORTUNITY EVENTS FOR THE	
STRUCTURAL	WORK PACKAGE	241
APPENDIX G.	PRIORITIZED LIST OF RISK AND OPPORTUNITY EVENTS FOR THE ELE	CTRICAL
WORK PACKA	GE	243
APPENDIX H.	CAUSAL LOOP DIAGRAMS OF RISK AND OPPORTUNITY EVENT CATED	GORIES
FOR THE STR	UCTURAL WORK PACKAGE	245
APPENDIX I.	CAUSAL LOOP DIAGRAMS OF RISK AND OPPORTUNITY EVENT CATEG	GORIES
FOR THE ELE	CTRICAL WORK PACKAGE	248
APPENDIX J.	SAMPLE USER INTERFACES OF THE FSD MODEL	

List of Tables

Table 2.1. Advantages and drawbacks of hybrid fuzzy risk analysis and contingency	
determination methods	4
Table 3.1. Contribution of authors in the selected articles 62	3
Table 3.2. Profile of the projects in the selected articles 60	6
Table 3.3. Risk identification tools and techniques used in the selected articles	8
Table 3.4. Risk classification methods and level of RBS used in the selected articles	1
Table 3.5. Top 20 risk category names used in the selected articles for classifying risk based on	
their nature	2
Table 3.6. Number of identified risks in each category in the selected articles	3
Table 3.7. Top ten risks in each category identified from the selected articles	4
Table 3.8. Overall top ten risks identified from the selected articles 82	3
Table 4.1. Criteria and sub-criteria for assessing experts' expertise level (Monzer et al. 2019) 90	6
Table 4.2. Linguistic terms and fuzzy numbers for assessing the degree of causal influence 102	3
Table 4.3. Mathematical equations of flow and stock variables in FSD 110	6
Table 5.1. Complexity and criticality of the work packages 130	0
Table 5.2. Linguistic terms and fuzzy numbers for assessing the probability and impact of risk	
and opportunity events (Elbarkouky et al. 2016)	3
Table 5.3. Prioritized list of risk and opportunity events for a civil work package 134	4
Table 5.4. Fuzzy total-relation matrix (T) of risk and opportunity events for the civil work	
package	8
Table 5.5. Fuzzy and defuzzified values of $(R + C)$ and $(R - C)$ for the civil work package 138	8
Table 5.6. Defuzzified total-relation matrix (<i>TDef</i>) of risk and opportunity events in the civil	
work package	1
Table 5.7. Comparison of the length of the support of the net project contingency fuzzy numbers	
for the α -cut method and the drastic <i>t</i> -norm	2
Table 5.8. Symmetric mean absolute percentage error (SMAPE): FSD net project contingency	
results compared to MCS P50 and P95 project contingency results 160	0
Table 5.9. Symmetric mean absolute percentage error (SMAPE): FSD net project contingency	
results compared to FCD [©] project contingency results	2

List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Project risk management process (adapted from Abourizk 2008) 23
Figure 2.2. Components of system dynamics: (A) Causal loop diagrams and (B) Flow and stock
diagrams
Figure 3.1. Research methodology for article selection and content analysis
Figure 3.2. Percentage of the selected articles published in each journal
Figure 3.3. Number of selected articles by journals and year
Figure 3.4. Total number of references for the top ten risks in each category
Figure 4.1. Steps for developing FSD model for risk analysis and contingency determination 93
Figure 4.2. Level of aggregation in the FSD model 101
Figure 4.3. Causal loop diagram of the management risk and opportunity event category for
structural work package
Figure 4.4. Flow and stock diagram of the management risk and opportunity event category for
structural work package
Figure 4.5. Flow and stock diagram of a structural work package 110
Figure 4.6. Flow and stock diagram of the wind farm project
Figure 4.7. FSD model architecture
Figure 5.1. Influence relation map (IRM) of risk and opportunity events for the civil work
package
Figure 5.2. Causal loop diagram of the management risk and opportunity event category for the
civil work package
Figure 5.3. Causal loop diagram of the construction risk and opportunity event category for the
civil work package
Figure 5.4. Causal loop diagram of the resource-related risk and opportunity event category for
the civil work package
Figure 5.5. Causal loop diagram of the environmental risk and opportunity event category for
the civil work package
Figure 5.6. Causal loop diagram of the health and safety risk and opportunity event category for
the civil work package

Figure 5.7. Causal loop diagram of the contractual and legal, economic and financial, a	nd
political risk and opportunity event categories for the civil work package	144
Figure 5.8. Flow and stock diagram of the management risk and opportunity event categor	y for
the civil work package	145
Figure 5.9. Flow and stock diagram of the civil work package	146
Figure 5.10. Flow and stock diagram of the wind farm project	146
Figure 5.11. Civil work package net contingency based on the α -cut method and the drasti	c <i>t</i> -
norm	149
Figure 5.12. Net project contingency based on the α -cut method and the drastic <i>t</i> -norm	150
Figure 5.13. Defuzzified values of the net project contingency fuzzy numbers	154
Figure 5.14. Defuzzified net contingency of the project based on the COA method for the o	ı-cut
method and the drastic <i>t</i> -norm	155
Figure 5.15. Net project contingency intervals based on the confidence level	156
Figure 5.16. Defuzzified net contingency depletion curves of the project based on the COA	A
method for the α-cut method and the drastic <i>t</i> -norm	157

List of Abbreviations and Notations

Abbreviations

AACE	Association for the Advancement of Cost Engineering International				
AC	Automation in Construction				
AHP	Analytical hierarchical process				
ANNs	Artificial neural networks				
ANP	Analytic network process				
ASCE	American Society of Civil Engineers				
B&E	Building and Environment				
BBN	Bayesian belief network				
CII	Construction Industry Institute				
CJCE	Canadian Journal of Civil Engineering				
CLDs	Causal loop diagrams				
CME	Construction Management and Economics				
COA	Center of area				
DEMATEL	Decision making trial and evaluation laboratory				
DTA	Decision tree analysis				
ECAM	Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management				
ESA	Expert Systems with Applications				

FAHP	Fuzzy analytical hierarchical process
FCD [©]	Fuzzy Contingency Determinator [©]
FCM	fuzzy cognitive maps
FMEA	Failure mode and effect analysis
FRBS	Fuzzy rule-based systems
FSD	Fuzzy system dynamics
FTA	Fault tree analysis
FWISM	Fuzzy weighted interpretive structural modeling
Н	High
IJCM	International Journal of Construction Management
IJPM	International Journal of Project Management
IRM	Influence relation map
ISM	Interpretive structural modeling
ISO	International Organization for Standardization
JCCE	Journal of Computing in Civil Engineering
JCEM	Journal of Construction Engineering and Management
JCiEM	Journal of Civil Engineering and Management
JIS	Journal of Infrastructure Systems
JME	Journal of Management in Engineering

JRUES	Journal of Risk and Uncertainty in Engineering Systems
L	Low
LOM	Largest of maxima
М	Medium
MCS	Monte Carlo simulation
MF	Membership function
MOM	Middle of maxima
MW	Megawatt
N/A	Not applicable
P–I	probability-impact
PMI	Project Management Institute
RBS	Risk breakdown structure
SD	System dynamics
SMAPE	Symmetric mean absolute percentage error
SOM	Smallest of maxima
SWOT	Strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats
T/A/K	Title, abstract, and keyword
TPPP	Transnational public-private-partnership
VH	Very high

VL Very low

Notations

A_b	Forecasted monthly progress percentage of the <i>b</i> th work package
Ĉ	Fuzzy vector representing sum of columns of the fuzzy total-relation matrix
Ĉj	Effect of all other risk and opportunity events have on the <i>j</i> th risk and opportunity
	event
$C_{ib}^{(k)}$	Percentage of the <i>b</i> th work package cost affected by the <i>i</i> th risk and opportunity
	event assessed by the <i>k</i> th expert
C _{ib}	Aggregated percentage of the <i>b</i> th work package cost affected by the <i>i</i> th risk and
	opportunity event
D_b	Forecasted total work package cost of the <i>b</i> th work package
F _b	Forecasted monthly progress in dollars of the <i>b</i> th work package
Ι	Identity matrix
$\tilde{I}^{(k)}_{O_{ib}}$	Fuzzy number representing the opportunity impact of he <i>i</i> th risk and opportunity
	event on the b th work package assessed by the k th expert
$\tilde{I}_{O_{ib}}$	Aggregated fuzzy number representing the opportunity impact of he <i>i</i> th risk and
	opportunity event on the <i>b</i> th work package
$\tilde{I}_{R_{ib}}^{(k)}$	Fuzzy number representing the risk impact of he i th risk and opportunity event on
	the <i>b</i> th work package assessed by the <i>k</i> th expert

- $\tilde{I}_{R_{ib}}$ Aggregated fuzzy number representing the risk impact of he *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *b*th work package
- K_b Relative weight of the work package in terms of its share to the total project cost
- \widetilde{NCD}^{PR} Net contingency in dollars of the project
- \widetilde{NCD}_{b}^{WP} Net contingency in dollars of the *b*th work package
- $\widetilde{NCD}_{eb}^{RC}$ Net contingency in dollars of the *e*th risk category in the *b*th work package
- \widetilde{NS}_i Overall net severity percentage of the *i*th risk and opportunity events on a project
- NS_i^{Def} Defuzzified overall net severity percentage of the *i*th risk and opportunity events on a project
- \widetilde{NS}_{ib} Net severity percentage of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *b*th work package
- NS_{ib}^{Def} Defuzzified net severity percentage of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *b*th work package
- \widetilde{NSD}^{PR} Net severity in dollars of the project
- \widetilde{NSD}_{b}^{WP} Net severity in dollars of the *b*th work package
- $\widetilde{NSD}_{eb}^{RC}$ Net severity in dollars of the *e*th risk category in the *b*th work package
- \widetilde{OCD}^{PR} Opportunity contingency in dollars of the project
- $\widetilde{OCD}_{eb}^{RC}$ Opportunity contingency in dollars of the *e*th risk category in the *b*th work package
- \widetilde{OSD}^{PR} Opportunity severity in dollars of the project

- \widetilde{OSD}_{b}^{WP} Opportunity severity in dollars of the *b*th work package
- $\widetilde{OSD}_{eb}^{RC}$ Opportunity severity in dollars of the *e*th risk category in the *b*th work package
- $\tilde{P}_{O_{ib}}^{(k)}$ Fuzzy number representing the opportunity probability of he *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *b*th work package assessed by the *k*th expert
- $\tilde{P}_{o_{ib}}$ Aggregated fuzzy number representing the opportunity probability of he *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *b*th work package
- $\tilde{P}_{O_{jb}}^{*}$ Weighted opportunity probability of the *j*th posterior risk and opportunity event affected by the *i*th predecessor risk and opportunity events in the *b*th work package
- $\tilde{P}_{R_{ib}}^{(k)}$ Fuzzy number representing the risk probability of he *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *b*th work package assessed by the *k*th expert
- $\tilde{P}_{R_{ib}}$ Aggregated fuzzy number representing the risk probability of he *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *b*th work package
- $\tilde{P}_{R_{jb}}^{*}$ Weighted risk probability of the *j*th posterior risk and opportunity event affected by the *i*th predecessor risk and opportunity events in the *b*th work package
- Q_t Defuzzified net project contingency predicted by the fuzzy system dynamics model
- \tilde{R} Fuzzy vector representing sum of rows of the fuzzy total-relation matrix
- \tilde{r}_i Total causal influence of the *i*th risk and opportunity event has on all other risk and opportunity events

xix

Ř _{ib}	Fuzzy array rep	resenting the <i>i</i> th ris	sk and opportunity e	event in the <i>b</i> th work	package
ib	5 5 1	U	11 2		1 0

- \widetilde{RCD}^{PR} Risk contingency in dollars of the project
- \widetilde{RCD}_{b}^{WP} Opportunity contingency in dollars of the *b*th work package
- \widetilde{RCD}_{b}^{WP} Risk contingency in dollars of the *b*th work package
- $\widetilde{RCD}_{eb}^{RC}$ Risk contingency in dollars of the *e*th risk category in the *b*th work package
- \widetilde{RSD}^{PR} Risk severity in dollars of the project
- \widetilde{RSD}_{b}^{WP} Risk severity in dollars of the *b*th work package
- $\widetilde{RSD}_{eb}^{RC}$ Risk severity in dollars of the *e*th risk category in the *b*th work package
- $\tilde{S}_{O_{ib}}$ Opportunity severity of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *b*th work package
- $\tilde{S}_{O_{jb}}^{*}$ Weighted opportunity severity of the *j*th posterior risk and opportunity event affected by the *i*th predecessor risk and opportunity events in the *b*th work package
- $\tilde{S}_{R_{ib}}$ Risk severity of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *b*th work package
- $\tilde{S}_{R_{jb}}^{*}$ Weighted risk severity of the *j*th posterior risk and opportunity event affected by the *i*th predecessor risk and opportunity events in the *b*th work package
- *T* Crisp total-relation matrix
- \tilde{T} Fuzzy total-relation matrix
- t_d Drastic *t*-norm
- *T^{Def}* Defuzzified total-relation matrix

$ ilde{t}_{ij}$	Total degree of causal influence of the <i>i</i> th risk and opportunity event on the <i>j</i> th risk
	and opportunity event
t_{ij}^{Def}	Defuzzified total degree of causal influence of the <i>i</i> th risk and opportunity event on
	the <i>j</i> th risk and opportunity event
$t^{Def}_{(ij)b}$	Defuzzified degree of causal influence of the <i>i</i> th predecessor risk and opportunity
	events on the <i>j</i> th risk and opportunity event in the <i>b</i> th work package
T_l	Crisp total-relation matrix of the lower bound values (l)
t _{Luk}	Lukasiewicz (bounded difference) <i>t</i> -norm
T_m	Crisp total-relation matrix of the mode values (m)
t _{min}	Minimum <i>t</i> -norm
t _{prod}	Product <i>t</i> -norm
T_u	Crisp total-relation matrix of the upper bound values (u)
V _t	The P50 and P95 project contingency estimated by Monte Carlo simulation or the
	defuzzified project contingency predicted by Fuzzy Contingency Determinator $^{\odot}$
W_k	Importance weight of the kth expert
$\tilde{X}^{(k)}$	Initial fuzzy matrix assessed by the <i>k</i> th expert
$ ilde{X}^{C}$	Aggregated fuzzy direct-relation matrix
$\tilde{x}_{ij}^{(k)}$	Degree of causal influence of the <i>i</i> th risk and opportunity event on the <i>j</i> th risk and
	opportunity event as assessed by the <i>k</i> th expert

\tilde{x}_{ij}^{c}	Aggregated degree of causal influence of the <i>i</i> th risk and opportunity event on the
	<i>j</i> th risk and opportunity event
Ζ	Crisp normalized direct-relation matrix
Ĩ	Normalized fuzzy direct-relation matrix
<i>Ĩ</i> _{ij}	Normalized degree of causal influence of the <i>i</i> th risk and opportunity event on the
	<i>j</i> th risk and opportunity event
Z _l	Crisp normalized direct-relation matrix of the lower bound values (l)
Z_m	Crisp normalized direct-relation matrix of the mode values (m)
Z _u	Crisp normalized direct-relation matrix of the upper bound values (u)
θ	Fuzzy subtraction
\oplus	Fuzzy addition
\otimes	Fuzzy multiplication

Chapter 1 Introduction¹

1.1 Background

Studies confirm that construction is a highly risk-prone industry because of certain distinctive characteristics of construction projects (El-Sayegh and Mansour 2015; Zeng et al. 2007). Construction projects are characterized by their varying degrees of uniqueness and complexity, the active involvement of multiple stakeholders, capital intensiveness, dynamic environments, long production durations, and exposure to external environment and weather conditions (Taroun 2014). Such characteristics contribute significantly to the existence of high uncertainty and risk in construction projects. Risks and uncertainties are indeed inherent in every construction project from initiation through to completion—and even during the operation phase of the constructed facility—regardless of the size, nature, complexity, and location of the project. Failure to deal sufficiently with potential risks and uncertainties throughout the project life cycle can often have detrimental consequences on project objectives. Risk management, therefore, should be applied as an integral part of project management for the successful delivery of construction projects in terms of time, cost, quality, safety, and environmental sustainability (Zou et al. 2007).

¹ Parts of this chapter have been published in the *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*: Siraj, N. B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2019). "Risk identification and common risks in construction: Literature review and content analysis." *J. Const. Eng. Manage.*, 145(9), 03119004-1–03119004-13; and submitted for publication in *Automation in Construction*: Siraj, N. B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2019). "Hybrid fuzzy system dynamics model for analyzing the impacts of interrelated risks and opportunity events on project contingency." *Automat. Constr.*, 70 manuscript pages, submitted July 9, 2019.

There are several definitions of risk in the literature, and the definitions vary based on the industry and context in which they are used. Risk is often defined in terms of uncertain events and their impact on project objectives. The Project Management Institute (PMI 2013) defines risk as "an uncertain event or condition that, if it occurs, has a positive or negative effect on a project's objectives." Most definitions of risk in the literature focus on the negative effect or risks (threats) and overlook the positive effect (opportunity). In this thesis, the definition proposed by PMI is adopted and the term "risk and opportunity event" is used to show both the positive and negative effects. While risk and uncertainty are considered distinct terms and concepts by some authors, others consider them to be synonymous. The International Organization for Standardization (ISO) defines uncertainty as the "state, even partial, of deficiency of information related to, understanding or knowledge of, an event, its consequence, or likelihood" (ISO 2009). In this thesis, risk is considered a concern if and only if an event or its effect is associated with a certain degree of uncertainty. According to Al-Bahar and Crandall (1990) and Lam et al. (2007), risk is characterized by three components: the risk event (what might happen to the detriment or in favor of the project), the uncertainty of the event (the chance of the event occurring), and the potential loss or gain (the consequence of the event happening).

The Association for the Advancement of Cost Engineering International (AACE International 2007) defines contingency as "an additional cost added to an estimate to allow for items, conditions, or events for which the state, occurrence, or effect is uncertain and that experience shows will likely result." The definition provided by AACE International, specifically focuses on a single project objective, i.e., cost that needs to be added on the base estimate. On the other hand, contingency is defined by Project Management Institute (PMI 2013) as "the amount of funds, budget, or time needed above the estimate to reduce the risk of overruns of project

objectives to a level acceptable to the organization." For defined risks (known unknowns), contingency take the form of risk budget (risk allowance); whereas the unforeseen risks (unknown unknowns) are covered with "true contingency" (Hillson 1999). Despite the distinction between these two types of contingency, they are commonly used interchangeably. Contingency estimation, allocation, and management are vital for mitigating the risks and enhancing the opportunities associated with construction projects in order to deliver successful outcomes (Salah and Moselhi 2015). Without proper risk analysis and contingency determination, risk management and risk response planning strategies can be compromised; therefore, contingency needs to be accurately estimated, reasonably allocated, and wisely managed over the life of the project (Barraza et al. 2007; Salah and Moselhi 2015).

Risks in construction projects are extremely complex and highly dynamic, especially on large-scale projects. Moreover, substantial interrelationships exist among risks due to the interactions between internal and external environments throughout the lifecycle of the project (Nasirzadeh et al. 2008). The dynamic nature of risk and opportunity events and the causal interactions and dependencies among them have a considerable effect on risk analysis and contingency determination. Failing to account for these factors can lead to inaccurate contingency estimation, resulting in a budget deficit in the case of underestimation or the loss of bids and investment opportunities in the case of overestimation. If contingency is overestimated, there is a potential for mismanagement of excess contingency reserve.

1.2 Problem Statement

Risk identification and risk analysis are the most widely studied stages of risk management in the literature. As a result, various risk identification and risk analysis tools and techniques have been

developed. However, there are still some gaps in risk identification and risk analysis research. The current gaps that will be addressed in this research are summarized in this section.

Risk identification is a critical stage in the risk management process, as it provides a basis for subsequent stages and ensures the effectiveness of risk management (Banaitiene and Banaitis 2012; Hwang et al. 2013; Zayed et al. 2008). Published literature is one of the main sources of information for identifying risks (both positive and negative) in construction projects. Researchers have previously identified numerous risks affecting construction projects, and these identified risks have been used for risk assessment, analysis, and modeling purposes. Although much effort has been expended on identifying risks from the literature, existing literature reviews are not exhaustive, they lack systematic analysis, and they are limited to only a few papers. Moreover, a detailed content analysis has not been done on articles that deal with risk identification tools and techniques, classification methods, and common risks in construction management. Thus, the *first gap* that will be addressed in this thesis is the lack of systematic review and content analysis of published articles related to risk identification in construction.

Most traditional quantitative risk analysis techniques and contingency determination methods fail to capture the complex interrelationships and causal interactions that exist among risks and do not account for the dynamic nature of construction risks that result from various feedback processes (Wang and Yuan 2017; Boateng et al. 2012; Nasirzadeh et al. 2008). In many studies, risks in a construction system are assessed and analysed as if they are independent, when in fact they affect each other. Independent risks rarely exist in reality, and a risk that is triggered by other risks may cause subsequent risks on a construction project (Wang and Yuan 2017; Zhang 2016; Ren 1994). Moreover, the existence of one risk may affect the probability and impact of

other risks (Tavakolan and Etemadinia 2017). The cumulative impact of interrelated and interacting risks is different than the sum of the individual impacts of independent risks (Nasirzadeh et al. 2008). The probability of occurrence and impact of risk and opportunity events on work package and project cost change over time. However, traditional risk modeling and analysis approaches tend to focus on a static view of risks rather than considering the time-related behavior of risks. To determine realistic contingency, it is essential that the interrelationships and interactions among risks and the dynamic nature of risks be considered during modeling and analysis.

The system dynamics (SD) approach, which is primarily based on cause-effect relationships, is a viable option for modeling and analyzing construction risks, that addresses the aforementioned limitations of traditional risk analysis techniques (Wang and Yuan 2017; Boateng et al. 2012; Nasirzadeh et al. 2008). The types of uncertainties involved in risk modeling and analysis fall under two general categories: probabilistic uncertainties (randomness) and nonprobabilistic uncertainties (subjective uncertainties). Conventional SD models only capture probabilistic uncertainties. However, probabilistic uncertainties are represented by probability distribution functions developed based on historical data, which are often not available in construction. In cases where historical data are not available in sufficient quantity and quality, analysis relies on linguistically expressed expert knowledge, which is usually uncertain and imprecise. For instance, experts tend to assess the probability of occurrence and impact of risk and opportunity events as well as the causal relationships among them using linguistic terms (e.g., low and high) instead of using an exact numerical value. The subjective uncertainties resulting from linguistic approximation and measurement imprecision in risk assessment are best addressed with fuzzy logic. Therefore, the second gap that will be addressed in this thesis is the lack of dynamic

risk analysis model capable of capturing the complex interrelationships and interactions among risk and opportunity events and the dynamic aspect of risks, for determining the work package and project contingencies by accounting for subjective uncertainties. A hybrid fuzzy system dynamics (FSD) model that combines the individual strengths of SD and fuzzy logic for analyzing the severity of interrelated and interacting risk and opportunity events and determining work package and project contingencies has been developed in this research. SD captures the interrelationship and interaction among risk factors and consider the highly dynamic nature of risks that results from various feedback processes involved throughout the lifecycle of a project. While, fuzzy logic captures the subjective uncertainty and imprecision of variables and/or parameters involved in risk analysis and contingency determination. Although several efforts have been made to integrate fuzzy logic and SD in various fields, the application of FSD in construction and specifically in risk analysis and contingency determination is limited.

The fundamental purpose of SD and FSD is to capture how the parts in a system interact with one another and how a change in one variable affects the other variable over time (Boateng et al. 2012; Nasirzadeh et al. 2008). Causal loop diagrams (CLDs) are employed in SD and FSD models to map interdependencies and causal structures among model variables. The literature reveals that there is a lack of structured and systematic methods for constructing CLDs to capture the causal relationships among risk and opportunity events. CLDs in SD and FSD models for risk analysis and contingency determination are commonly constructed based on modelers' assumptions and experts' verification (Wang and Yuan 2017; Boateng et al. 2012) or, alternatively, the conceptual foundations of the models are borrowed from other fields and modified to make them applicable for construction projects (Nasirzadeh et al. 2008; Nasirzadeh et al. 2014). Thus,

the *third gap* that will be addressed in this research is the lack of structured and systematic method for constructing CLDs to capture the causal relationships among risk and opportunity events.

The variables involved in FSD models are categorized as objective and subjective (fuzzy) variables (Coyle 2000; Sterman 2000). Objective variables (e.g., remaining time, work done, production, etc.) have quantitative metrics and are readily quantifiable (Coyle 2000). Objective variables are defined by crisp numbers or probability distributions to capture randomness (probabilistic uncertainties). Subjective variables (e.g., familiarity with new techniques, workmanship of workers, crew motivation, adequacy of maintenance program, haul road condition, etc.) do not have numerical metrics or are qualitative in nature and better expressed linguistically (Coyle 2000; Sterman 2000). Subjective variables can be best described using membership functions, which characterize linguistic terms. Subjective variables represented by membership functions are incorporated in SD through the use of different approaches (Liu et al. 2011; Nasirzadeh et al. 2008; Sabounchi et al. 2011). However, these approaches are not practical when the number of subjective variables involved are large. Thus, the *fourth gap* that will be addressed in this research is the lack of methods for representing a large number of subjective (fuzzy) variables in FSD models for risk analysis and contingency determination.

In FSD, mathematical equations can contain both objective and subjective variables. Fuzzy arithmetic is utilized in FSD models instead of the classical arithmetic to carry out algebraic operations in a given mathematical equation to determine an intermediate or final output whenever a subjective (fuzzy) variable is involved, such as multiplying the probability and impact of a risk and opportunity event, both of which are expressed as a fuzzy number, to determine its severity. Basically, there are two methods for carrying out the fuzzy arithmetic operations: the alpha-cut (α -

cut) method and the extension principle method (based on *t*-norms). The type of fuzzy arithmetic method and choice of fuzzy operators such as *t*-norm have a considerable effect on the output of FSD model. The α -cut method is the most commonly used arithmetic method in FSD models. However, the α -cut method is based on interval arithmetic, which can lead to phenomenon of accumulating fuzziness (due to growth of the support) and the overestimation of the uncertainty in FSD model (Chang et al. 2006). Recently, Gerami Seresht and Fayek (2018) explored the implementation of fuzzy arithmetic operations by both the α -cut and extension principle methods in FSD model to determine the multi-factor productivity of equipment intensive activities. Implementing the extension principle method in FSD models for risk analysis and contingency determination helps to address the over estimation of uncertainty due to the use of α -cut method. Therefore, the *fifth gap* that will be addressed in this research is the lack of research on implementation of fuzzy arithmetic by the extension principle method in FSD models for risk analysis and contingency determination.

1.3 Research Objectives

The hypothesis of this research is as follows:

Construction risks and opportunities can effectively be modeled and analysed using FSD to determine work package and project contingency by accounting for causal interactions between risks and opportunities, dynamic nature of risks and opportunities that results from various feedback processes, and subjective uncertainty of experts in assessing risks and opportunities.

The main objective of this research is to develop a hybrid FSD model to analyse the severity of interrelated and interacting risk and opportunity events on work package cost and determine work package and project contingency. The detailed objectives of this research are grouped under the following five main categories:

- To examine common risk identification tools and techniques, risk classification methods, and common risks affecting construction projects through systematic review and detailed content analysis.
- 2. To provide a systematic fuzzy-based risk assessment and prioritization procedure, which incorporates opportunity in the assessment and accounts for differing levels of expertise in risk management based on a comprehensive set of expert qualification attributes.
- To provide a hybrid FSD modeling approach for capturing the causal interactions and dependencies among risk and opportunity events and quantifying their severity on work package and project cost.
- 4. To offer a risk analysis and contingency determination approach based on subjective evaluation and experience, which is complementary to traditional deterministic and probabilistic methods, and to demonstrate how risk analysis can be improved using fuzzy logic and SD.

1.4 Expected Contributions

The expected contributions of this research are categorized as academic contributions and industrial contributions based on their relevance to academic researchers and construction industry practitioners, respectively.

1.4.1 Academic Contributions

The expected academic contributions of this research are as follows:

- Providing a systematic and in depth content analysis of published articles related to risk identification in construction; and a useful reference on common potential risks affecting construction projects for future risk identification, analysis, and modeling purposes.
- 2. Providing a systematic fuzzy-based risk assessment and prioritization procedure, which uses linguistic scales represented by fuzzy numbers to assess probability and impact of risks; incorporates opportunity in the assessment; allows risk assessment at the work package level; and accounts for differing levels of expertise in risk management based on a comprehensive set of expert qualification attributes.
- 3. Providing an approach, using hybrid FSD modeling, that can consider the dynamic causal interactions and dependencies between risks (opportunities) and quantify their severity on work package cost and consequently determine work package and project contingency by using expert judgement, linguistic scales, and fuzzy numbers.
- 4. Contributing to the advancement of the state of the art in FSD modeling for risk analysis and contingency determination by
 - a) providing a structured and systematic method that uses linguistic terms for constructing CLDs;
 - b) providing a method for handling subjective uncertainty in FSD;
 - c) implementing fuzzy arithmetic methods (both α -cut and extension principle based on drastic *t*-norm) in FSD to carry out algebraic operations in mathematical equations involving fuzzy variables.

1.4.2 Industrial Contributions

The expected industrial contributions of this research are as follows:

- Providing a useful reference on common potential risks affecting construction projects for future risk identification, analysis, and modeling purposes through systematic review and content analysis of published articles.
- Providing a risk modeling and analysis approach that allows construction industry practitioners to assess risks and opportunities by using subjective evaluation and experience.
- Providing a hybrid FSD modeling approach to understand the dynamic causal interactions and dependencies among risks; quantify and track their severity on work package cost; and determine work package and project contingency.

1.5 Research Methodology

A brief description of the four main stages followed in this research to achieve the objectives listed in Section 1.3 are provided in this section.

1.5.1 The First Stage

The research commenced by conducting comprehensive state of the art review on processes entailed in risk management in general, with a specific focus on risk identification and risk analysis. Past studies focusing on hybrid fuzzy techniques, SD, and FSD for risk analysis and contingency determination were closely examined to identify the research gaps outlined in Section 1.2. After conducting the literature review, the main theoretical framework of the research and rationale for selecting the FSD modeling approach for risk analysis and contingency determination were established.

1.5.2 The Second Stage

In the second stage of this research, a systematic review and detailed content analysis of 130 selected articles from 14 well-regarded academic journals in construction engineering and management published between 1990 and 2017 was conducted. Common risk identification tools and techniques and risk classification methods used in the construction risk management process were investigated. A comprehensive and structured classification method is proposed based on the existing category names in the selected articles. Also, common potential risks that affect construction projects were identified from the selected articles; categorized based on the nature of the risks; and ranked based on their frequencies, i.e., the total number of references (hits) each risk had.

1.5.3 The Third Stage

In the third stage of this research, data collection forms were designed to determine the expertise level of the research participants in risk management based on certain qualification attributes; to assess the project and work package characteristics; to identify and assess potential risks/opportunities affecting the selected work packages; and to establish causal relationship among prioritized risks/opportunities. A candidate project and work packages were selected for the research through a meeting in the presence of senior management staff from the participating company. Then, data collection was carried out initially and at different percentage completion of the work packages. A systematic risk assessment and prioritization procedure was established and the identified risks were then assessed and prioritized based on their net severity percentage.

1.5.4 The Fourth Stage

In the fourth stage, the FSD model was developed in two phases: (i) development of CLDs and the qualitative model to establish the causal interactions and dependencies among risk and opportunity events and (ii) development of the quantitative model to quantify the severity of prioritized risk and opportunity events on work package and project cost contingency. A structured and systematic method, based on fuzzy DEMATEL (decision making trial and evaluation laboratory) (Jalal and Shoar 2017; Can and Toktas 2018; Ghassemi and Darvishpour 2018), was used to construct the CLDs from the experts' causal relationship assessments. In developing the quantitative model, the objective and subjective (fuzzy) variables of the FSD model was identified. The subjective variables of the FSD model were represented using membership functions. Mathematical equations were developed to define the relationships between risk and opportunity events and to calculate the values of flow and stock variables in the FSD model. Methods for incorporating both α -cut method and extension principle based on drastic *t*-norm in FSD model were explored to carry out fuzzy arithmetic operations in mathematical equations involving fuzzy variables. The qualitative and quantitative FSD models were implemented using AnyLogic[®] simulation software. A fuzzy arithmetic class was developed using the Java programing language and imported to the quantitative FSD model in AnyLogic[®] for performing fuzzy arithmetic operations as well as for determining the contingency values using defuzzification methods and confidence levels. Finally, the qualitative and quantitative FSD models were validated by conducting structural and behavioral validations. Structural validation—which comprises structural verification, parameter verification, and dimensional consistency—was carried out on the CLDs, flow and stock diagrams, and mathematical equations. For behavioral validation, the performance of The FSD model was evaluated by implementing it using actual project case study and the results were compared against contingency values obtained from Monte Carlo simulation (MCS) and Fuzzy Contingency Determinator[©] (FCD[©]) (Elbarkouky et al. 2016), both of which determine project contingency by considering risk events to be independent and static.

1.6 Thesis Organization

Chapter 1 presents a brief background of the research, the problem statement, and objectives of this research. The expected academic and industrial contributions and the research methodology are also provided in this chapter. The rest of this thesis is organized as follows.

Chapter 2 presents an overview of processes entailed in risk management and the conventional risk analysis and contingency determination techniques commonly used in construction domain with their advantages and drawbacks. In addition, state of the art review on hybrid fuzzy risk analysis and contingency determination methods, SD, and FSD is presented and limitations are identified.

Chapter 3 presents the methodology, results, and discussions of a systematic review and detailed content analysis of 130 articles related to risk identification published in 14 well-regarded academic journals in construction engineering and management between 1990 and 2017. This chapter also presents the proposed comprehensive and structured risk classification method and a list of systematically categorized and ranked common risks affecting construction projects based on the content analysis of the selected articles. The proposed classification method and the identified risks were used as input to develop the data collection forms and the qualitative and quantitative FSD models in the subsequent chapters.

Chapter 4 presents the overall methodology and the detailed steps for developing the hybrid FSD model to analyse the severity of prioritized risk and opportunity events on work package cost and
determine work package and project contingencies. This chapter, describes the method adopted to assess the experts' expertise level and determine importance weight of experts. Also, a systematic risk assessment and prioritization procedure is presented. This chapter discusses the fuzzy DEMATEL method proposed to construct the CLDs in the qualitative model development stage. Moreover, the mathematical procedure used in the FSD model to determine the work package and project contingency as well as implementation of the fuzzy arithmetic methods are described.

Chapter 5 describes the application of the proposed FSD modelling methodology for analyzing the risk and opportunity events and determining the work package and project contingencies of a selected case study. The work package and project cost contingency results of the dynamic simulation of the FSD model based on α -cut method and drastic *t*-norm are presented and discussed. The structural and behavioral validation tests used for validating the FSD models are also presented in this chapter.

Chapter 6 presents the conclusions, contributions, and limitations of this research along with recommendations for future research.

1.7 References

- AACE International (The Association for the Advancement of Cost Engineering International).
 (2007). "Cost engineering terminology." *Recommended practice 10S–90*, AACE International, Morgantown, WV.
- Al-Bahar, J.F., and Crandall, K.C. (1990). "Systematic risk management approach for construction projects." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 116(3), 533–546.
- Banaitiene, N., and Banaitis, A. (2012). *Risk management Current issues and challenges: Risk management in construction projects*, InTech, 429–448.
- Barraza, G. and Bueno, R. (2007). "Cost contingency management." *J. Manage. Eng.*, 23(3), 140–146.
- Boateng, P., Chen, Z., Ogunlana, S., and Ikediashi, D. (2012). "A system dynamics approach to risks description in megaprojects development." *Organization, Technology, and Management in Construction: an International Journal*, 4(3), 593–603.
- Can, G.F., and Toktas, P. (2018). "A novel fuzzy risk matrix based risk assessment approach." *Kybernetes*, 47(9), 1721–1751.
- Chang, P., Pai, P., Lin, K., and Wu, M. (2006). "Applying fuzzy arithmetic to the system dynamics for the customer–producer–employment model." *Int. J. Syst. Sci.*, 37(10), 673–698.
- Coyle, G. (2000). "Qualitative and quantitative modelling in system dynamics: Some research questions." *Sys. Dyn. Rev.*, 16(3), 225–244.

- Elbarkouky, M.M.G., Fayek, A. Robinson, Siraj, N.B., and Sadeghi, N. (2016). "Fuzzy arithmetic risk analysis approach to determine construction project contingency." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 142(12), 1–11.
- El-Sayegh, S.M., and Mansour, M.H. (2015). "Risk assessment allocation in highway construction projects in the UAE." *J. Mange. Eng.*, 31(6), 04015004-1–04015004-11.
- Gray, C. and Larson, E. (2003). *Project management: The managerial process*. 2nd ed., McGraw-Hill, New York, NY.
- Ghassemi, A., and Darvishpour, A. (2018). "A novel approach for risk evaluation and risk response planning in a geothermal drilling project using DEMATEL and fuzzy ANP." *Decision Science Letters*, 31(6), 04015004-1–04015004-11.
- Hillson, D., 1999. "Developing effective risk responses." Proceedings of the 30th Annual Project Management Institute, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA.
- Hwang, B., Zhao, X., and Gay, M.J.S. (2013). "Public private partnership projects in Singapore: factors, critical risks and preferred risk allocation from the perspective of contractors." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 31, 424–433.
- ISO (The International Organization for Standardization). (2009). "Risk management principles and guideline." *ISO 31000:2009*, International Standard Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Jalal, M.P., and Shoar, S. (2017). "A hybrid SD-DEMATEL approach to develop a delay model for construction projects." *Eng. Construct. Architect. Manage.*, 24(4), 629–651.
- Jayasudha, K. and Vidivelli, B. (2016). "Analysis of major risks in construction projects." *ARPN Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences*, 11(11), 6943–6950.

- Khanzadi, M., Nasirzadeh, F., and Alipour, M. (2012). "Integrating system dynamics and fuzzy logic modeling to determine concession period in BOT projects." *Automat. Constr.*, 22, 368– 376.
- Lam, K.C., Wang, D., Lee, P.T.K., and Tsang, Y.T. (2007). "Modelling risk allocation decision in construction contracts." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 25, 485–493.
- Liu, S., Triantis, K., and Sarangi, S. (2011) "Representing qualitative variables and their interactions with fuzzy logic in system dynamics modeling." *Syst. Res. Behav. Sci.*, 28, 245– 263.
- Nasirzadeh, F., Afshar, A., Khanzadi, M., and Howick, S. (2008). "Integrating system dynamics and fuzzy logic modelling for construction risk management." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 26, 1197–1212.
- Nasirzadeh, F., Afshar, A., and Khanzadi, M., and Howick, S. (2013). "Modeling quality management in construction projects." *Int. J. Civ. Eng.*, 11, 14–22.
- Nasirzadeh, F., Khanzadi, M., and Rezaie, M. (2014). "Dynamic modeling of the quantitative risk allocation in construction projects." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 32, 442–451.
- Pedrycz, W., and Gomide, F. (2007). *Fuzzy systems engineering: Toward human-centric computing*, John Wiley and Sons, Hoboken, NJ.
- PMI (The Project Management Institute). (2013). *The project management body of knowledge* (*PMBOK Guide*), 5th Ed, the Project Management Institute (PMI), Pennsylvania, U.S.
- Ren, H., 1994. "Risk lifecycle and risk relationships on construction projects." Int. J. Project Manage., 12(2), pp. 68–74.

- Sabounchi, N.S., Triantis, K., Sarangi, S., and Liu, S. (2011). "Fuzzy modeling of linguistic variables in a system dynamics context." *Proc., Int. System Dynamics Conf.*, Washington, DC.
- Salah, A., and Moselhi, O., 2015. "Contingency modelling for construction projects using fuzzy set theory." *Eng. Constr. Archit. Manage.*, 22(2), 214–241.
- Seresht, N.G., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2018). "Dynamic modeling of multifactor construction productivity for equipment-intensive activities." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 144(9), 04018091-1–04018091-15.
- Sterman, J.D. (2000). Business dynamics: System thinking and modeling for a complex world, McGraw-Hill Companies, New York, NY.
- Taroun, A. (2014). "Towards a better modelling and assessment of construction risk: Insights from a literature review." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 32, 101–115.
- Tavakolan, M., and Etemadinia, H. (2017). "Fuzzy weighted interpretive structural modeling: Improved method for identification of risk interactions in construction projects." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 143(11), 04017084-1–04017084-11.
- Wang, S.Q., Dulaimi, MF., and Aguria, M.Y. (2004). "Risk management framework for construction projects in developing countries." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 22, 237–252.
- Wang, J., and Yuan, H. (2017). "System dynamics approach for investigating the risk effects on schedule delay in infrastructure projects." J. Manage. Eng., 33(1), 04016029-1–04016029-13.
- Zayed, T., Amer, M., and Pan, J. (2008). "Assessing risk and uncertainty inherent in Chinese highway projects using AHP." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 26, 408–419.

- Zeng, J., Min, A., and Smith, N.J. (2007). "Application of a fuzzy based decision making methodology to construction project risk assessment." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 25, 589–600.
- Zhang, Y., 2016. "Selecting risk response strategies considering project risk interdependence." *Int.J. Project Manage.*, 34, pp. 819–830.
- Zou, P.X.W., Zhang, G., and Wang, J. (2007). "Understanding the key risks in construction projects in China." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 25, 601–614.

Chapter 2 Literature Review²

2.1 Introduction

This chapter aims to provide the background and pertinent information related to this research by conducting state of the art review on processes entailed in risk management, with a specific focus on risk identification and risk analysis. Also, this chapter presents the main theoretical framework of the research and the rationale for selecting the proposed risk analysis and contingency determination method. In the following sections, a brief background on risk management is provided. An overview of risk identification process is presented, along with a review of tools and techniques used for risk identification and methods employed for risk classification in construction projects. A background on deterministic, probabilistic, and fuzzy-based risk analysis and contingency determination is provided and limitations are identified. Some of the hybrid fuzzy methods available for risk analysis and contingency determination in construction are discussed and their limitations are established. The concept of system dynamics (SD) and fuzzy system dynamics (FSD) and their applications in construction risk management is presented. Moreover,

² Parts of this chapter have been published in the Proceedings of ASCE Construction Research Congress, Siraj, N. B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2016). "Fuzzy system dynamics for modeling construction risk management." *Proc. ASCE Construction Research Congress*, San Juan, Puerto Rico, 2411–2421; published for publication in the *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*: Siraj, N. B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2019). "Risk identification and common risks in construction: Literature review and content analysis." *J. Const. Eng. Manage.*, 145(9), 03119004-1–03119004-13; and submitted for publication in *Automation in Construction*: Siraj, N. B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2019). "Hybrid fuzzy system dynamics model for analyzing the impacts of interrelated risk and opportunity events on project contingency." *Automat. Constr.*, 70 manuscript pages, submitted July 9, 2019.

the limitations of conventional SD and FSD models for risk analysis and contingency determinations are highlighted.

2.2 Risk Management

Risk management is an important and integral part of project management that aims to identify the source of risks and uncertainties, quantify their likelihood of occurrence and effects, and manage them to prevent harmful effects and maximize opportunities to achieve project objectives such as cost, time, quality, and safety (Gray and Larson 2003). Wide range of standards, guidelines and best practices are currently available for risk management around the world. The most widely known, distributed, and used guidelines and approaches for risk management include Project Management Institute's (PMI) PMBOK[®] Guide; Construction Industry Institute's (CII) Implementation Resource 280-2; International Organization for Standardization's (ISO) 3100:2009; and Association for the Advancement of Cost Engineering International's (AACE International) guide to contingency. Despite the presence of several approaches to risk management procedures, risk management process generally entails a framework for risk identification, risk analysis, risk response planning, and risk monitoring and control (Figure 2.1). Project risk management is an iterative process: the process is beneficial when it is implemented in a systematic manner throughout the lifecycle of a construction project, from the planning stage to completion (Banaitiene and Banaitis 2012). Figure 2.1 depicts the processes in risk management.



Figure 2.1. Project risk management process (adapted from Abourizk 2008)

Risk identification is the process of systematically and continuously identifying possible risks and their potential consequences on a project using different risk identification tools and techniques, classifying the risks into different categories, identifying their root causes, and documenting the characteristics of each risk (Banaitiene and Banaitis 2012; Al-Bahar and Crandall 1990). In some cases, primary risk responses may also be identified at the risk identification stage. Risk identification tools and techniques and risk classification methods used in construction projects are discussed in section 2.3.

Abourizk (2008) described risk analysis as "the process of quantifying the factors of identified risks to estimate the likelihood and magnitude of their impact or consequence," in order

to plan the proper risk responses and allocate proper contingency values to the project's cost elements or work packages. Risk analysis is an essential link between systematic identification of potential risks and rational management of the critical risks. Risk analysis generally can be carried out using qualitative and/or quantitative analysis depending on the information available and the level of detail required. Qualitative risk analysis assesses the likelihood and impact of identified risks based on descriptive or nominal scales and develops prioritized lists of risks for further analysis or direct mitigation (Banaitiene and Banaitis 2012; PMI 2013). Qualitative analysis is mainly used in an initial evaluation of risks or for a quick assessment. Risk matrix, influence diagrams, probability-impact risk rating tables, and analytical hierarchical process (AHP) are some of the specialised techniques available to examine risks in this manner (Abdelgawad 2011; Banaitiene and Banaitis 2012). In quantitative risk analysis, the frequency of risks and the magnitude of their severity are quantified using different techniques, such as Monte Carlo simulation (MCS), decision tree analysis (DTA), fault tree analysis (FTA), failure mode and effect analysis (FMEA), fuzzy logic, and system dynamics (SD). Better decision-making abilities are attained by using quantitative analysis when dealing with uncertainty. Further discussion on risk analysis and contingency determination methods is provided in section 2.4.

Risk response planning is "the process of developing options and determining actions to enhance opportunities and reduce threats to the project objectives" (PMI 2013). Risk response planning ensures that suitable actions are taken and the identified risks are properly addressed. The response strategies are assigned based on the nature and potential consequences of the key identified risks and the party best able to manage the risks (Al-Bahar and Crandall 1990). The alternative response strategies are determined by conducting workshop sessions or from historical data. Risk avoidance, risk transfer, risk mitigation, and risk acceptance are the most widely used alternative strategies in treating risks in construction projects (Banaitiene and Banaitis 2012). Risk avoidance deals with eliminating uncertainty associated with risk events, based on the source of risk. Risk transfer is concerned with shifting the consequences of a risk event and responsibility for its management to another party through insurance or contracts. Risk mitigation deals with reducing the probability and/or impact of an adverse risk event to an acceptable level, i.e., acceptability threshold (PMI 2013). Risk acceptance is the last resort available for residual risks that remain after the other response strategies have been taken. Most of the standards, guidelines and best practices commonly used for risk management do not incorporate response strategy for addressing opportunity (positive risk). Hillson (2001) presented structured response strategies for opportunity such as exploit, share, enhance, and ignore, which are extended from the four common risk response strategies.

Risk monitoring and control, the final stage of risk management, is vital to keep a rigorous check on the implementation of risk identification, risk analysis, and risk responses. Risk monitoring and control involves keeping track of the identified risks and monitoring the implementation of risk responses as planned. Risk monitoring and control is an ongoing process throughout the life of the project and determines if new and secondary risks have arisen. It also involves implementing a contingency plan and conducting root cause investigation for realized risk events. Moreover, it requires evaluating the effectiveness of response actions in reducing threats and enhancing opportunities and ensuring that risk policies and procedures are followed (Abdelgawad 2011; ISO 2009; PMI 2013). Tools and techniques frequently employed for risk monitoring and control include risk reassessment, risk response audits, periodic project risk reviews, earned value analysis, reserve analysis, and technical performance measurement (PMI 2013).

2.3 Risk Identification

2.3.1 Background on Risk Identification Process

Risk identification is the first and possibly the most important stage in the risk management process because subsequent stages can only be performed on potential risks that have been identified (Banaitiene and Banaitis 2012; Hwang et al. 2013; Zayed et al. 2008). Risk identification is an iterative and continuous process. It should be carried out rigorously on a regular basis throughout the project life cycle, as new risks may appear and previously identified risks may cease to exist (PMI 2013). The risk identification process should equally focus on the identification of positive risks or opportunities, which have beneficial effects on project objectives (Hillson 2002). However, common practice is to concentrate more on the identification and management of negative risks, and opportunities tend to be overlooked or addressed reactively (Hillson 2002). El-Sayegh (2008) pointed out that attempting to identify all potential risks for a construction project is laborious, counterproductive, and impractical. Hence, the focus should be on the identification of the most critical and frequently occurring risks.

Risk identification is a process of discovery, and thus it calls for creative thinking, imagination, and leveraging project team experience and knowledge (Chapman and Ward 2003). According to Mojtahedi et al. (2010) and PMI (2013), the identification of risks in construction projects requires the participation of project stakeholders, project team members, the risk management team (if assigned), subject matter experts who are not members of the project team, project managers of other projects, and risk management experts, depending on the type of project. Involving the project team in the risk identification process can develop and maintain a sense of ownership and responsibility for identified risks and their respective response strategies (PMI 2013). In addition to the involvement of combinations of experts and stakeholders, inputs and sources of information such as historical project data, published literature on risk, standard checklists, risk breakdown structures, and risk registers facilitate the identification of risks and contribute to the comprehensiveness of the risk identification process. Tools and techniques and classification methods involved in the risk identification process for construction projects are discussed below.

2.3.2 **Risk Identification Tools and Techniques**

In the literature, risk identification is one of the most widely studied stages of risk management. As a result, a wide array of tools and techniques exist for risk identification. These tools include documentation reviews; information-gathering techniques (brainstorming, the Delphi technique, interviewing, root cause analysis, questionnaires, risk workshops); checklist analysis; assumption analysis; diagramming techniques (cause-and-effect diagrams, system or process flow charts, influence diagrams); strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (SWOT) analysis; expert judgment; fault tree analysis; decision tree analysis; and failure mode and effect analysis (Grimaldi et al. 2012; Marle and Gidel 2012; PMI 2013). Hillson (2002) suggested that an appropriate combination of tools and techniques should be employed in risk identification, as there is no single "best method." The selection of appropriate tools and techniques for risk identification requires taking into account criteria such as project phase; complexity of the project; availability of skilled personnel familiar with the risk identification tools and techniques; risk maturity of the organization; the approach (analogical, heuristic, or analytic) to be applied for risk identification; and simplicity of use, interaction considerations, and completeness of the tools and techniques (Grimaldi et al. 2012; Marle and Gidel 2012). Despite the availability of several risk identification

tools and techniques, only a few are frequently used in the construction industry. Based on an investigation conducted by Lyons and Skitmore (2004), brainstorming, case-based approaches, and checklists are the most commonly used risk identification techniques. Irrespective of the tools and techniques used to identify risks on a project, the main outputs of the identification process are presented in the risk register. The risk register contains detailed information on the identified risks, and it can help the project team assess, review, track, mitigate, and control project risks periodically throughout the project life cycle. Additionally, a well-documented risk register can be a useful reference for future risk identification and the main source of information for developing a risk knowledge database.

2.3.3 Risk Classification Methods

Risk classification (or categorization) is an integral part of risk identification. It helps the project team structure the diverse and varied risks that may affect a construction project. The structured classification of risks contributes to the effectiveness and quality of the risk identification process and creates a better understanding of the nature of risks and their sources (Bu-Qammaz et al. 2009). Moreover, a logical and structured classification of risks assists in the reduction of redundancy and ambiguity in the risk identification stage and provides for easier management of risks in the later stages of risk management. In the literature, various approaches have been recommended for classifying risks on construction projects. Some of the approaches adopt a broad categorization, while others use categories that are more detailed. Risks can be categorized based on their source, nature, occurrence at different stages of the project, impact on project objectives, the party who might be the originator of the risk, and a three-level meta-classification approach (macro-, meso-, and micro-level).

Using the initial source of risks as a basis, Al-Sabah et al. (2014), El-Sayegh and Mansour (2015), and Tah and Carr (2000) classified risks into two main categories: internal risks (those that are project-related and that usually fall under the control of the project management team) and external risks (those risks that are beyond the control of the project management team). Each author partitioned these main categories (internal and external) into detailed subcategories according to the nature and type of the projects. Several researchers, including Boateng et al. (2012), Elbarkouky et al. (2016), and Tavakolan and Etemadinia (2017), used the nature of risks as the criteria for classifying risks into distinct groups. For example, Tavakolan and Etemadinia (2017) classified risks into nine groups: financial, contractual, design, health and safety, management, construction, social/political, external, and procurement/supply. Goh et al. (2013), Lee and Schaufelberger (2014), and Li and Zou (2011) categorized risks based on the project stage at which the risks would occur. For example, Goh et al. (2013) categorized risks into five groups: planning, design, procurement, construction, and hand over stage risks. Zou et al. (2007) categorized risks into five groups based on their respective impact on project objectives: cost-, time-, quality-, environment-, and safety-related risks. Such categorization may result in redundancy, as a single risk may have an impact on more than one project objective. According to the party who might be the originator of the risk, Wang and Yuan (2017) classified risks into five groups: client-, designer-, contractor-, subcontractor-, and authority-related risks. Bing et al. (2005) and Hwang et al. (2013) adopted a three-level meta-classification approach and grouped risks into macro-level risks (risks beyond the system boundaries of the project), meso-level risks (risks within the system boundaries of the project and directly related to the nature of the project), and micro-level risks (risks that are project party-related, that is, risks associated with the relationships between the parties involved in the project).

According to Ebrahimnejad et al. (2010), the classification of risks based on either the source or the nature of those risks are the most widely used methods for risk identification on construction projects. Risk classification methods selected for construction projects may differ based on the type of project, the type of procurement method employed, and the project party conducting the risk identification and assessment. Regardless of the categorization scheme adopted, the various categories of risks are organized and presented using a risk breakdown structure (RBS). According to PMI (2013), an RBS is defined as "a hierarchically organized depiction of the identified project risks arranged by risk category and subcategory that identifies the various areas and causes of potential risks." RBSs show the risk categories and sub-categories within which risks may arise as well as the risks at the lowest level for risk identification, assessment, mitigation, and reporting purpose.

2.4 Overview of Risk Analysis and Contingency Determination Methods

Currently available methods for analyzing risk and estimating contingency can be categorized into four groups: deterministic, probabilistic, fuzzy-based, and hybrid methods (Salah and Moselhi 2015). The selection of risk analysis and contingency determination methods depend on type and size of the project; project phase; availability of information; level of detail and accuracy required; the cost and time available for risk analysis; the extent of innovation and ultimate use of the risk analysis; experience and availability of risk analyst; and simplicity of use, interactions considerations, and completeness of the risk analysis and contingency determination method to be used (Goh and Abdul-Rahman 2013; Grimaldi et al. 2012; Marle and Gidel 2012).

A deterministic figure or value which comprises of the base estimate and a certain percentage addition for contingency has been adopted for long in the construction industry for cost budgeting purpose without detail investigation of risks and uncertainties that could occur in the project (Mak and Picken 2000). Deterministic methods, such as the probability-impact matrix proposed by the Construction Industry Institute (CII) (2012), assess the probability and impact of risks using a single-point estimate or linguistic expressions, and the risks are categorized based on risk severity. Deterministic methods are known for their simplicity and transparency, but they fail to account for subjective and probabilistic uncertainties, resulting in a low degree of accuracy in contingency estimation (CII 2012; Elbarkouky et al. 2016).

Probabilistic methods capture the uncertainties associated with risk and opportunity events using probability theory instead of adopting deterministic values. These methods comprise Monte Carlo simulation (MCS), decision tree analysis (DTA), fault tree analysis (FTA), failure mode and effect analysis (FMEA), and Bayesian belief network (BBN) (Islam et al. 2017). MCS is the most widely used probabilistic method for risk analysis and contingency determination in the construction domain (Salah and Moselhi 2015; Sadeghi et al. 2010). Despite their wide application and easy implementation, probabilistic methods heavily rely on large historical data sets to define probability density functions and are incapable of modelling subjective uncertainty (Salah and Moselhi 2015).

Fuzzy-based risk analysis and contingency estimation methods rely on fuzzy logic, which deals with reasoning that is approximate rather than exact or precise. The basis of fuzzy logic is fuzzy set theory, wherein an object belongs to different classes/subsets of the universal set with unsharp boundaries, and membership is a matter of degree of belongingness in the set. In fuzzy set theory, the partial belongingness to a set is described numerically using a membership function (MF), which assumes values between 0 and 1, inclusively, for each element in the set. Moreover,

the MFs can be represented by linguistic terms to signify a given concept (e.g., "very high" or "low"). Linguistic variables are widely used in fuzzy logic to capture the imprecision, vagueness, and subjectivity inherent in human cognitive processes. Fuzzy logic is therefore suitable to assess the probability and impact of risk events and to capture the interrelationship between risk events using linguistic terms in the absence of historical data. Thus, it addresses the data reliance challenges of probabilistic methods and deals with the adoption of imprecise crisp values to assess risk and opportunity events in deterministic methods (Islam et al. 2017; Elbarkouky et al. 2016). Complexity, long processing times associated with soliciting expert opinions and establishing membership functions and rules, and the difficulty of choosing appropriate fuzzy arithmetic operations and defuzzification methods are some of the drawbacks of fuzzy-based methods (Shaheen et al. 2007; Elbarkouky et al. 2016; Abdelgawad 2011).

Hybrid methods combine the strengths of two or more methods to overcome the shortcomings associated with deterministic, probabilistic, and fuzzy-based methods when used alone. Hybrid fuzzy methods are combinations of fuzzy and other methods. In this chapter, only fuzzy hybrid methods that integrate fuzzy logic with methods capable of determining the root causes of risks or methods capable of capturing the interrelationships and interactions among risks are discussed. A more detailed discussion on other types of hybrid fuzzy methods for risk analysis can be found in Islam et al. (2017).

Abdelgawad and Fayek (2011) and Ardeshir et al. (2014) integrated fuzzy logic and fault tree analysis (FTA). FTA provides an excellent visual representation of the events that lead to risks and offers a proactive tool for identifying and controlling their root causes (Abdelgawad and Fayek 2011; Ardeshir et al. 2014). In other studies, efforts have been made to combine fuzzy logic and

failure mode effect analysis (FMEA) for analyzing risks on construction projects (Abdelgawad and Fayek 2010; Mohammadi and Tavakolan 2013). FTA and FMEA determine the root causes of risks and their effects; however, both techniques focus on single risks and are unable to model the complex interactions among different risks, nor do they support a cyclic graph structure (Fang and Marle 2012). Moreover, FTA and FMEA are only used to prioritize risk events for corrective actions and do not quantify the contingency amount.

In an effort to overcome the drawbacks of traditional analytic network process (ANP) in risk analysis, Lin and Jianping (2011) and Valipour et al. (2015) hybridized ANP with fuzzy logic. In fuzzy ANP, pairwise comparison between risk categories and among risks in a category is conducted using fuzzy linguistic terms or fuzzy numbers and a network model showing interdependency is constructed (Islam et al. 2017). The lengthy and laborious pairwise comparison process, computational complexity, and the inability to intoduce new information into the risk structure are the major drawbacks of fuzzy ANP. In a recent study, Islam and Nepal (2016) proposed a method based on the combination of Bayesian belief network (BBN) and fuzzy logic for risk assessment on power plant projects. Fuzzy BBN can model interdependent risks, deal with uncertainty and subjective judgements, and update probabilistic information in the risk network when new data become available. Nonetheless, fuzzy BBN is not capable of modeling feedback loops as it is inherently acyclic (Fang and Marle 2012).

Case and Stylios (2016) developed a model based on fuzzy cognitive map (FCM) to evaluate overall project success by considering the causal relationships among key risks on construction projects. FCM modeling captures the complex causal relationships between risks that involve feedback, possesses learning capabilities, and helps to capture mental models of experts (Lazzerini and Mkrtchyan 2011). However, classic FCM modelling suffers from drawbacks such as the lack of a time concept (dynamism), the assumption of linear causal relations between risks, and the inability to model uncertainty, and it is incapable of representing conditional relationships or rule-based knowledge (Lazzerini and Mkrtchyan 2011). Tavakolan and Etemadinia (2017) proposed fuzzy weighted interpretive structural modeling (FWISM) to explore the influence of and dependence among risk factors in construction. The FWISM method systematically and efficiently models the interactions among risks in a category and uses linguistic terms represented by triangular fuzzy numbers to assess the degree of interaction. However, the FWISM method does not quantify the impact of risks on project objectives, does not consider the interactions among risks that belong in different risk categories, and is unable to deal with the dynamic and time-related behaviour of risks. Table 2.1 presents advantages and drawbacks of hybrid fuzzy risk analysis and contingency determination methods.

		~ 1 1
Method and References	Advantages	Drawbacks
Fuzzy FTA	 Easy with prioritizing risks for 	 Tedious to construct fault tree for
Abdelgawad and Fayek	effective mitigation strategies	large systems
(2011); Ardeshir et al.	 Good visual representation 	 Difficult to capture all scenarios
(2014)	 Easy to control root causes 	 Later changes impact the entire
	before occurrence of risk events	tree
	 Allows expert to assess 	 Subjective decisions for the level
	probability of occurrence using	of detail and completeness
	linguistic terms	 Difficult to model correlation
		between risks
		 Does not support cyclic graph
		structure
Fuzzy FMEA	 Helps to take necessary and 	 Inability to deal with multiple
Abdelgawad and Fayek	timely corrective actions	failure scenarios
(2010); Mohammadi and	 Allows systematic and 	 Significant effort is needed to
Tavakolan (2013)	comprehensive establishment of	establish clearly defined terms
	relationship between failure	 Trivial cases might be considered

 Table 2.1. Advantages and drawbacks of hybrid fuzzy risk analysis and contingency determination methods

Method and References	Advantages	Drawbacks
Fuzzy ANP Lin and Jianping (2011); Valipour et al. (2015)	 causes and effects The failure modes are determined based on three dimensions Linguistic terms are used to assess input and output parameters Easy to understand Captures relationships between risk events belonging in different risk categories Captures both subjective and objective measures 	 Large number of rules required to determine the risk probability number Only used for prioritizing risks for corrective actions Does not support cyclic graph structure Lengthy and laborious pairwise comparison process Computational complexity Inability to update new information into the risk structure Does not support cyclic graph structure
Fuzzy BBN Islam and Nepal (2016); Fang and Marle 2012	 Capture complex and uncertain relationships between risks Deals with uncertainty and subjective judgements Captures both subjective and objective measures Updates probabilistic information in the risk network when new data becomes available 	 Not capable of modeling feedback loops Fail to consider the dynamic nature of risks
FCM Case and Stylios (2016); Lazzerini and Mkrtchyan (2011)	 Models complex causal relationships between risks involving feedbacks Possesses learning capability helps to capture mental model of experts 	 Lack of time concept (dynamism) Assumption of linear causal relations between risks Inability to model uncertainty Inability to represent conditional relationships or rule-based knowledge
FWISM Tavakolan and Etemadinia (2017)	 Models the interactions among risks in a category Uses linguistic terms to assess the degree of interactions Allows grouping of risks into independent, linkage, dependent, and autonomous clusters Good visual representation 	 Does not quantify the impact of risks on project objectives Does not consider the interactions among risks belonging in different risk categories Unable to deal with the dynamic and time-related behaviour of risks

With exception of FCMs, the hybrid fuzzy methods discussed above are incapable of modeling the causal loops (i.e., feedback loops) that exist among risk and opportunity events because these methods are inherently tree-like or acyclic graph structures. These methods also fail to fully capture the complex causal relationships and time-varying interactions among interdependent variables and multiple feedback processes in a system. To address these shortcomings, efforts have been made to integrate fuzzy logic and SD, which are discussed in the following section.

2.5 Fuzzy System Dynamics

2.5.1 General Background on System Dynamics

SD is a feedback-based and object-oriented modeling approach that was pioneered by Jay Forester in the 1950s for modeling and analyzing the dynamic behaviour of complex social systems in the industrial domain (Sterman 2000). Since its introduction, SD has been widely applied to model the dynamics of complex and non-linear systems in various fields of research. SD enables decisionand policy-makers in various fields to solve complex problems, improve decision making, examine different strategies, and formulate policies. Alzraiee et al. (2015) stated that SD is well suited for modeling problems that are broad in details, holistic in perspective, continuous in behaviour, and qualitative and quantitative in nature. As a top-down modeling approach, SD first models the system at the macro-level of abstraction and subsequently identifies interrelated variables influencing the state of the system. SD focuses on capturing time-varying interactions among interdependent variables and multiple feedback processes in a system (Nasirzadeh et al. 2008). SD modeling in general requires constant iterations, continual testing, and refinement.

SD uses modeling elements such as causal loop diagrams (CLDs), delays, and flows (rates) and stocks (Figure 2.2) to determine the dynamic behaviour of complex systems over time (Sterman 2000). In SD, variables are connected by causal links with polarities forming CLDs. The polarities (either positive "+" or negative "-") denote the causal influence among system variables. A positive link implies that the variables change in the same direction, while the negative link indicates the variables change in opposite direction. CLDs are very practical to elicit mental models of experts, capture causalities, and communicate important feedback loops in the system. The feedback loops are of two types: positive (reinforcing) and negative (balancing). Positive loops amplify changes whereas negative loops tend to self-correct and seek equilibrium (Boateng et al., 2012). A delay, usually indicated by a double line perpendicular to the causal link, is used in SD to model the time that elapses between cause and effect (Boateng et al., 2012). Development of SD models also involves the mapping of variables in CLDs to flows and stocks. Stocks (levels), accumulation or depletion due to differences between inflows and outflows, represent the state or condition of the system at any point in time and provide the basis for any decisions and actions to be taken (Sterman 2000). Flows represent the rates (units per time period) at which the stock changes over time. SD is an appropriate simulation technique when the main points of interest for the modeller are assessing the changes of variables in the system over time, and identifying the effects of influencing factors on the system's variables. The effects of a change in a given variable on the other variables in the loop can be traced by increasing or decreasing its value and observing the changes.



Figure 2.2. Components of system dynamics: (A) Causal loop diagrams and (B) Flow and stock diagrams

2.5.2 Application of System Dynamics in Construction

According to Sterman (1992), construction projects meet the characteristics of complex dynamic systems as they are extremely complex and highly dynamic; they involve interdependent components, multiple feedback processes, and nonlinear relationships; and they require both qualitative and quantitative data. Since SD is capable of handling such characteristics, it is an appropriate technique for modelling construction management processes in general and risk and contingency in particular. Han et al. (2014) stated that relatively little attention has been given to SD modelling in construction compared to the other industries. In the past two decades, SD has been successfully applied to model and analyze a wide variety of construction project-related problems, such as resource management (Park 2005; Tatari et al. 2008); project performance (Leon et al. 2018; Moradi et al. 2015); planning and control (Alzraiee et al. 2015; Lee et al. 2006; Peña-Mora and Li 2001); productivity (Gerami Seresht and Fayek 2018; Khanzadi et al. 2018; Nojedehi and Nasirzadeh 2017); rework and change (Forcada et al. 2014; Lee and Peña-Mora 2007; Lee et al. 2006; Love et al. 2002), delay and disruption analysis (Jalal and Shoar 2017; Eden et al. 2000);

claim assessment (Howick 2005; Williams et al. 2003); Bidding and pricing (Lo and Yan 2009; Lo et al. 2007); constructability (Ford et al. 2004); sustainability (Hong et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2014); rehabilitation (Hwang et al. 2016; Rashedi and Hegazi 2016); dispute resolution (Menassa and Peña-Mora 2010; Ng et al. 2007); health and safety (Lingard et al. 2017; Nasirzadeh et al. 2018), and others (Raoufi et al. 2018).

2.5.3 Application of System Dynamics for Risk Analysis and Contingency Determination

The use of SD for modeling and analysing risk and contingency is not new. Most recently, Wang and Yuan (2017) adopted an SD approach to quantitatively examine the impact of dynamic risk interactions on schedule delays on infrastructure projects. Wan and Liu (2014) developed a qualitative SD model for risk analysis during the construction stage. Boateng et al. (2012) employed SD to simulate the interaction between social and environmental risks during the development and construction of a megaproject. Nasirzadeh et al. (2007) utilized SD models to analyse the impact of different response strategies for identified risks on project cost, quality, and schedule. Ford (2002) adopted SD model to test the effectiveness of aggressive and passive contingency management strategies on cost, timeliness, and the facility value of a real estate development project. Using a similar approach, De Marco et al. (2016) developed a dynamic contingency management model to simulate decision-making scenarios for effective management of the contingency budget during the lifecycle of a design-build (DB) project.

2.5.4 Integrating Fuzzy Logic and System Dynamics

Traditional SD models do not effectively account for non-probabilistic (subjective) uncertainties associated with system variables, the imprecise nature of factors that influence the variables, and vague interdependencies between variables (Nasirzadeh et al. 2008). It is common practice in

traditional SD modeling is to use numerical values or probability distribution functions to define system variables and to use mathematical or table functions to define the causal relationships between variables (Sterman 2000). However, a construction system involves subjective variables that do not have numerical metrics and that are qualitative in nature and better expressed linguistically. In addition, system variables that have quantitative metrics may not always be expressed by a precise (crisp) value due to the ambiguity involved in specifying an exact value for variables. The development of probability distribution functions for defining system variables requires a large set of historical data, which is not usually available. Moreover, it is not always possible to express the causal relationships among system variables using analytical functions or statistical methods due to a lack of sufficient historical data. These limitations of traditional SD modeling led to a need for integrating fuzzy logic and SD.

2.5.5 Application of Fuzzy System Dynamics in Construction

Even though promising endeavors have been made to integrate fuzzy logic and SD in various fields, the application of FSD in construction has been limited. Gerami Seresht and Fayek (2018) developed an FSD model to predict the multifactor productivity of equipment-intensive activities in construction projects. Nojedehi and Nasirzadeh (2017) integrated fuzzy logic and SD to capture the imprecision and subjective uncertainty associated with factors affecting labor productivity. Nasirzadeh et al. (2013) proposed a dynamic quality management system based on FSD to simulate the impact of quality defects on project cost and schedule and to evaluate the effectiveness of alternative mitigation strategies prior to implementations. Khanzadi et al. (2012) presented an integrated FSD model to determine the concession period in build-operate-transfer (BOT) projects. Karavezyris et al. (2002) integrated SD with fuzzy logic to develop a waste management model

for forecasting municipal solid waste disposal needs. Marzouk and Hamdy (2013) developed a framework that comprises historical records database, analytical fuzzy model, and SD model to quantify the impact of weather on formwork shuttering and removal operation.

2.5.6 Application of Fuzzy System Dynamics for Risk Analysis and Contingency

Determination

There is very little literature on the application of FSD to risk modeling and analysis. Nasirzadeh et al. (2008) adopted a fuzzy-based system dynamics approach to integrated risk management processes on construction projects. Uncertain input factors affecting the magnitude of risk events (e.g., haul road conditions, maintenance programs, and equipment life) were represented by fuzzy numbers and a fuzzy rule-based system (if-then rules) was used to determine the magnitude of risk events (e.g., the probability of machinery breakdown). The impacts of risk events on project cost and schedule were quantified as fuzzy numbers based on the α -cut method, which uses interval arithmetic. The proposed model also evaluates the effectiveness of alternative response strategies by considering the secondary risks that may arise due to implementation of the response strategies. Using a similar approach, Nasirzadeh et al. (2014) developed an FSD model for determining the optimum percentage of risk allocation between owners and contractors on construction projects. SD was used to model the interrelationships among factors affecting the risk allocation process while fuzzy logic was used to account for the non-probabilistic uncertainties of input parameters and variables in the model. In both approaches, very few fuzzy variables were considered in the FSD models. The impact of risks on project objectives were assessed at a project level and opportunities were not considered in the assessment procedure. A fuzzy Delphi method, which requires several rounds of revisions to reach to an acceptable level of agreement, were used in both approaches for aggregating expert inputs, but they did not take into account the expertise levels of the experts. Moreover, only the α -cut fuzzy arithmetic method and center of area (COA) defuzzification method were employed.

2.6 Chapter Summary

This chapter provided a brief literature review on processes entailed in construction project risk management. An overview of risk identification process, common risk identification tools and techniques, and risk classification methods employed in construction projects were presented. Despite availability of wide array of tools and techniques for risk identification, only few are commonly used in construction industry. The risk identification process in construction mainly focuses on identification of negative risks and opportunities are overlooked or addressed reactively. The review of existing classification methods revealed that there is no standard or consensus on the categorization of risks in the construction industry. Also, the literature review indicated that there is a lack of systematic review and content analysis of published articles related to risk identification in construction.

In this chapter, different methods for risk analysis and contingency determination categorized as deterministic, probabilistic, fuzzy-based, and hybrid—were discussed and their respective advantages and drawbacks were presented. Fuzzy logic addresses imprecisions, vagueness, and subjectivity in assessing risks and opportunities and determining contingency. Fuzzy logic alone or in combination with other techniques have been widely used to address problems associated with conventional quantitative risk analysis techniques. Previous studies which have used hybrid fuzzy methods for risk analysis and contingency determinations were reviewed and their limitations have been identified. Even though, several endeavors have been made to integrate fuzzy logic with methods capable of determining root causes of risks (FTA and FMEA) or capturing interrelationship and interactions between risks (ANP, BBN, and ISM), most of the hybrid fuzzy methods fail to deal with dynamic and time-related behaviour of risk and opportunity events and do not support feedback loops.

SD is a viable option to capture dynamic nature of risks and complex interrelationship and interaction among risk and opportunity events. Basic concepts related to SD were introduced and the application of SD in construction management overall as well as specifically in risk analysis and contingency determination were reviewed. Conventional SD models do not effectively account for subjective uncertainties associated with risk and opportunity events and do not capture vague interrelationships and dependencies among them. Thus, efforts made to integrate fuzzy logic and SD in construction were examined and limitations were established. Some limitations of existing hybrid FSD models are: only few fuzzy variables were considered in the FSD models; problem of the growing support of fuzzy outputs due to the use of α -cut method; the defuzzification methods used in the models are limited to only COA and LOM; there are no structured methods for developing causal loop diagrams; and expertise level of experts are not considered when aggregating their opinions. The next chapter presents results of systematic review and content analysis of common risk identification tools and techniques, risk classification methods, and common risks in construction projects.

2.7 References

- Abdelgawad, M., and Fayek, A.R. (2010). "Risk management in the construction industry using combined fuzzy FMEA and fuzzy AHP." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 136(9), 1028–1036.
- Abdelgawad, M.A. (2011). "Hybrid decision support system for risk criticality assessment and risk analysis." Ph.D. thesis, Uni. of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada.
- Abdelgawad, M., and Fayek, A.R. (2011). "Fuzzy reliability analyzer: Quantitative assessment of risk events in the construction industry using fault-tree analysis." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 137(4), 294–302.
- Abourizk, S.M. (2008). *Risk analysis for construction projects: a practical guide for engineers and project managers*. Hole School of Construction Engineering and Management, Univ. of Alberta.
- Al-Bahar, J.F., and Crandall, K.C. (1990). "Systematic risk management approach for construction projects." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 116(3), 533–546.
- Al-Sabah, R., Menassa, C.C., and Hanna, A. (2014). "Evaluating impact of construction risks in the Arabian Gulf region from perspective of multinational architecture, engineering and construction firms." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 32(4), 382–402.
- Alzraiee, H., Zayed, T., and Moselhi, O. (2015). "Dynamic planning of construction activities using hybrid simulation." *Automat. Constr.*, 49, 176–192.
- Ardeshir, A., Amiri, M., Ghasemi, Y., and Errington, M. (2014) "Risk assessment of construction projects for water conveyance tunnels using fuzzy fault tree analysis." *Int. J. Civ. Eng.*, 12(14), 396–412.

- Banaitiene, N., and Banaitis, A. (2012). *Risk management current issues and challenges: Risk management in construction projects*, InTech, 429–448.
- Bing, L., Akintoye, A., Edwards, P.J., and Hardcastle, C. (2005). "The allocation of risk in PPP/PFI construction projects in the UK." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 23, 25–35.
- Boateng, P., Chen, Z., Ogunlana, S., and Ikediashi, D. (2012). "A system dynamics approach to risks description in megaprojects development." *Organization, Technology, and Management in Construction: an International Journal*, 4(3), 593–603.
- British Standard. (2000). "Project management—Part 1: Guide to project management." *BS6079-1:2000*, British Standards Institute. ISBN 0-580-25594-8.
- Bu-Qammaz, A.S., Dikmen, I., and Birgonul, M.T. (2009). "Risk assessment of international construction projects using the analytic network process." *Can. J. Civil Eng.*, 36, 1170–1181.
- Case D.M., and Stylios, C.D. (2016). "Fuzzy cognitive map to model project management problems." Proc. Annual Conference of the North American Fuzzy Information Processing Society (NAFIPS), IEEE, Texas, USA, 1–6.
- Chapman, C., and Ward, S. (2003). *Project risk management: Processes, techniques and insights,* John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, U.K.
- CII (Construction Industry Institute). (2012). "Applying probabilistic risk management in design and construction projects." Univ. of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX.
- De Marco, A., Rafele, C., and Thaheem, M.J. (2016). "Dynamic management of risk contingency in complex design-build projects." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 142(2), 04015080-1–04015080-10.

- Ebrahimnejad, S., Mousavi, S.M., and Seyrafianpour, H. (2010). "Risk identification and assessment for build–operate–transfer projects: A fuzzy multi attribute decision making model." *Expert Syst. Appl.*, 37, 575–586.
- Eden, C., Williams, T., Ackermann, F., and Howick, S. (2000). "The role of feedback dynamics in disruption and delay on the nature of disruption and delay (D&D) in major projects." *J. Oper. Res. Soc.*, 51, 291–300.
- Elbarkouky, M.M.G., Fayek, A.R., Siraj, N.B., and Sadeghi, N. (2016). "Fuzzy arithmetic risk analysis approach to determine construction project contingency." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 142(12), 1–11.
- El-Sayegh, S.M. (2008). "Risk assessment and allocation in the UAE construction industry." Int. J. Project Manage., 26, 431–438.
- El-Sayegh, S.M., and Mansour, M.H. (2015). "Risk assessment allocation in highway construction projects in the UAE." *J. Mange. Eng.*, 31(6), 04015004-1–04015004-11.
- Fang, C., and Marle, F. (2012). "A simulation-based risk network model for decision support in project risk management." *Decis. Support Syst.*, 52, 635–644.
- Forcada, N., Rusiñol, G., MacArulla, M., and Love, P.E.D. (2014). "Rework in highway projects." J. Civ. Eng. Manag., 20(4), 445–465.
- Ford, D.N. (2002). "Achieving multiple project objectives through contingency management." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 128(1), 30–39.

- Ford, D.N., Anderson, S.D., Damron, A.J., Casas, R., Gokmen, N., and Kuennen, S. (2004).
 "Managing constructibility reviews to reduce highway project durations." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 130(1), 33–42.
- Goh, C.S., Abdul-Rahman, H., and Abdul Samad, Z. (2013). "Applying risk management workshop for a public construction project: Case study." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 139(5), 572–580.
- Gray, C. and Larson, E. (2003). Project management: The managerial process. 2nd ed., McGraw-Hill, New York, NY.
- Grimaldi, S., Rafele, C., and Cagliano, A.C. (2012). *Risk management Current issues and challenges: A framework to select techniques supporting project risk management*, InTech, 67–96.
- Han, S., Lee, S., and Park, M. (2014). "Dynamic project management: An application of system dynamics in construction engineering and management." In: Xu H., Wang X. (eds) *Optimization and Control Methods in Industrial Engineering and Construction, Intelligent Systems, Control and Automation: Science and Engineering*, 72. Springer, Dordrecht, 219–231.
- Hillson, D. (2001). "Effective strategies for exploiting opportunities." Proc., Project Management Institute Annual Seminars and Symposiums, Nashville, Tennessee, USA.
- Hillson, D. (2002). "Extending the risk process to manage opportunities." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 20, 235–240.

- Hong, Y., Liyin, S., Yongtao, T., and Jianli, H. (2011). "Simulating the impacts of policy scenarios on the sustainability performance of infrastructure projects." *Automat. Constr.*, 20, 1060–1069.
- Howick, S. (2005). "Using system dynamics models with litigation audiences." *Eur. J. Oper. Res.*, 162, 239–250.
- Hwang, B., Zhao, X., and Gay, M.J.S. (2013). "Public private partnership projects in Singapore: factors, critical risks and preferred risk allocation from the perspective of contractors." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 31, 424–433.
- Hwang, S., Park, M., Lee, H., and Lee, S. (2016). "Hybrid simulation framework for immediate facility restoration planning after a catastrophic disaster." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 142(8), 04016026-1–04016026-15.
- Islam, M.S., and Nepal, M. (2016). "A fuzzy-Bayesian model for risk assessment in power plant projects." *Procedia Comput. Sci.*, 100, 963–970.
- Islam, M.S., Nepal, M.P., Skitmore, M., and Attarzadeh, M. (2017). "Current research trends and application areas of fuzzy and hybrid methods to the risk assessment of construction projects." *Adv. Eng. Inform.*, 33, 112–131.
- ISO (The International Organization for Standardization). (2009). "Risk management principles and guideline." *ISO 31000:2009*, International Standard Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Jalal, M.P., and Shoar, S. (2017). "A hybrid SD-DEMATEL approach to develop a delay model for construction projects." *Eng. Construct. Architect. Manage.*, 24(4), 629–651.
- Karavezyris, V., Timpe, K., and Marzi, R. (2002). "Application of system dynamics and fuzzy logic to forecasting of municipal solid waste." *Math. Comput. Simulat.*, 60, 149–158.

- Khanzadi, M., Nasirzadeh, F., and Alipour, M. (2012). "Integrating system dynamics and fuzzy logic modeling to determine concession period in BOT projects." *Automat. Constr.*, 22, 368– 376.
- Khanzadi, M., Nasirzadeh, F., Mir, M., and Nojedehi, P. (2018). "Prediction and improvement of labor productivity using hybrid system dynamics and agent-based modeling approach." *Construction Innovation*, 18(1), 2–19.
- Lazzerini, B., and Mkrtchyan, L. (2011). "Analyzing risk impact factors using extended fuzzy cognitive maps" *IEEE Syst. J.*, 5(2), 288–297.
- Lee, N., and Schaufelberger, J.E. (2014). "Risk management strategies for privatized infrastructure projects: Study of the build–operate–transfer approach in east Asia and the Pacific." *J. Mange. Eng.*, 30(3), 05014001-1–05014001-9.
- Lee, S. and Peña-Mora, F. (2007). "Understanding and managing iterative error and change cycles in construction." *Syst. Dynam. Rev.*, 23(1), 35–60.
- Lee, S. H., Peña-Mora, F., and Park, M., (2006). "Dynamic planning and control methodology for strategic and operational construction project management." *Automat. Constr.*, 15, 84–97.
- Leon, H., Osman, H., Georgy, M., and Elsaid, M. (2018). "System dynamics approach for forecasting performance of construction projects." *J. Manage. Eng.*, 34(1), 04017049-1– 04017049-14.
- Li, J., and Zou, P.X.W. (2011). "Fuzzy AHP-based risk assessment methodology for PPP projects." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 137(12), 1205–1209.

- Lin, Z., and Jianping, Y. (2011). "Risk assessment based on fuzzy network (F-ANP) in new campus construction project." *Syst. Eng. Proc.*, 1, 162–168.
- Lingard, H., and Turner, M. (2017). "Promoting construction workers' health: a multi-level system perspective." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 35(5), 239–253.
- Lo, W., and Yan, M.R. (2009). "Evaluating qualification-based selection system: a simulation approach." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 135(6), 458–465.
- Lo, W., Lin, C.L., and Yan, M.R. (2007). "Contractor's opportunistic bidding behaviour and equilibrium price level in the construction market." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 133(6), 409–416.
- Love, P.E., Holt, L.Y., Shen, L.Y., Li, B., and Irani, Z. (2002). "Using system dynamics to better understand change and rework in construction project management systems." *Int. J. Proj. Manage.*, 20, 425–436.
- Lyons, T., and Skitmore, M. (2004). "Project risk management in the Queensland engineering construction industry: A survey." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 22, 51–61.
- Mak, S., and Picken, D. (2000). "Using risk analysis to determine construction project contingencies." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 126(2), 130–136.
- Marle, F., and Gidel, T. (2012). "Assisting project risk management method selection." *Int. J. Project Org. Manage.*, 1–32.
- Marzouk, M., and Hamdy, A. (2013). "Quantifying weather impact on formwork shuttering and removal operation using system dynamics." *KSCE J. Civ. Eng.*, 17(4), 620–626.
- Menassa, C., and Peña-Mora, F. (2010). "Hybrid model incorporating real options with process centric and system dynamics modeling to assess value of investments in alternative dispute resolution techniques." *J. Comput. Civ. Eng.*, 24(5), 414–429.
- Mohammadi, A., and Tavakolan, M. (2013). "Construction project risk assessment using combined fuzzy and FMEA." *Proc., Int. Fuzzy Systems Association (IFSA) World Congress and North American Fuzzy Information Processing Society (NAFIPS) Annual Meeting*, IEEE, New York, 232–237.
- Mojtahedi, S.M.H., Mousavi, S.M., and Makui, A. (2010). "Project risk identification and assessment simultaneously using multi-attribute group decision making technique." *Safety Sci.*, 48, 499–507.
- Moradi, S., Nasirzadeh, F., and Golkhoo, F. (2015). "A hybrid SD–DES simulation approach to model construction projects." *Construction Innovation*, 15(1), 66–83.
- Nasirzadeh, F., Afshar, A., and Khanzadi, M., and Howick, S. (2013). "Modeling quality management in construction projects." *Int. J. Civ. Eng.*, 11, 14–22.
- Nasirzadeh, F., Afshar, A., Khanzadi, M., and Howick, S. (2007). "System dynamics approach to optimum response selection in construction project risks." Proc., International Project Management Conference. http://www.mbaforum.ir/download/mba/pm/3th/166.pdf, accessed August 2014.
- Nasirzadeh, F., Afshar, A., Khanzadi, M., and Howick, S. (2008). "Integrating system dynamics and fuzzy logic modelling for construction risk management." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 26, 1197–1212.

- Nasirzadeh, F., Khanzadi, M., and Mir, M. (2018). "A hybrid simulation framework for modelling construction projects using agent-based modelling and system dynamics: an application to model construction workers' safety behavior." *Int. J. Constr. Manage.*, 18(2), 132–143.
- Nasirzadeh, F., Khanzadi, M., and Rezaie, M. (2014). "Dynamic modeling of the quantitative risk allocation in construction projects." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 32, 442–451.
- Ng, H.S., Peña-Mora, F., and Tamaki, T. (2007). "Dynamic conflict management in large-scale design and construction projects." *J. Manage. Eng.*, 23(2), 52–66.
- Nojedehi, P., and Nasirzadeh, F. (2017). "A hybrid simulation approach to model and improve construction labor productivity." *KSCE J. Civ. Eng.*, 21(5), 1516–1524.
- Park, M. (2005). "Model-based dynamic resource management for construction projects." *Automat. Constr.*, 14, 585–598.
- Peña-Mora, F., and Li, M., (2001). "Dynamic planning and control methodology for design/build fast-track construction projects." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 127, 1–17.
- PMI (The Project Management Institute). (2013). *The project management body of knowledge* (*PMBOK Guide*), 5th Ed, the Project Management Institute (PMI), Pennsylvania, U.S.
- Raoufi, M., Seresht, N. G., Siraj, N.B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2018). "Fuzzy simulation techniques in construction engineering and management." Fuzzy Hybrid Computing in Construction Engineering and Management: Theory and Applications edited by Fayek, A. Robinson, 149–178. Emerald Publishing Limited, UK.
- Rashedi, R., and Hegazy, T. (2016). "Holistic analysis of infrastructure deterioration and rehabilitation using system dynamics." *J. Infrastruct. Syst.*, 22(1), 04015016-1–04015016-10.

- Sadeghi, N., Fayek, A.R., and Pedrycz, W. (2010). "Fuzzy Monte Carlo simulation and risk assessment in construction." *Comput.-Aided Civ. Inf.*, 25(4), 238–252.
- Salah, A., and Moselhi, O. (2015). "Contingency modelling for construction projects using fuzzy set theory." *Eng. Construct. Architect. Manage.*, 22(2), 214–241.
- Seresht, N.G., and Fayek, A.R. (2018). "Dynamic modeling of multifactor construction productivity for equipment-intensive activities." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 144(9), 04018091-1–04018091-15.
- Shaheen, A.A., Fayek, A. Robinson, and AbouRizk, S.M. (2007). "Fuzzy numbers in cost range estimating." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 133(4), 325–334.
- Sterman, J.D. (2000). Business Dynamics: System Thinking and Modeling for a Complex World, McGraw-Hill Companies, New York, NY.
- Sterman, J.D. (1992). "System dynamics modeling for project management." Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Sloan School of Management, Cambridge, Mass.
- Tah, J.H.M., and Carr, V. (2000). "A proposal for construction project risk assessment using fuzzy logic." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 18(4), 491–500.
- Tatari, O., Castro-Lacouture, D., Skibniewski, M.J. (2008). "Performance evaluation of construction enterprise resource planning systems." *J. Manage. Eng.*, 24(4), 198–206.
- Tavakolan, M., and Etemadinia, H. (2017). "Fuzzy weighted interpretive structural modeling: Improved method for identification of risk interactions in construction projects." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 143(11), 04017084-1–04017084-11.

- Valipour, A., Yahay, N., Noor, N.M., Kildienė, S., Sarvari, H., and Mardani, A. (2015). "A fuzzy analytic network process method for risk prioritization in freeway PPP projects: an Iranian case study." J. Civ. Eng. Manag., 21(7), 933–947.
- Wan, J., and Liu, Y. (2014). "A system dynamics model for risk analysis during project construction process." *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, 2, 451–454.
- Wang, J., and Yuan, H. (2017). "System dynamics approach for investigating the risk effects on schedule delay in infrastructure projects." *J. Manage. Eng.*, 33(1), 04016029-1–04016029-13.
- Williams, T., Ackermann, F., and Eden, C., (2003). "Structuring a delay and disruption claim: an application of cause-mapping and system dynamics." *Eur. J. Oper. Res.*, 148, 192–204.
- Zayed, T., Amer, M., and Pan, J. (2008). "Assessing risk and uncertainty inherent in Chinese highway projects using AHP." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 26, 408–419.
- Zhang, X., Wu, Y., Shen, L., and Skitmore, M. (2014). "A prototype system dynamic model for assessing the sustainability of construction projects." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 32, 66–76.
- Zou, P.X.W., Zhang, G., and Wang, J. (2007). "Understanding the key risks in construction projects in China." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 25, 601–614.

Chapter 3 Risk Identification Process and Common Risks in Construction: Systematic Review and Content Analysis³

3.1 Introduction

The identification of possible sources of risk is an essential stage in the risk management process because it allows project parties to discern specific instances of uncertainty; thereby, the potential impact of these uncertainties can be analyzed and appropriate strategies for mitigating their effects can be developed (Zayed et al. 2008). Furthermore, structured and detailed risk identification provides a basis for later stages and ensures risk management effectiveness (Banaitiene and Banaitis 2012). Published literature is one of the main sources of information for identifying risks (both positive and negative) in construction projects. Researchers have previously identified numerous risks affecting construction projects, and these identified risks have been used for risk assessment, analysis, and modeling purposes. Although much effort has been expended on identifying risks from the literature, existing literature reviews are not exhaustive, they lack systematic analysis, and they are limited to only a few papers. Moreover, a detailed content analysis has not been done on articles that deal with risk identification tools and techniques, classification methods, and common risks in construction management. The objectives of this

³ This chapter has been published in the *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*: Siraj, N.B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2019). "Risk identification and common risks in construction: Literature review and content analysis." *J. Const. Eng. Manage.*, 145(9), 03119004-1–03119004-13.

chapter are threefold. The first objective is to address the lack of a systematic review and content analysis of published articles related to risk identification in construction, identify research gaps, and suggest directions for future research. The second objective is to perform a critical examination of common risk identification tools and techniques and risk classification methods employed in construction risk management processes. The third objective is to identify, systematically categorize, and prioritize potential risks affecting construction projects through a literature review and detailed content analysis of articles published in academic journals specializing in civil engineering, construction engineering and management, and project management. The common risks in construction projects that will be identified, categorized, and prioritized in this chapter will be used to design the risk identification and assessment interview survey form and subsequently rank the risks that will be considered in developing the FSD model for risk analysis and contingency determination.

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows. First, a summary of previous reviews conducted on risk-related topics is presented. Second, the research methodology adopted in this chapter is briefly discussed. Third, the results of the content analysis of the common risk identification tools and techniques, risk classification methods, and common risks in construction projects are presented. Finally, a summary of this chapter is provided.

3.2 Previous State of the Art Reviews Conducted on Risk-Related Topics

Despite the abundance of published articles focusing on risk-related topics in construction, only a few are dedicated to bibliometric or content analysis. Edwards and Bowden (1998) carried out an analytical review of construction and project risk management literature published between 1960 and 1997 to identify gaps in research and practice and to determine potential areas for future

research. Taroun (2014) presented a review of risk modeling and assessment literature published between 1983 and 2012 in academic journals specializing in the construction industry, project management, risk analysis, and management science. Islam et al. (2017) provided a comprehensive review of current research trends and application areas of fuzzy and fuzzy hybrid methods applied in the risk assessment of construction projects based on content analysis of 82 articles published between 2005 and 2017 in leading construction and engineering management journals. Yu et al. (2018) conducted a systematic review of 37 articles published in construction management journals between 1991 and 2015 to study research trends and identify critical risk factors of transnational public-private-partnership (TPPP) project.

The studies by Edwards and Bowden (1998), Taroun (2014), and Islam et al. (2017) focused on either the entire risk management process or specifically on risk modeling and assessment. Although Yu et al. (2018) reviewed the identification of critical risk factors in previous studies, their review was limited to a particular type of project (i.e., TPPP). This chapter specifically focuses on the risk identification process and common risks in construction and addresses the lack of a systematic review and content analysis of literature on these topics. The scope and objectives of this chapter are different than the aforementioned studies, thereby resulting in new findings.

3.3 Research Methodology

A three-stage process (Figure 3.1) was adopted in this chapter to achieve the research objectives. These stages are described in the following subsections.



Figure 3.1. Research methodology for article selection and content analysis

3.3.1 Journal Selection

The literature review and content analysis is focused only on peer-reviewed articles published in academic journals; thus, conference papers, books, historical project data, risk registers, standard checklists, handbooks, and other sources of information were not considered. In stage 1, journals that have an important impact and prominent position in the research community of construction engineering and management were selected. The selection of journals was based on purposive/selective sampling (Xiong et al. 2015); that is, those journals extensively used to conduct literature review and content analysis specifically on risk-related topics in construction

engineering and management by different authors (Islam et al. 2017; Taroun 2014; Yu et al. 2018) were considered. Also, the 2016 Scopus journal metrics (CiteScore) and the research conducted by Wing (1997) on the ranking of construction management journals were referred to when choosing the journals. Journals that have a CiteScore of 0.70 and above based on the 2016 Scopus journal metrics were considered. Only those journals that published at least three papers related to the topic of this study between 1990 and 2017 were chosen. The following 14 journals were selected: Expert Systems with Applications (ESA), Automation in Construction (AC), International Journal of Project Management (IJPM), Building and Environment (B&E), Journal of Construction Engineering and Management (JCEM), Journal of Computing in Civil Engineering (JCCE), Journal of Management in Engineering (JME), Journal of Infrastructure Systems (JIS), Construction Management and Economics (CME), Journal of Civil Engineering and Management (JCiEM), Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management (ECAM), Canadian Journal of Civil Engineering (CJCE), International Journal of Construction Management (IJCM), and ASCE-ASME Journal of Risk and Uncertainty in Engineering Systems, Part A: Civil Engineering (JRUES). The selected journals were ordered from high to low based on their CiteScore. Even though the last journal in the list (JRUES) is not included in the Scopus database and does not have a CiteScore, it was selected for this research because of its relevance.

3.3.2 Article Selection

In stage 2, searches for relevant articles were performed using Scopus (Elsevier's abstract and citation database), Google Scholar, and American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) library search engines. Keywords used for searching the articles included risk identification, risk assessment, risk analysis, risk management, construction risk, project risk, uncertainty analysis,

and project uncertainty. The keywords were selected from previously published articles (Islam et al. 2017; Taroun 2014) that conducted a review on risk-related topics, and they were based on an initial examination of common keywords used in risk management-related articles published in the construction domain. The search was conducted using the title, abstract, and keyword (T/A/K) field of the aforementioned search engines. The search was restricted to articles published from 1990 to 2017 (inclusive). As a result, 484 articles were initially retrieved from the selected journals. The contents of the articles were further examined, and the number of articles was reduced to 130. The following inclusion criteria were used to select the articles: (1) the article should be specifically related to risks in the construction industry; (2) the article should mention, discuss, or list potential risks affecting construction projects in the main text, tables, or figures; (3) the article should use at least one technique for identifying risks; and (4) the article should use a specific classification method for categorizing risks or simply mention, discuss, or list the risks in the main text, tables, or figures.

3.3.3 Content Analysis

In stage 3, once the articles were identified, detailed content analysis was carried out in order to (1) profile the selected articles based on type of journal, year of publication, and the number of authors per article; (2) characterize the construction projects considered for risk identification in the selected articles based on region and type; (3) examine common risk identification tools and techniques, risk classification methods, and category names used for classifying risks in the selected articles; and (4) systematically identify, categorize, and rank common construction project risks identified from the selected articles. Content analysis is a research technique for determining major facets of and valid inferences from written, verbal, or visual communication messages,

either qualitatively or quantitatively, depending on the nature of the project and the issues to be addressed in the research (Chan et al. 2009; Krippendorff 2013). Content analysis is a powerful technique for collecting and organizing information and for examining trends and patterns in documents (Krippendorff 2013). Qualitative content analysis focuses on grouping data into categories, while quantitative content analysis determines the numerical values of categorized data (i.e., frequencies, ratings, and rankings) by simply counting the number of times a topic is mentioned (Chan et al. 2009). In this chapter, a combination of both qualitative and quantitative content analysis was adopted.

3.4 Results and Discussion

The complete list of selected articles used for the content analysis is provided in Appendix A. The percentage values indicated in the discussion, figures, and tables were determined based on the number of references over the total number of articles considered in the content analysis (i.e., 130 articles).

3.4.1 Profile of the Selected Articles

The selected articles considered for content analysis were profiled based on journal, year of publication, and the number of authors per article. Figure 3.2 depicts the percentage of the selected articles published in each journal. Close to 60% of the selected articles were published in five journals: JCEM (17.69%), IJPM (16.92%), CME (9.23%), JME (7.69%), and JCiEM (7.69%). The remaining 40% of the selected articles were published in the other nine journals. The number of selected articles by journal and year is shown in Figure 3.3. The selected articles were published between 2005 and

2017. The number of selected articles published in the span of 2010–2014 is considerably greater than any other publication period.



Figure 3.2. Percentage of the selected articles published in each journal



Figure 3.3. Number of selected articles by journals and year

In terms of the number of authors per article, 7.69% of the selected articles were authored by a single author; 92.31% were authored by two or more authors, of which 35.38% had two authors; 26.92% had three authors; and 30.00% had four or more authors. To determine the

contribution of authors in the selected articles, a scoring method [Eq. (1)] widely used in previous studies was adopted (Yi and Chan 2014; Yu et al. 2018). The scoring method considers the order of the authors in multi-authored articles to determine each author's proportional credit.

$$Score = \frac{1.5^{n-i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} 1.5^{n-i}}$$
(3.1)

where *n* is number of authors of the article and *i* is the order of the specific author. For example, if an article is authored by three authors, the first, second, and third author will each have a score of 0.47, 0.32 and 0.21, respectively. The total score of an author is determined by adding the scores that the author has from all articles. Table 3.1 shows the ten most contributing authors in the selected articles based on their total score, the number of articles each has authored, and their respective affiliation. The three most contributing authors in the selected articles (according to their total score) are: I. Dikmen (3.35) from Middle East Technical University, Turkey; P.X.W. Zou (2.47) from University of New South Wales, Australia; and A.P.C. Chan (2.37), from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong.

			Number of	
Author	Affiliation	Country	Articles	Total
				Score
I. Dikmen	Middle East Technical University	Turkey	9	3.35
P.X.W. Zou	University of South Wales	Australia	5	2.47
A.P.C. Chan	Hong Kong Polytechnic University	Hong Kong	9	2.37
X. Jin	Deakin University	Australia	3	2.20
M. Birgonul	Middle East Technical University	Turkey	9	2.17
Y. Ke	Tsinghua University	China	7	1.95
A. Oztas	University of Gaziantep	Turkey	3	1.60
S. M. El-Sayegh	American University of Sharjah	UAE	2	1.60
J. H. M. Tah	South Bank University	United Kingdom	4	1.50
B. Hwang	National University of Singapore	Singapore	3	1.42

Table 3.1. Contribution of authors in the selected articles

3.4.2 **Profile of the Projects in the Selected Articles**

The construction projects considered for risk identification in the selected articles were profiled based on type and geographical region. The selected articles encompassed risk identification on various construction projects located in different geographical regions. The various construction projects in the selected articles were grouped into five categories according to the type of construction work: building projects (residential, office, commercial, mixed development, hospitals, etc.), infrastructure projects (highways, mass transit systems, tunnels, bridges, drainage systems, sewage treatment plants, etc.), power and energy projects (hydroelectric plants, solar energy, wind power, nuclear energy, etc.), heavy industrial projects (chemical, refineries, oil sands installations, etc.), and multiple combinations thereof. As shown in Table 3.2, most of the construction project types considered for risk identification in the selected articles were infrastructure projects (41.54%), followed by a combination of two or more project types (37.69%), and building projects (11.54%).

A higher percentage is attributed to articles related to infrastructure projects, because a wide range of projects are subset of this project category. Moreover, infrastructure development plays a key role in the economic growth and social development of both developed and developing countries. As a result, infrastructure projects are high on governments' agendas and often have large budget allocations (Yu et al. 2018). Large infrastructure projects often suffer from cost overruns, delays, failed procurement, and lack of availability of finances, which contribute to the existence of wide variety of risks and uncertainties (Vickerman 2007; Yu et al. 2018). Hence, it is important to identify and manage risks for successful completion of infrastructure projects.

The majority of the selected articles dealt with risk identification of construction projects located in Asian countries (56.92%), of which 39.19 % were in China and 13.51% were in Iran; followed by European countries (16.92%), of which 50.00% were in Turkey and 27.27% were in the United Kingdom. The geographical distribution of the projects used in risk identification in the selected articles reflect the growing demand for research on risk-related topics in those regions. Construction companies in developed countries apply systematic risk management, have better risk management maturity, and benefit from well-established risk management standards compared to construction companies in developing countries (Hosseini et al. 2016). The risk management practice in developing countries has been found to be inadequate, unstructured, and inconsistently used (Choudhry and Igbal 2013; Hosseini et al. 2016; Tadayon et al. 2012). For example, an empirical study conducted on risk management practices by Tang et al. (2007) revealed that the risk management systems applied in the Chinese construction industry tend to be "informal, which are inadequate to manage project risks". The rapid economic growth of China has contributed to large expenditures in infrastructure development, thus creating one of the largest construction markets in the world (Tang et al. 2007). A higher percentage of the projects in the selected articles were therefore focused on Asian countries (mainly China) as opposed to Europe and North America, to highlight the growing demand for research on risk-related topics in countries like China.

		Number of	Percentage
Feature	Category	articles	of articles
Project type	Building projects	15	11.54
	Infrastructure projects	54	41.54
	Power and energy projects	9	6.92
	Heavy industrial projects	3	2.31
	Combination of two or more project types	49	37.69
	Total	130	100.00
Geographical region of	Africa	4	3.08
projects	Asia	74	56.92
	Australia	6	4.62
	Europe	22	16.92
	North and Central America	9	6.92
	South America	1	0.77
	General*	14	10.77
	Total	130	100.00

Table 3.2. Profile of the projects in the selected articles

*The geographical regions of the projects are not stated in the selected articles or the projects are located in more than one geographical location

3.4.3 Risk Identification Tools and Techniques Used in the Selected Articles

A wide variety of tools and techniques were used for risk identification in the selected articles (Table 3.3). In the selected articles, the use of combinations of two risk identification tools and techniques (53.08%) was more popular than the use of a single tool or technique (26.92%) and a combination of three or more tools and techniques (20.00%). The three most frequently used risk identification tools and techniques, regardless of whether they were used alone or in combination, were literature review (66.92%), questionnaire surveys (46.92%), and expert interviews (29.23%). Detailed analysis of the selected articles that used a combination of two or more tools and techniques indicated that the use of a literature review combined with a questionnaire survey was the most prevalent (29.47%), followed by a combination of literature review, expert interview, and questionnaire survey (15.79%), and a combination of literature review and expert interview

(9.47%). The findings of the content analysis indicate that information-gathering tools and techniques (e.g., literature review, questionnaire survey, expert interview) were more widely used than diagramming tool and techniques (e.g., influence diagrams, cause-and-effect diagrams, system or process flow charts) for risk identification. Diagramming tools and techniques were rarely used in the selected articles, as most articles focused only on the identification of risks and their impact on the project objectives without considering the root causes of risks and their interdependencies. None of the analysis-based tools and techniques (e.g., fault tree analysis, decision tree analysis, failure and mode effect analysis) were used in the selected articles, perhaps because analysis-based tools and techniques are more often used in risk analysis, even though they are also applicable for risk identification.

	Number of	Percentage of	
Category	articles	articles	Rank
Combination of tools and techniques			
Single tool or technique	35	26.92	2
Two tools and techniques	69	53.08	1
Three or more tools and techniques	26	20.00	3
Total	130	100.00	
Tools and techniques regardless of being used alone	or in combina	tion	
Checklist	3	2.31	10
Documentation review	13	10.00	6
Brainstorming	5	3.85	7
Delphi technique	5	3.85	7
Expert interview	38	29.23	3
Questionnaire survey	61	46.92	2
Risk workshop	4	3.08	9
Literature review	87	66.92	1
Influence diagram	1	0.77	11
Expert judgment/panel	21	16.15	4
Past projects/ historical project data	21	16.15	4
Combination of two or more tools and techniques (to	op 3)		
Literature review and questionnaire survey	28	29.47	1
Literature review, expert interview, and questionnaire survey	15	15.79	2
Literature review and expert interview	9	9.47	3

Table 3.3. Risk identification tools and techniques used in the selected articles

Of the information-gathering tools and techniques, literature review is predominantly used in the selected articles mainly because it is easily implemented and helps to assess knowledge and historical information accumulated from previous projects. Since most risks in literature are identified for a specific context, the user should consider risks that do not appear in the literature but are highly relevant to a specific project. Questionnaire survey helps to capture the perception of large (diversified) groups and encourages broad thinking to identify risks. The success of questionnaire survey depends on the quality of the questions, mode of questionnaire administration, sample size, burden on respondents (length of questions), response rate, and quality of responses (Rostami 2016; Baumann et al. 2016). Expert interview is an interactive method that makes use of past experience of project managers, subject matter experts, and experienced project participants to identify potential risks through structured questions. The results of expert interview depend on the experience and expertise of each interviewee and the quality of the interview process. Contrary to the other two information-gathering tools and techniques, expert interview is resource-intensive and time consuming (Rostami 2016; Baumann et al. 2016). Tools and techniques that employ diversified groups of subject matter experts are better for risk identification than tools and techniques that rely on an individual assessment (Baumann et al. 2016). According to Hillson (2002), an appropriate combination of tools and techniques (especially those that complement each other) guarantees better results in identifying potential risks, as there is no single best risk identification tool and technique.

The review conducted on the selected articles reflects that there is a lack of guidelines and systematic criteria for selecting appropriate risk identification tools and techniques for construction projects, as the selected articles did not provide such guidelines or provide a rationale for selecting a specific risk identification tool or technique based on specific criteria. Also, studies that focus specifically on systematic approaches/models for evaluating the maturity level of risk identification practices are scarce in the selected articles. Groups of experts with different levels of knowledge, experience, and expertise are often involved in risk identification processes. However, the group-based risk identification tools and techniques used in the selected articles do not take into account the expertise level of experts in risk management. In most of the selected articles, the experts are assumed to have equal weights, or the weights of experts are simply

determined based on experts' years of experience, which calls for further research on methods of distinguishing experts based on a more comprehensive set of qualifications.

3.4.4 Risk Classification Methods Used in the Selected Articles

Table 3.4 presents the risk classification (categorization) methods adopted in the selected articles. A majority of the selected articles (38.46%) classified risks based on their nature. Classification based on the initial source of the risk (internal or external) was the second most favored classification method and was used in 15.38% of the articles. Classification based on the occurrence of the risk at different stages of the project (6.15%) and three-level meta-classification (6.15%) were considerably less common in the selected articles. Classification based on the impact of risks on project objectives (2.31%) and classification based on the project party who might be the originator of the risk (1.54%) were very rarely used in the selected articles. A considerable proportion of the selected articles (30.00%) did not use any of the classification methods; rather, the risks were simply listed. A large proportion of the selected articles (48.46%) used a two-level RBS (i.e., main category and list of risks). Another 21.54% of the articles used a three-level RBS comprised of main category, sub-category, and risks at the lowest level, and 30.00% of the articles just listed the risks without categorizing them. Further analysis carried out on the categories (main and sub) indicated that numerous category names have been adopted in the selected articles for classifying risks based on their nature. The top 20 risk category names used in the selected articles for classifying risks based on their nature are shown in Table 3.5, which was later used as the basis for the proposed classification method adopted in this chapter. The most popular category names used in the selected articles were economic (24.62%), political (24.62%), construction (22.31%), financial (21.54%), and management (20.00%).

The review of existing classification methods in the selected articles reveals that there is no standard or consensus on how to categorize risks in the construction industry. In addition, there is a lack of clarity and consistency in the definition of risk categories. The categories in most risk classification methods adopted in the selected articles do not capture the broad variety of risks. Furthermore, the available classification methods are suitable for specific project types or project stakeholders. These limitations highlight the need for a structured and comprehensive risk classification method. Therefore, a comprehensive and structured classification method is proposed in this chapter based on the existing category names in the selected articles (Table 3.5), as discussed in the next section.

Table 3 1	Rick	alassification	methods and	lavel of PR	Sucod in t	ha calactad	articles
1 able 5.4	. KISK	. classification	methous and	level of KD	s used in u	le selected	articles

	Number of	Percentage	
Category	articles	of articles	Rank
Risk classification methods			
Classification based on initial source of risks	20	15.38	3
(internal and external)			
Classification based on nature of risks	50	38.46	1
Classification based on occurrence of risks at	8	6.15	4
different stages of the project			
Classification based on impact of risks on	3	2.31	6
project objectives			
Classification based on the project party who	2	1.54	7
might be the originator of the risk			
Three-level meta-classification	8	6.15	4
No classification (just listing of risks)	39	30.00	2
Total	130	100.00	
Level of risk breakdown structure (RBS)			
Three levels	28	21.54	3
Two levels	63	48.46	1
Single level (just listing)	39	30.00	2
Total	130	100.00	

Category name	Number of articles	Percentage of articles	Category name	Number of articles	Percentage of articles
Economic	32	24.62	Legal	15	11.54
Political	32	24.62	Site conditions	13	10.00
Construction	29	22.31	Market	10	7.69
Financial	28	21.54	Natural	9	6.92
Management	26	20.00	Health and safety	8	6.15
Environmental	23	17.69	Labor	8	6.15
Design	23	17.69	Equipment	7	5.38
Contractual	22	16.92	Resources	7	5.38
Technical	19	14.62	Acts of God	7	5.38
Social	18	13.85	Geological	7	5.38

Table 3.5. Top 20 risk category names used in the selected articles for classifying risk based on their nature

3.4.5 Identification, Classification, and Ranking of Common Risks from the Selected

Articles

In this chapter, the risks identified from the selected articles were categorized based on their nature, as it is the most widely used classification approach in the selected articles. The risks identified from the selected articles were grouped into eleven categories: management, technical, construction, resource-related, site conditions, contractual and legal, economic and financial, social, political, environmental, and health and safety. These category names were chosen from the top 20 category names identified from the selected articles (Table 3.5). Some of the category names had to be combined to avoid redundancy in risk identification and categorization (e.g., economic and financial, contractual and legal). In the case of category names that were commonly used interchangeably, the one that was more general and inclusive of the other was used (e.g., the category name "technical" was chosen over "design" and "engineering," and the category name "resource-related" was chosen as it incorporates "material," "labor," "equipment," and "subcontractor"). Such classification is intended to illustrate the diversity of risks and thereby

assist in examining the full breadth of exposure to possible risks so that project parties do not focus on specific risks and overlook others (Al-Bahar and Crandall 1990; Bu-Qammaz et al. 2009). Since the proposed classification method is comprehensive, it can be adopted for classifying risks for different types of construction projects and project stakeholders. Broader and comprehensive categorization facilitates both risk identification processes and subsequent risk management processes. Grouping risks of similar nature is essential to avoid duplication, identify risk interdependencies and interactions, and identify root causes of risks. Moreover, such categorization helps to identify effective risk response strategies and allocate risks to the most appropriate contracting party.

Each of the risks identified from the selected articles were categorized in a unique category. Because of the categorization method adopted in this chapter, identified risks may fall under a different category than their original category in the selected article. A total of 571 risks were identified after conducting a literature review and content analysis on the selected articles. Table 3.6 shows the number of risks identified under each category.

		Number of	Percentage of
Risk category		identified risks	identified risks
Management		72	12.61
Technical		63	11.03
Construction		59	10.33
Resource-related		68	11.91
Site conditions		38	6.65
Contractual and legal		65	11.38
Economic and financial		67	11.73
Social		38	6.65
Political		46	8.06
Environmental		24	4.20
Health and safety		31	5.43
	Total	571	100.00

Table 3.6. Number of identified risks in each category in the selected articles

The risks in each category were ranked solely based on their frequencies, that is, the total number of references (hits) each risk had (Table 3.7). The frequencies reflect how common the risks are in the construction industry or how frequently they are identified in the selected articles. The ranking does not show the probability of occurrence, impact, or severity of the identified risks on project objectives. The probability, impact, and severity or risks are very project- and context-specific and can not be generalized. The top 10 risks in each category are shown in Table 3.7.

	Number of	Percentage	
Description of risks	articles	of articles	Rank
Management			
Poor coordination among various parties involved in the project	29	22.31	1
Lack of experience and project management skills of the project	26	20.00	2
team			
Inadequate or poor project planning and budgeting	24	18.46	3
Unavailability of sufficient professionals and managers	23	17.69	4
Poor communication among various parties involved in the	23	17.69	4
project			
Poor site management and supervision by the contractor	16	12.31	6
Poor relationships among various parties involved in the project	16	12.31	6
Inadequate project organization structure	15	11.54	8
Poor project quality management, including inadequate quality	14	10.77	9
planning, quality assurance, and quality control			
Poor capability of owner in project management	12	9.23	10
Technical			
Design errors and poor engineering	61	46.92	1
Unanticipated engineering and design changes	48	36.92	2
Unclear and inadequate details in design drawings and	22	16.92	3
specifications			
Inadequate study and insufficient data before design (errors in	22	16.92	3
feasibility studies)			
Unproven or immature engineering techniques	16	12.31	5
Delay in design (design process takes longer than anticipated)	14	10.77	6
Incomplete design	10	7.69	7
Technology changes	8	6.15	8
Complexity of design	7	5.38	9

Table 3.7. Top ten risks in each category identified from the selected articles

	Number of	Percentage	
Description of risks	articles	of articles	Rank
Poor constructability	7	4.62	9
Construction	50	20.46	1
Poor workmanship and construction errors leading to rework	50	38.46	l
Delays and interruptions causing a cost increase to the work	36	27.69	2
package/project	1.5		2
Unreasonably tight project schedule causing a cost increase to the	15	11.54	3
work package/project			_
Complexity of proposed construction methods/techniques	12	9.23	4
Contractors' incompetence in executing the work package/project	12	9.23	4
Changes in construction methods/techniques	11	8.46	6
Adoption of improper, poor, or unproven construction	11	8.46	6
methods/techniques			
Contractor's lack of experience in similar projects	8	6.15	8
Conflicting interfaces of work items	6	4.62	9
Pressure to deliver project on accelerated schedule (pressure to	6	4.62	9
crash project duration)			
Resource-related	50	40.55	
Unavailability of a sufficient amount of skilled labor in the	53	40.77	1
project region			
Unavailability or shortage of expected materials	48	36.92	2
Unavailability or shortage of expected equipment	31	23.85	3
Delay in materials delivery	27	20.77	4
Defective or non-conforming materials that do not meet the	22	16.92	5
standard			
Low labor productivity of local workforce	22	16.92	5
Subcontractors' failure; default of subcontractors	15	11.54	7
Unavailability of qualified subcontractors	15	11.54	7
Low productivity and efficiency of equipment	14	10.77	9
Equipment breakdown	13	10.00	10
Site conditions		41.54	1
Unpredicted adverse subsurface conditions	54	41.54	l
Differing and unforeseen site conditions	35	26.92	2
Lack of readily available utilities on site (e.g., water, electricity,	20	15.38	3
etc.) and unavailability of supporting infrastructure			
Inadequate site investigations (soil tests and site survey)	17	13.08	4
Difficulties of access and work on site due to specific	15	11.54	5
geographical constraints of the region			
Late construction site possession	13	10.00	6

	Number of	Percentage	
Description of risks	articles	of articles	Rank
Unexpected underground utilities encounters	10	7.69	7
Delays in the right-of-way process	8	6.15	8
Ineffective control and management of traffic	8	6.15	8
Improper selection of project location	7	5.38	10
Contractual and legal			
Contradictions and vagueness in contract documents	41	31.54	1
Changes in project scope	22	16.92	2
Immaturity and/or unreliability of the legal system	21	16.15	3
Delays in resolving contractual disputes and litigations	20	15.38	4
Possibility of contractual disputes and claims	17	13.08	5
Frequent change orders	12	9.23	6
Change in codes and regulations	12	9.23	6
Excessive contract variation	10	7.69	8
Intense competition at the tender stage	8	6.15	9
Unclear roles and responsibilities of project stakeholders	8	6.15	9
Economic and financial			
Unpredicted changes in the inflation rate	64	49.23	1
Project-funding problems	48	36.92	2
Fluctuations in currency exchange and/or difficulty of	43	33.08	3
convertibility			
Unpredicted changes in interest rates	33	25.38	4
Escalation of material prices	29	22.31	5
Delay in payments	29	22.31	5
Changes in tax regulation	25	19.23	7
Poor financial market or unavailability of financial instrument	24	18.46	8
resulting in difficulty of financing			
Unfavorable economic situations in the country (instability of	22	16.92	9
economic conditions)			
Market demand changes	16	12.31	10
Social			
Land acquisition and compensation problems (the cost and time	28	21.54	1
for land acquisition exceeds the original plans)			
Public opposition to the project (public objections, social	23	17.69	2
grievances)			
Differences in social, cultural, and religious backgrounds	21	16.15	3
Insecurity and crime (theft, vandalism, and fraudulent practices)	14	10.77	4
Strikes and labor disputes	14	10.77	4
Poor public relations with local contacts	10	7.69	6

	Number of	Percentage	
Description of risks	articles	of articles	Rank
Unfavorable social environment	8	6.15	7
Societal conflict and/or public unrest	8	6.15	7
Poor public decision-making process	7	5.38	9
Disturbances to public activities	5	3.85	10
Political			
Changes in government laws, regulations, and policies affecting	60	46.15	1
the project			
Political instability of the government (unfavorable political	34	26.15	2
environment)			
Delay or refusal of project approval and permit by government	32	24.62	3
departments (excessive approval procedures)			
Outbreak of hostilities (wars, revolution, riots, and terrorism)	26	20.00	4
Corrupt local government officials demand bribes or unjust	24	18.46	5
rewards			
High level of bureaucracy of the authority	16	12.31	6
Expropriation and nationalization of assets/facilities without	16	12.31	6
reasonable compensation			
Government's improper intervention during construction	15	11.54	8
Poor relations with related government departments	11	8.46	9
Government restrictions on foreign companies (e.g.	10	7.69	10
import/export restrictions, mandatory technology transfer,			
differential taxation of foreign firms, etc.)			
2, , ,			
Environmental			
Adverse weather conditions (continuous rainfall, snow,	60	46.15	1
temperature, wind)			
Force majeure (natural and man-made disasters which are beyond	52	40.00	2
the firm's control, e.g. floods, thunder and lightning, landslide,			
earthquake, hurricane, etc.)			
Adverse environmental impacts of the project	30	23.08	3
Pollution associated with construction activities (dust. harmful	16	12.31	4
gases, noise, solid and liquid wastes, etc.)			
Strict environmental regulations and requirements	12	9.23	5
Poor environmental regulations and controls	7	5.38	6
Changes in environmental standards and permitting	6	4.62	7
Poor preliminary assessment and evaluation of environmental	5	3.85	8
impacts of the project	5	2.02	U U
Prosecution due to unlawful disposal of construction waste	5	3 85	8
Failure to obtain environmental approval	4	3.08	10
i unare to obtain environmental approval	T	5.00	10

	Number of	Percentage	
Description of risks	articles	of articles	Rank
Health and Safety			
Accidents occurring during construction	36	27.69	1
Inadequate safety measures or unsafe operations	28	21.54	2
Poor construction safety management	16	12.31	3
Damage to persons or property or materials due to poor safety and	9	6.92	4
health management of the project			
Failure to comply with HS&E standards or security plan	9	6.92	4
Ineffective protection of surrounding environment (e.g., adjacent	7	5.38	6
buildings and facilities)			
Epidemic illness	7	5.38	6
Strict health and safety regulations	6	4.62	8
Changed labor safety laws or regulations	6	4.62	8
Fatalities	5	3.85	10

Management risks are those risks related to the management skills and experience of the project team and project parties, the availability of project management professionals, and the relationships and coordination among project parties (Ling and Hoi 2006). As shown in Table 3.7, the most frequently mentioned management risks in the selected articles were poor coordination among various parties involved in the project (22.31%), lack of experience and project management skills of the project team (20.00%), inadequate or poor project planning and budgeting (18.46%), unavailability of sufficient professionals and managers (17.69%), and poor communication among various parties involved in the project, such as design, specifications, engineering, and technology (El-Sayegh and Mansour 2015). Among the technical risks identified from the selected articles, design errors and poor engineering (46.92%) and unanticipated engineering and design changes (36.92%) were the most prevalent, followed by unclear and inadequate details in design drawings and specifications (16.92%) and inadequate study and insufficient data before design (16.92%). Construction risks involve issues or concerns associated with construction

methods, work tasks, delays and interruptions in construction, cost overruns, and quality of construction (Shrestha et al. 2017). The three most common construction risks identified from the selected articles were poor workmanship and construction errors leading to rework (38.46%), delays and interruptions causing a cost increase to the work package/project (27.69%), and an unreasonably tight project schedule causing a cost increase to the work package/project (11.54%).

Resource-related risks are risks associated with the suitability, condition, availability, quality, and procurement of construction materials and equipment and the availability, skill level, and performance of labor and subcontractors. As shown in Table 3.7, unavailability of a sufficient amount of skilled labor in the project region (40.77%), unavailability or shortage of expected materials (36.92%), unavailability or shortage of expected equipment (23.85%), and delay in materials delivery (20.77%) are very common resource-related risks in the selected articles. The site conditions risk category includes those risks related to the construction project site, including uncertainty regarding subsurface conditions, underground utilities, archaeological finds, accessibility of the site, availability of supporting infrastructure, and security and traffic conditions at the site (El-Sayegh and Mansour 2015). The top three site conditions (41.54%), differing and unforeseen site conditions (26.92%), and lack of readily available utilities on site and unavailability of supporting infrastructure (15.38%).

Contractual and legal risks arise from poorly tailored contracts, inappropriate distribution of responsibilities, conflicts in contract documents, inadequate claim administration, disputes and litigations, third-party liabilities, immature laws, and complexity in the legal environment (El-Sayegh and Mansour 2015; Shrestha et al. 2017). The most frequently mentioned risks belonging

to this category in the selected articles were contradictions and vagueness in contract documents (31.54%), changes in project scope (16.92%), immaturity and/or unreliability of the legal system (16.15%), and delays in resolving contractual disputes and litigations (15.38%). The economic and financial risk category includes risks related to inflation, fluctuations in exchange rates, changes in price, tax rates and economic policies, and also risks arising from financing structures and the financial market as well as challenges in financing the project (Iyer and Sagheer 2010; Shrestha et al. 2017). The most common economic and financial risks in the selected articles were unpredicted changes in the inflation rate (49.23%), project-funding problems (36.92%), fluctuations in currency exchange and/or difficulty of convertibility (33.08%), and unpredicted changes in interest rates (25.38%).

The social risks category involves risks associated with cultural and religious differences, crime and lack of security on project sites, issues or concerns related to social and cultural impacts of the project on the community, and public objections to projects (El-Sayegh 2008; Nielsen 2006). Among the identified risks belonging to this category, the most common were land acquisition and compensation problems (21.54%); public opposition to the project (17.69%); and differences in social, cultural, and religious backgrounds (16.15%). The political risks category includes risks that are dependent on political and regulatory situations as well as the stability of the country where the project is taking place (El-Sayegh and Mansour 2015). Changes in government laws, regulations, and policies affecting the project (46.15%) was the most frequently mentioned political risk in the selected articles, followed by political instability of the government (26.15%), delay or refusal of project approval and permit by government departments (24.62%), and outbreak of hostilities (i.e., wars, revolution, riots, and terrorism) (20.00%).

The environmental risk category includes risks created by nature, impact on the environment caused by the project, and changes in environmental policies and regulations (El-Sayegh and Mansour 2015; Shrestha et al. 2017). The most frequently mentioned environmental risks in the selected articles were adverse weather conditions (46.15%), force majeure (40.00%), and adverse environmental impacts of the project (23.08%). Risks belonging to the health and safety category relate to accidents and injuries due to poor safety conditions and measures on the construction site, health-related issues on the construction site, and health and safety regulations (El-Sayegh and Mansour 2015). The top three health and safety risks identified from the selected articles were accidents occurring during construction (27.69%), inadequate safety measures or unsafe operations (21.54%), and poor construction safety management (12.31%).

The comparison made based on the total number of references for the top ten risks in each category (Figure 3.4) shows that the economic and financial risk category was the most frequent in the selected articles. Potential reasons for this finding is that risks belonging to the economic and financial risk category can affect all project parties, span the entire project life cycle, have significant impact on both cost and schedule, influences risks in other categories, and pose significant threat to both international and local construction companies involved in a project. Health and safety and social risk categories were the least frequent in the selected articles. Empirical studies conducted by different researchers also reflect that health and safety and social risk categories (Edwards and Bowen, 1998; El-Sayegh, 2008). The overall top ten risks identified from the selected articles are presented in Table 3.8, along with their respective risk category, number of articles, percentage of articles, and overall rank. The results show that unpredicted changes in the inflation rate (49.23%); design errors and poor engineering (46.92%); changes in government laws, regulations, and policies affecting the project (46.15%);

adverse weather conditions (46.15%); and unpredicted adverse subsurface conditions (41.54%) were the most common risks amongst all the risks identified from the selected articles.



Figure 3.4. Total number of references for the top ten risks in each category

		Number		
		of articles	Percentage	Overall
Description of risks	Risk category		of articles	rank
Unpredicted changes in the inflation rate	Economic and financial	64	49.23	1
Design errors and poor engineering	Technical	61	46.92	2
Changes in government laws, regulations, and policies affecting the project	Political	60	46.15	3
Adverse weather conditions (continuous rainfall, snow, temperature, wind)	Environmental	60	46.15	3
Unpredicted adverse subsurface conditions	Site conditions	54	41.54	5
Unavailability of a sufficient amount of skilled labor in the project region	Resource-related	53	40.77	6
Force majeure (natural disasters that are beyond the firm's control, e.g. floods, thunder and lightning, landslide, earthquake, hurricane, etc.)	Environmental	52	40.00	7
Poor workmanship and construction errors leading to rework	Construction	50	38.46	8
Unanticipated engineering and design changes	Technical	48	36.92	9
Unavailability or shortage of expected materials	Resource-related	48	36.92	9
Project funding problems	Economic and financial	48	36.92	9

Table 3.8. Overall top ten risks identified from the selected articles

Although interface management was not a common risk category name among the selected papers, risk and opportunity events related to interface management were identified and groped into different categories (e.g., management and technical). The majority of the selected articles concentrated on the identification of negative risks and overlooked opportunities that could have a beneficial effect on achieving project objectives. In addition, the existing tools and techniques available for risk identification are more suitable for identification of negative risks than opportunities (Hillson 2002). Most of the selected articles focused on the identification of risks from the perspective of their impacts on an individual project objective, mainly cost or time, and

rarely on quality, safety, and environmental objectives. Overlooking the multifaceted impacts of risks on project objectives in the identification process can lead to underestimation of project contingency allowance (Zou and Zhang 2009). In the majority of the selected articles, risk identification is focused on a specific project phase (predominantly the construction phase), rather than the entire project life cycle. Only a few of the selected articles identified both risks and their respective response strategies. Moreover, secondary risks that may arise due to the implementation of response strategies were given less attention. Additionally, the review conducted on the selected articles indicates that there is a lack of studies that examine critical risks from the perspective of more than one project party. Identifying risks from the perspective of different parties gives a better understanding of the attitude and perception of the project parties on various risks (Zou and Zhang 2009). Consequently, the development of a comprehensive risk identification framework that enables risk identification for multiple project objectives and project phases and from the perspective of different project parties is an area that requires further investigation.

3.5 Chapter Summary

This chapter discussed a systematic review and detailed content analysis of 130 articles related to risk identification published in 14 well-regarded academic journals in construction engineering and management between 1990 and 2017. The selected articles encompassed risk identification on various types of construction projects located in different geographical locations. Common risk identification tools and techniques and risk classification methods used in the construction risk management process were investigated. Also, common potential risks that affect construction projects were identified from the selected articles, categorized based on the nature of the risks, and ranked. The conclusions drawn in this chapter are based on the review and content analysis done on the selected articles.

The findings of the content analysis show that a combination of two or more risk identification tools and techniques were widely used in the selected articles. An appropriate combination of tools and techniques helps to achieve better results in identifying potential risks. For identifying risks, literature reviews, questionnaire surveys, and expert interviews were the most frequently used tools and techniques, while diagramming and analysis-based risk identification tools and techniques were rarely used. The review of existing classification methods revealed that there is no standard or consensus on the categorization of risks in the construction industry. Risk classification based on the nature and source of risks was the most common method in the selected articles. A two-level RBS was used in a large proportion of the selected articles, and the top five common category names used for classifying risks based on their nature were economic, political, construction, financial, and management. In this chapter, the risks identified from the selected articles were categorized into eleven categories: management, technical, construction, resource-related, site conditions, contractual and legal, economic and financial, social, political, environmental, and health and safety. Categorizing risks in such a manner helps to avoid redundancy and ambiguity and contributes to the effectiveness and quality of the risk identification process because the categories are detailed and comprehensive. In order to rank the risks belonging in each category, the percentage of articles in which a particular risk is mentioned was used, and the top ten risks in each category were presented in this chapter. The top five most frequently mentioned risks in the selected articles based on the overall rank of the risks were unpredicted change of inflation rate; design errors and poor engineering; changes in government laws, regulations, and policies affecting the project; adverse weather conditions (continuous rainfall, snow, temperature, wind); and unpredicted adverse subsurface conditions. The comparison between risk categories reflects that the economic and financial risk category was the

most frequently identified, while health and safety and social risk categories were the least frequently identified.

The main contributions of this chapter can be grouped into four areas. First, the chapter presents a critical review of the state of the art in risk identification, which has not been examined in as great detail as compared to risk modeling and analysis. The chapter also provides a systematic and in depth content analysis of previous studies and establishes research areas in need of further examination. Second, the chapter identifies the most common risk identification tools and techniques and risk classification methods used in the selected articles published in construction engineering and management journals. Third, the chapter identifies, categorizes, and ranks the most common risks affecting construction projects. Fourth, a comprehensive risk classification method applicable for different types of construction projects and project stakeholders has been proposed. The proposed classification method helps to categorize diverse risks identified from the selected articles. The findings of this chapter are of value to both researchers and industry practitioners seeking a useful reference on common potential risks affecting construction projects for future risk identification, analysis, and modeling purposes. In the next chapter, the methodology for developing hybrid FSD model to analyze the severity of risk and opportunity events on work package cost and determine work package and project contingency is presented.
3.6 References

- Al-Bahar, J.F., and Crandall, K.C. (1990). "Systematic risk management approach for construction projects." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 116(3), 533–546.
- Al-Sabah, R., Menassa, C.C., and Hanna, A. (2014). "Evaluating impact of construction risks in the Arabian Gulf region from perspective of multinational architecture, engineering and construction firms." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 32(4), 382–402.
- Banaitiene, N., and Banaitis, A. (2012). *Risk management Current issues and challenges: Risk management in construction projects*, InTech, 429–448.
- Baumann, S., Erber, I., and Gattringer, M. (2016). "Selection of risk identification instruments." *Journal of Finance and Risk Perspective*, 5(2), 27–41.
- Bing, L., Akintoye, A., Edwards, P.J., and Hardcastle, C. (2005). "The allocation of risk in PPP/PFI construction projects in the UK." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 23, 25–35.
- Boateng, P., Chen, Z., Ogunlana, S., and Ikediashi, D. (2012). "A system dynamics approach to risks description in megaprojects development." *Organization, Technology, and Management in Construction: an International Journal*, 4(3), 593–603.
- Bu-Qammaz, A.S., Dikmen, I., and Birgonul, M.T. (2009). "Risk assessment of international construction projects using the analytic network process." *Can. J. Civil Eng.*, 36, 1170–1181.
- Chan, A.P.C., Chan, D.W.M., and Yeung, J.F.Y (2009). "Overview of the application of 'fuzzy techniques' in construction management research." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 135(11), 1241–1252.

- Chapman, C., and Ward, S. (2003). *Project risk management: Processes, techniques and insights*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, U.K.
- Choudhry, R.M., and Iqbal, K. (2013). "Identification of risk management system in Construction industry in Pakistan." *J. Mange. Eng.*, 29(1), 42–49.
- Ebrahimnejad, S., Mousavi, S.M., and Seyrafianpour, H. (2010). "Risk identification and assessment for build–operate–transfer projects: A fuzzy multi attribute decision making model." *Expert Syst. Appl.*, 37, 575–586.
- Edwards, P.J, and Bowen, P.A (1998). "Risk and risk management in construction: a review and future directions for research." *Eng. Constr. Archit. Manage.*, 5(4), 339–349.
- Elbarkouky, M.G., Fayek, A. Robinson, Siraj, N.B., and Sadeghi, N. (2016). "Fuzzy arithmetic risk analysis approach to determine construction project contingency." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 142(12)04016070-1–04016070-11.
- El-Sayegh, S.M. (2008). "Risk assessment and allocation in the UAE construction industry." Int. J. Project Manage., 26, 431–438.
- El-Sayegh, S.M., and Mansour, M.H. (2015). "Risk assessment allocation in highway construction projects in the UAE." *J. Mange. Eng.*, 31(6), 04015004-1–04015004-11.
- Goh, C.S., Abdul-Rahman, H., and Abdul Samad, Z. (2013). "Applying risk management workshop for a public construction project: Case study." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 139(5), 572–580.

- Grimaldi, S., Rafele, C., and Cagliano, A.C. (2012). *Risk Management Current Issues and Challenges: A framework to select techniques supporting project risk management*, InTech, 67–96.
- Hillson, D. (2002). "Extending the risk process to manage opportunities." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 20, 235–240.
- Hosseini, M.R., Chileshe, N. Jepson, J., and Arashpour, M. (2016). "Critical success factors for implementing risk management systems in developing countries." *Construction Economic and Building*, 16(1), 18–32.
- Hwang, B., Zhao, X., and Gay, M.J.S. (2013). "Public private partnership projects in Singapore: factors, critical risks and preferred risk allocation from the perspective of contractors." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 31, 424–433.
- Islam, M.S., Nepal, M.P., Skitmore, M., and Attarzadeh, M. (2017). "Current research trends and application areas of fuzzy and hybrid methods to the risk assessment of construction projects." *Adv. Eng. Inform.*, 33, 112–131.
- ISO (The International Organization for Standardization). (2009). "Risk management principles and guideline." *ISO 31000:2009*, International Standard Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Iyer, K.C., and Sagheer, M. (2010). "Hierarchical structuring of PPP risks using interpretative structural modeling." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 136(2), 151–159.
- Krippendorff, K. (2013). *Content Analysis: An introduction to its methodology*, Third edition, SAGE, Los Angeles.

- Lam, K.C., Wang, D., Lee, P.T.K., and Tsang, Y.T. (2007). "Modelling risk allocation decision in construction contracts." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 25, 485–493.
- Lee, N., and Schaufelberger, J.E. (2014). "Risk management strategies for privatized infrastructure projects: Study of the build–operate–transfer approach in east Asia and the Pacific." *J. Mange. Eng.*, 30(3), 050114001-1–050114001-9.
- Li, J., and Zou, P.X.W. (2011). "Fuzzy AHP-based risk assessment methodology for PPP projects." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 137(12), 1205–1209.
- Ling, F.Y.Y., and Hoi, L. (2006). "Risks faced by Singapore firms when undertaking construction projects in India." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 24, 261–270.
- Lyons, T., and Skitmore, M. (2004). "Project risk management in the Queensland engineering construction industry: A survey." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 22, 51–61.
- Marle, F., and Gidel, T. (2012). "Assisting project risk management method selection." *Int. J. Project Org. Manage.*, 1–32.
- Mojtahedi, S.M.H., Mousavi, S.M., and Makui, A. (2010). "Project risk identification and assessment simultaneously using multi-attribute group decision making technique." *Safety Sci.*, 48, 499–507.
- Nielsen, K.R (2006). "Risk management: Lessons from six continents." J. Mange. Eng., 22(2), 61–67.
- PMI (The Project Management Institute). (2013). *The project management body of knowledge* (*PMBOK Guide*), 5th Ed, the Project Management Institute (PMI), Pennsylvania, U.S.

- Rostami, A. (2016). "Tools and techniques in risk identification: A research within SMEs in the UK construction industry." *Universal Journal of Management*, 4(4), 203–210.
- Shrestha, A., Chan, T.K., Aibinu, A.A., Chen, C., and Martek, I. (2017). "Risks in PPP water projects in China: Perspective of local governments." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 143(7), 05017006-1–05017006-12.
- Tadayon, M., Jaafar, M., and Nasri, E. (2012). "An assessment of risk identification in large construction projects in Iran" *Journal of Construction in Developing Countries*, 17(1), 57–69.
- Tah, J.H.M., and Carr, V. (2000). "A proposal for construction project risk assessment using fuzzy logic." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 18(4), 491–500.
- Tang, W., Qiang, M., Duffield, C.F., Young, D.M., and Lu, Y. (2007). "Risk management in the Chinese construction industry." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 133(12), 944–956.
- Taroun, A. (2014). "Towards a better modelling and assessment of construction risk: Insights from a literature review." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 32, 101–115.
- Tavakolan, M., and Etemadinia, H. (2017). "Fuzzy weighted interpretive structural modeling: Improved method for identification of risk interactions in construction projects." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 143(11), 04017084-1–04017084-11.
- Vickerman, R. (2007). "Cost-benefit analysis and large-scale infrastructure projects: state of the art and challenges." *Environmental and Planning: Planning and Design*, 34(1), 598–610.
- Wang, J., and Yuan, H. (2016). "System dynamics approach for investigating the risk effects on schedule delay in infrastructure projects." J. Mange. Eng., 33(1), 04016029-1–04016029-13.

- Wing, C.K. (1997). "The ranking of construction management journals." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 15(4), 387–398.
- Xiong, B., Skitmore, M., and Xia, B. (2015). "A critical review of structural equation modeling applications in construction research." *Automat. Constr.*, 49, 59–70.
- Yi, W., and Chan, A.P.C. (2014). "Critical review of labor productivity research in construction journals." J. Mange. Eng., 30(2), 214–225.
- Yu, Y., Chan, A.P.C., Chen, C., and Darko, A. (2018). "Critical risk factors of transnational publicprivate partnership projects: Literature review." *J. Infrastruct. Syst.*, 24(1), 04017042-1– 04017042-11.
- Zayed, T., Amer, M., and Pan, J. (2008). "Assessing risk and uncertainty inherent in Chinese highway projects using AHP." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 26, 408–419.
- Zeng, J., Min, A., and Smith, N.J. (2007). "Application of a fuzzy based decision making methodology to construction project risk assessment." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 25, 589–600.
- Zou, P.X.W., and Zhang, G. (2007). "Managing risks in construction projects: Life cycle and stakeholder perspectives." *International Journal of Construction Management*, 9(1), 61–77.
- Zou, P.X.W., Zhang, G., and Wang, J. (2007). "Understanding the key risks in construction projects in China." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 25, 601–614.

Chapter 4 Fuzzy System Dynamics Modelling Methodology⁴

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter, the overall methodology and detailed steps for developing the hybrid FSD model to analyze the severity of risk and opportunity events on work package costs and to determine work package and project contingencies are presented. The methodology is illustrated in Figure 4.1 and the details are described in the following sections.



Figure 4.1. Steps for developing FSD model for risk analysis and contingency determination

⁴ Parts of this chapter have been submitted for publication in the *Automation in Construction*: Siraj, N. B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2019). "Hybrid fuzzy system dynamics model for analyzing the impacts of interrelated risk and opportunity events on project contingency." *Automat. Constr.*, 70 manuscript pages, submitted July 9, 2019.

4.2 Identification of Risk and Opportunity Events

A systematic literature review and detailed content analysis of 130 articles selected from 14 wellregarded academic journals in construction engineering and management published between 1990 and 2017 was conducted to identify common risk and opportunity events in construction as discussed in Chapter 3. The risk and opportunity events identified from the selected articles were grouped into 11 categories: management, technical, construction, resource-related, site conditions, contractual and legal, economic and financial, social, political, environmental, and health and safety. The identified risk and opportunity events and the risk categorization method were refined and verified by expert knowledge.

4.3 Assessing Experts' Levels of Expertise and Assigning Importance weights to Experts

Groups of experts with different levels of knowledge, experience, and expertise are often involved in decision-making at different stages of risk assessment and management. Decision-making groups in risk management can be classified as either homogeneous or heterogeneous. This classification is based on the importance degree of the experts in a group. If the opinions of all experts are considered equally important, the group is considered homogeneous; otherwise, it is referred to as a heterogeneous group (Herrera-Viedma et al. 2014). The most common approach for addressing the heterogeneity of a group in risk management is to assign importance weights to every expert based on their expertise level (Herrera-Viedma et al. 2014).

The aggregation methods employed in previously developed FSD methods do not take into account experts' levels of expertise in risk management. In most cases, importance weights are assigned to experts directly by a moderator or manager (Siraj et al. 2018). In this chapter, the

importance weights of the experts were considered when combining experts' assessments of the probability and impact of risk and opportunity events, the percentage of work package cost affected by risk and opportunity events, and the degrees of the causal relationships among risk and opportunity events. To determine importance weights of experts', their levels of expertise in risk management were assessed based on seven criteria: experience, knowledge, professional performance, risk management practice, project specifics, reputation, and personal attributes and skills, as proposed by Monzer et al. (2019). Each criterion comprises sub-criteria (qualification attributes) that are quantitative or qualitative (Table 4.1). A predetermined rating scale (1-5) was established for assessing each of the qualitative qualification attributes, as shown in Appendix B. After assessing the experts' levels of expertise based on the qualification attributes, the importance weights of the experts (W_k) were determined using the fuzzy analytic hierarchy process (FAHP) weight-assigning method developed by Monzer et al (2019). The FAHP method allows experts to carry out pairwise comparisons using fuzzy linguistic scales, unlike the classical AHP, which uses crisp numbers. Consequently, the relative weights of the qualification attributes and criteria are determined using the FAHP method based on the pairwise assessments of the experts (Monzer et al. 2019).

Criteria	Sub-Criteria	Scale of measure	
1. Experience	1.1 Total years of experience	Real number	
	1.2 Diversity of experience	Integer	
	1.3 Relevant experience	Real number	
	1.4 Applied experience	Real number	
	1.5 Varied experience	Integer	
2. Knowledge	2.1 Academic knowledge	Real number	
	2.2 Education level	Predetermined rating	
	2.3 On the job training	Integer	
3. Professional	3.1 Current occupation in the	Predetermined rating	
performance	company		
	3.2 Years in current occupation	Real number	
	3.3 Expertise self-evaluation	Predetermined rating	
4. Risk management	4.1 Average hours of work in risk	Real number	
practice	per week		
	4.2 Risk management training	Integer	
	4.3 Risk management conferences	Integer	
	experience		
	4.4 Risk identification and planning	Predetermined rating	
	4.5 Risk monitoring and control	Predetermined rating	
	4.6 Crisis management	Predetermined rating	
5. Project specifics	5.1 Project size limit	Real number	
	5.2 Commitment to time deadlines	Real number	
	5.3 Commitment to cost budget	Real number	
	5.4 Safety adherence	Integer	
	5.5 Geographic diversity experience	Integer	
6. Reputation	6.1 Social acclamation	Predetermined rating	
	6.2 Willingness to participate in	Predetermined rating	
	survey		
	6.3 Professional reputation	Predetermined rating	
	6.4 Enthusiasm and willingness	Predetermined rating	
	6.5 Level of risk conservativeness	Predetermined rating	
7. Personal attributes and	7.1 Level of communication skills	Predetermined rating	
skills	7.2 Level of teamwork skills	Predetermined rating	
	7.3 Level of leadership skills	Predetermined rating	
	7.4 Level of analytical skills	Predetermined rating	
	7.5 Level of ethics	Predetermined rating	

Table 4.1. Criteria and sub-criteria for assessing experts' expertise level (Monzer et al. 2019)

4.4 Assessment and Prioritization of Risk and Opportunity Events

Risk and opportunity events are commonly prioritized and ranked based on a probability-impact (P–I) score determined using probability-impact matrix (CII 2012) and based on mean criticality index by assessing the criticality of risk events (Wang et al. 2004). These approaches are simple and transparent; however, the probability and impact in P-I matrix and the criticality of risks are assessed using linguistic terms represented by numerical values or a Likert scale, neither of which captures the subjective uncertainties involved in assessing the probability and impact of risks. Moreover, risk assessment and prioritization are carried out at the project level, and opportunities are often not incorporated in the assessment. This chapter presents a fuzzy-based risk assessment procedure, which assesses the probability and impact of both risk and opportunity events and considers the experts' expertise level, to assess and prioritize risk and opportunity events. An interview survey was designed based on the refined risk and opportunity events. The survey was divided into two major sections: the first section included general information to assess project and work package characteristics (see Appendix C), and the second section deals with the assessment of potential risk and opportunity events affecting work packages (see Appendix D). The probability of occurrence of risk and opportunity events and their respective impacts on work package cost were assessed by experts using five linguistic terms: very low, low, medium, high, and very high (in addition to N/A-Not applicable), represented by triangular or trapezoidal fuzzy numbers. Each risk and opportunity event was assessed twice: once assuming it may lead to a risk (using probability and impact scales for risk), and once assuming it may lead to an opportunity (using probability and impact scales for opportunity). The percentage of work package cost affected by each risk and opportunity event was also determined by the experts.

The experts' assessments of each risk and opportunity event for a given work package were aggregated using Eq. (4.1) and Eq. (4.2) to obtain the collective assessment of the experts.

$$\tilde{P}_{R_{ib}} = \sum_{k=1}^{v} W_k \otimes \tilde{P}_{R_{ib}}^{(k)}; \ \tilde{I}_{R_{ib}} = \sum_{k=1}^{v} W_k \otimes \tilde{I}_{R_{ib}}^{(k)}; \ \tilde{P}_{O_{ib}} = \sum_{k=1}^{v} W_k \otimes \tilde{P}_{O_{ib}}^{(k)}; \ \tilde{I}_{O_{ib}} = \sum_{k=1}^{v} W_k \otimes \tilde{I}_{O_{ib}}^{(k)} \qquad (4.1)$$
$$C_{ib} = \sum_{k=1}^{v} W_k C_{ib}^{(k)} \qquad (4.2)$$

where:

 $\tilde{P}_{R_{ib}}$, $\tilde{I}_{R_{ib}}$, $\tilde{P}_{O_{ib}}$, and $\tilde{I}_{O_{ib}}$ (i = 1, 2, ..., n; b = 1, 2, ..., g) are aggregated fuzzy numbers describing, respectively, the risk probability, risk impact, opportunity probability, and opportunity impact of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *b*th work package; W_k $(k = 1, 2, ..., v \text{ and } \sum_{k=1}^{v} W_k = 1$) is the importance weight of the kth expert; $\tilde{P}_{R_{ib}}^{(k)}$, $\tilde{I}_{R_{ib}}^{(k)}$, $\tilde{P}_{O_{ib}}^{(k)}$, and $\tilde{I}_{O_{ib}}^{(k)}$ are fuzzy numbers describing, respectively, the risk probability, risk impact, opportunity probability, and opportunity impact of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *b*th work package assessed by the *k*th expert;

 C_{ib} is the aggregated percentage of the *b*th work package cost affected by the *i*th risk and opportunity event;

 $C_{ib}^{(k)}$ is the percentage of the *b*th work package cost affected by the *i*th risk and opportunity event assessed by the *k*th expert; and

 \otimes is fuzzy multiplication, and the summation in Eq. (4.1) is carried out using fuzzy addition.

Once the aggregated probabilities $(\tilde{P}_{R_{ib}}, \tilde{P}_{O_{ib}})$ and aggregated impacts $(\tilde{I}_{R_{ib}}, \tilde{I}_{O_{ib}})$ of risk and opportunity events and the aggregated percentage of work package cost affected (C_{ib}) are obtained,

the net severity percentage of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *b*th work package (\widetilde{NS}_{ib}) is determined as follows:

$$\widetilde{NS}_{ib} = C_{ib} \otimes \left[\tilde{S}_{R_{ib}} \ominus \tilde{S}_{O_{ib}} \right] = C_{ib} \otimes \left[\left(\tilde{P}_{R_{ib}} \otimes \tilde{I}_{R_{ib}} \right) \ominus \left(\tilde{P}_{O_{ib}} \otimes \tilde{I}_{O_{ib}} \right) \right]$$
(4.3)

where:

 $\tilde{S}_{R_{ib}}$ is risk severity of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *b*th work package;

 $\tilde{S}_{O_{ib}}$ is opportunity severity of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *b*th work package; and

 \otimes and \ominus are fuzzy multiplication and fuzzy subtraction, respectively.

The overall net severity percentage of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the project (\widetilde{NS}_i) is determined by taking into account the relative weight of the work package (K_b) in terms of its share of the total project cost, as follows:

$$\widetilde{NS}_i = \sum_{b=1}^{g} K_b \otimes \widetilde{NS}_{ib}$$
(4.4)

The net severity percentage of risk and opportunity events on a work package (\widetilde{NS}_{ib}) and the overall net severity percentage of risk and opportunity events on a project (\widetilde{NS}_i) were defuzzified using the center of area (COA) method as it best represents the shape of the fuzzy number. Then, the risk and opportunity events were ranked and prioritized at a work package and project level based on their defuzzified net severity percentage (NS_{ib}^{Def}) and overall net severity percentage (NS_i^{Def}) , respectively. Finally, the most severe risk and opportunity events which need to be considered in the FSD model were determined.

4.5 FSD Model Development

In this chapter, the FSD model for risk analysis and contingency determination was developed in two stages: (1) development of the qualitative model to establish the causal interactions and feedback structures among risk and opportunity events and to define the flows and stocks and (2) development of the quantitative model to analyse the severity of prioritized risk and opportunity events on work package cost and consequently determine work package and project contingency. The steps involved in these two stages are discussed in the following subsections.

4.5.1 Constructing the Qualitative FSD Model

The first step in constructing the qualitative FSD model is determining the risk and opportunity events that need to be considered in the FSD model, which was achieved by ranking and prioritizing the risk and opportunity events as discussed in the previous section. Other key model parameters and variables, such us *forecasted total work package cost, forecasted monthly progress percentage*, and *forecasted monthly progress in dollars*, that need to be considered when formulating the model were identified. Then, the model boundary, which reflects the modeling scope, and the level of aggregation, which deals with grouping activities into subsystems (components), were established in order to achieve realistic abstraction and representation. In this chapter, risk analysis and contingency determination was carried out at the work package level. Risk and opportunity events were grouped into 11 categories, and the causal relationships among the risk and opportunity events were modeled to determine the cost contingency of each work package (subsystem). Then, the work package FSD models were aggregated to create the whole project system and determine project contingency. Figure 4.2 depicts the level of aggregation in the FSD model.



Where: Work package_b (b=1,2,..,g) is the *b*th work package in a project Risk Category_{eb} (e=1,2,..,h; b=1,2,..,g) is the *e*th risk category in the *b*th work package Re_i (e=1,2,..,h; i=1,2,..,n) is the *i*th risk and opportunity event in the *e*th risk category

Figure 4.2. Level of aggregation in the FSD model

The fundamental purpose of SD and FSD is to capture how the parts in a system interact with one another and how a change in one variable affects the other variable over time (Boateng et al. 2012; Nasirzadeh et al. 2008). Causal loop diagrams (CLDs) are employed in SD and FSD models to map interdependencies and causal structures among model variables. The literature reveals that there is a lack of structured and systematic methods for constructing CLDs to capture the causal relationships among risk and opportunity events. CLDs in SD and FSD models for risk analysis and contingency determination in construction are commonly constructed based on modellers' assumptions and experts' verification (Wang and Yuan 2017; Boateng et al. 2012) or, alternatively, the conceptual foundations of the models are borrowed from other fields and modified to make them applicable for construction projects (Nasirzadeh et al. 2008; Nasirzadeh et al. 2014).

A structured and systematic method based on fuzzy DEMATEL (decision making trial and evaluation laboratory) is proposed in this chapter to define the causal relationships among risk and opportunity events and to develop the corresponding CLDs. DEMATEL, which is based on graph and matrix theory, is a systematic and efficient method of structuring and analyzing complex cause and effect relationships among the elements of a system (Nazeri and Naderikia 2017; Jalal and Shoar 2017). The DEMATEL method has several benefits: it gathers group knowledge for capturing causal interactions among elements; it helps with the visualization of complex causal interactions through matrices and diagraphs (directed graphs); it determines the degree of causal interactions among elements; and it separates elements into cause and effect groups (Bavafa et al. 2018; Dehdasht et al. 2017). In classical DEMATEL, the causal interactions between the elements of a system are evaluated using crisp values. However, experts naturally tend to give assessments based on their experience and knowledge, and their assessments are often expressed linguistically. Therefore, DEMATEL was extended to suit fuzzy environments. The steps for determining the causal interactions among risk and opportunity events based on fuzzy DEMATEL are adopted from Seker and Zavadskas (2017), Can and Toktas (2018), and Samani and Shahbodaghlou (2012) and are described as follows.

Step 1: Design the survey form to assess the causal relationships among risk and opportunity events. The prioritized risk and opportunity events of the work packages are combined to form the final list of risk and opportunity events (i.e., to avoid repetition in the assessment) for which the causal relationships will be investigated. Then, a fuzzy DEMATEL survey form comprising a pairwise comparison matrix is created in Excel worksheet (see Appendix E). The experts assess the degree of causal influence of risk and opportunity event i (row) on risk and opportunity event j (column) using five linguistic terms (i.e., very low, low, medium, high, and very high, in addition to N/A-not applicable) that are represented by triangular fuzzy numbers, as shown in Table 4.2. The experts also define the types of causal relationships (i.e., the polarity of the causal link) between risk and

opportunity events as positive, negative, or N/A-not applicable. A positive link implies that the risk and opportunity events change in the same direction while a negative link signifies the contrary.

Linguistic terms	Triangular fuzzy number
Very low influence (VL)	$(0.00\ 0.00\ 0.25)$
Low influence (L)	(0.00 0.25 0.50)
Medium influence (M)	$(0.25\ 0.50\ 0.75)$
High influence (H)	$(0.50\ 0.75\ 1.00)$
Very high influence (VH)	(0.75 1.00 1.00)

Table 4.2. Linguistic terms and fuzzy numbers for assessing the degree of causal influence

Step 2: Obtain the initial fuzzy matrices $(\tilde{X}^{(k)})$ from experts' assessments.

The experts' pairwise assessments of the risk and opportunity events using linguistic terms are replaced with the corresponding triangular fuzzy numbers (Table 4.2). The assessment by each expert results *nxn* initial fuzzy matrix ($\tilde{X}^{(k)}$) for each work package, which is expressed as

$$\tilde{X}^{(k)} = \left[\tilde{x}_{ij}^{(k)}\right]_{nxn} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \tilde{x}_{12}^{(k)} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{1n}^{(k)} \\ \tilde{x}_{21}^{(k)} & 0 & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{2n}^{(k)} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \tilde{x}_{n1}^{(k)} & \tilde{x}_{n2}^{(k)} & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.5)

where $\tilde{x}_{ij}^{(k)}$ (i, j = 1, 2, ..., n; k = 1, 2, ..., v), defined by a triplet $(l_{ij}^{(k)}, m_{ij}^{(k)}, u_{ij}^{(k)})$, denotes the degree of causal influence of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *j*th risk and opportunity event as assessed by the *k*th expert, and when i = j, all principal diagonal elements are set to zero.

Step 3: Generate a fuzzy direct-relation matrix (\tilde{X}^{C}) .

The initial fuzzy matrices $\tilde{X}^{(1)}, \tilde{X}^{(2)}, ..., \tilde{X}^{(v)}$ of v experts are aggregated by taking into account the importance weight of each expert using Eq. (4.6), and as a result, the fuzzy direct-relation matrix (\tilde{X}^{c}) , represented by Eq. (4.7), is generated.

$$\tilde{x}_{ij}^{C} = \sum_{k=1}^{\nu} W_k \otimes \tilde{x}_{ij}^{(k)} = \sum_{k=1}^{\nu} W_k \otimes \left(l_{ij}^{(k)}, m_{ij}^{(k)}, u_{ij}^{(k)} \right)$$
(4.6)
$$\tilde{x}^{C} = \left[\tilde{x}_{ij}^{C} \right]_{nxn} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \tilde{x}_{12}^{C} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{1n}^{C} \\ \tilde{x}_{21}^{C} & 0 & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{2n}^{C} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \tilde{x}_{n1}^{C} & \tilde{x}_{n2}^{C} & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.7)

where \tilde{x}_{ij}^{C} (i, j = 1, 2, ..., n), defined by a triplet $(\bar{l}_{ij}, \bar{m}_{ij}, \bar{u}_{ij})$, denotes the aggregated degree of causal influence of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *j*th risk and opportunity event; and W_k $(k = 1, 2, ..., v \text{ and } \sum_{k=1}^{v} W_k = 1)$ is the importance weight of the *k*th expert.

Step 4: Construct the normalized fuzzy direct-relation matrix (\tilde{Z}) .

The normalized fuzzy direct-relation matrix (\tilde{Z}) is constructed by dividing the elements of the fuzzy direct-relation matrix (\tilde{X}^{C}) by the number λ as expressed in Eqs. (4.8)–(4.9). The resulting matrix is the normalized fuzzy direct-relation matrix (\tilde{Z}) , defined in Eq. (4.10).

$$\tilde{Z} = \frac{\tilde{X}^{C}}{\lambda} = \frac{\tilde{x}_{ij}^{C}}{\lambda} = \left(\frac{\bar{l}_{ij}}{\lambda}, \frac{\bar{m}_{ij}}{\lambda}, \frac{\bar{u}_{ij}}{\lambda}\right)$$
(4.8)
$$\lambda = \max_{1 \le i \le n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \bar{u}_{ij}$$
(4.9)
$$= \left[\tilde{z}_{ij}\right]_{nxn} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \tilde{z}_{12} & \cdots & \tilde{z}_{1n} \\ \tilde{z}_{21} & 0 & \cdots & \tilde{z}_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \tilde{z}_{n1} & \tilde{z}_{n2} & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.10)

where \tilde{z}_{ij} (*i*, *j* = 1, 2, ..., *n*), defined by a triplet $(l'_{ij}, m'_{ij}, u'_{ij})$, denotes the normalized degree of causal influence of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *j*th risk and opportunity event.

Step 5: Construct the fuzzy total-relation matrix (\tilde{T}) .

Ĩ

According to the classical DEMATEL method, the crisp total-relation matrix (T) can be generated by raising the crisp normalized direct-relation matrix (Z) to an infinite power, which guarantees the continuous decline of indirect influence of factor *i* on factor *j* and the convergence of the crisp total-relation matrix (T) to the inverse matrix shown in Eq. (4.11), where *I* is the identity matrix.

$$T = \lim_{m \to \infty} (Z + Z^2 + \dots + Z^m) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} Z^m = Z(I - Z)^{-1}$$
(4.11)

In order to adopt the classical DEMATEL method and construct the fuzzy total-relation matrix (\tilde{T}) , three crisp direct-relation matrices, Z_l , Z_m , and Z_u , are first extracted from the normalized fuzzy direct-relation matrix (\tilde{Z}) based on the triplets $(l'_{ij}, m'_{ij}, u'_{ij})$ of the triangular fuzzy numbers as follows:

$$Z_{l} = \begin{bmatrix} l'_{ij} \end{bmatrix}_{nxn} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & l'_{12} & \cdots & l'_{1n} \\ l'_{21} & 0 & \cdots & l'_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ l'_{n1} & l'_{n2} & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.12)
$$Z_{m} = \begin{bmatrix} m'_{ij} \end{bmatrix}_{nxn} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & m'_{12} & \cdots & m'_{1n} \\ m'_{21} & 0 & \cdots & m'_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ m'_{n1} & m'_{n2} & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.13)
$$Z_{u} = \begin{bmatrix} u'_{ij} \end{bmatrix}_{nxn} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & u'_{12} & \cdots & u'_{1n} \\ u'_{21} & 0 & \cdots & u'_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ u'_{n1} & u'_{n2} & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.14)

Then, the crisp total-relation matrices, T_l , T_m , and T_u , are determined based on the corresponding crisp direct-relation matrices, Z_l , Z_m , and Z_u , using Eq, (4.11) as follows:

$$T_{l} = \begin{bmatrix} l_{ij}^{\prime\prime} \end{bmatrix}_{nxn} = Z_{l}(I - Z_{l})^{-1}$$
(4.15)
$$T_{m} = \begin{bmatrix} m_{ij}^{\prime\prime} \end{bmatrix}_{nxn} = Z_{m}(I - Z_{m})^{-1}$$
(4.16)

$$T_u = \left[u_{ij}^{\prime\prime} \right]_{nxn} = Z_u (I - Z_u)^{-1} \qquad (4.17)$$

Finally, the fuzzy total-relation matrix (\tilde{T}) defined by Eq. (4.18) is constructed using elements of the crisp total-relation matrices T_l , T_m , and T_u as the triplets $(l_{ij}'', m_{ij}'', u_{ij}'')$ of the corresponding triangular fuzzy number in the fuzzy total-relation matrix (\tilde{T}) .

$$\tilde{T} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{t}_{ij} \end{bmatrix}_{nxn} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \tilde{t}_{12} & \cdots & \tilde{t}_{1n} \\ \tilde{t}_{21} & 0 & \cdots & t_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \tilde{t}_{n1} & \tilde{t}_{n2} & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.18)

where \tilde{t}_{ij} (*i*, *j* = 1, 2, ..., *n*), defined by a triplet $(l''_{ij}, m''_{ij}, u''_{ij})$, represents the total degree of causal influence of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *j*th risk and opportunity event and *I* is the identity matrix.

Step 6: Compute the sum of rows (\tilde{R}) and columns (\tilde{C}) from the fuzzy total-relation matrix using Eq. (4.19) and (4.20), respectively.

$$\tilde{R} = [\tilde{r}_i]_{nx1} = \left[\sum_{j=1}^n \tilde{t}_{ij}\right]_{nx1}$$
(4.19)
$$\tilde{C} = [\tilde{c}_j]_{nx1} = \left[\sum_{j=1}^n \tilde{t}_{ij}\right]_{1xn}$$
(4.20)

where \tilde{r}_i denotes the total causal influence of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on all other risk and opportunity events considered for a given work package and \tilde{c}_j shows the effect of all other risk and opportunity events on the *j*th risk and opportunity event.

Step 7: Construct the influence relation map (IRM).

The IRM of the risk and opportunity events for each work package are constructed by mapping the defuzzified values of $(\tilde{R} + \tilde{C})$ and $(\tilde{R} - \tilde{C})$. The horizontal axis $(\tilde{R} + \tilde{C})^{def}$ is referred to as

"prominence" and shows the importance degree of the risk and opportunity event (in terms of its causal relationship). Risk and opportunity events with high $(\tilde{R} + \tilde{C})^{def}$ values have more causal relations with the other risk and opportunity events. The vertical axis $(\tilde{R} - \tilde{C})^{def}$ is referred to as "relation" and divides the risk and opportunity events into cause and effect groups. When the $(\tilde{R} - \tilde{C})^{def}$ value is positive, the risk and opportunity event belongs to the cause group, and the event belongs to the effect group if the value is negative.

Step 8: Construct the CLDs from the IRMs.

First, the fuzzy total-relation matrix (\tilde{T}) is defuzzified using the COA method to determine the corresponding defuzzified total-relation matrix (T^{Def}) . The defuzzified total-relation matrix (T^{Def}) has a two fold benefit: (1) it helps to systematically determine the causal relationships among the risk and opportunity events to be considered in developing the CLDs and (2) it helps to obtain the degree of causal influence values (t_{ij}^{Def}) between two risk and opportunity events that will later be used in the quantitative FSD model. Second, a threshold value is set for the defuzzified total-relation matrix (T^{Def}) to filter out negligible causal relations among risk and opportunity events and to keep the complexity of the CLDs to a manageable level. The threshold value is commonly determined by experts through discussion, based on a certain percentile (e.g., 75th percentile) value of all elements in the T^{Def} matrix, or based on the average of all elements in the T^{Def} matrix (Si et al. 2018). Then, the IRMs of the work packages are translated to CLDs based on the defuzzified total-relation relation matrix (T^{Def}) .

After the CLDs are developed based on the proposed fuzzy DEMATEL method, the flows and stocks used in the FSD model are identified. The flows (rates) considered in the FSD model are *Risk Severity in Dollars*, *Opportunity Severity in Dollars*, and *Net Severity in Dollars* for each risk and opportunity category, work package, and project. The corresponding stocks (representing the accumulation of the severities) are *Risk Contingency in Dollars*, *Opportunity Contingency in Dollars*, and *Net Contingency in Dollars* of the risk and opportunity categories, work packages, and project. Finally, the qualitative FSD model of the project (comprising the work packages and their corresponding risk and opportunity event categories) are created using simulation software (AnyLogic[®] 8.2.3).

A wind farm construction project with three major work packages, namely civil, structural, and electrical, is used as an example to illustrate the qualitative FSD model. Figure 4.3 depicts the CLD showing the causal relationships between management risk and opportunity events and the causal effects of risk and opportunity events from other categories on management risk and opportunity events for a structural work package. The flow and stock diagrams of the management risk and opportunity event category, a structural work package, and the wind farm project are shown in Figures 4.4–4.6, respectively.



Figure 4.3. Causal loop diagram of the management risk and opportunity event category for structural work package



Figure 4.4. Flow and stock diagram of the management risk and opportunity event category for structural work package







Figure 4.6. Flow and stock diagram of the wind farm project

4.5.2 Constructing the Quantitative FSD Model

The causal relationships in the CLDs as well as the flows and stocks in the qualitative model need to be formulated to develop the quantitative FSD model and simulate it. The quantitative FSD model determines work package and project cost contingency by analyzing the severity of interrelated risks and opportunity events on the work packages. Schedule, quality, and health and safety risk and opportunity events are accounted for in the FSD model and monetized based on their severity on work package costs. However, the time contingency that should be added to the project duration is not accounted for. The mathematical procedure used in the FSD model to determine the work package and project contingency are described as follows.

Step 1: Identify the FSD model parameters and variables as objective and subjective (fuzzy) variables.

First, the parameters and variables involved in the FSD model are identified as objective and subjective (fuzzy) variables based on the adopted scales of measure. Objective variables have quantitative metrics and are readily quantifiable. They are defined by crisp numbers or probability distributions to capture randomness (probabilistic uncertainties). In the FSD model, objective variables (e.g., *forecasted monthly progress percentage* (A_b), *forecasted total work package cost* (D_b), and *forecasted monthly progress in dollars* (F_b)) of the *b*th work package are quantified using crisp numbers. Subjective (fuzzy) variables are defined by membership functions to capture the subjective uncertainties resulting from linguistic approximation. Since the probability and impact of the risk and opportunity events are assessed using linguistic scales represented by triangular and trapezoidal fuzzy numbers, the risk and opportunity events are considered as subjective (fuzzy) variables in the FSD model and they are represented by fuzzy arrays. Using arrays allow to store multi-dimensional data to a given system variable. Arrays can have any number of dimensions, and

each dimension has a finite number of indices (subscripts). In other words, the use of an array with two dimensions is similar to the representation of a given system variable by a matrix. A fuzzy array representing a given risk and opportunity event in a work package (\tilde{R}_{ib}) is defined with two dimensions: risk and opportunity event attributes ($\tilde{P}_{R_{ib}}$, $\tilde{I}_{R_{ib}}$, $\tilde{P}_{O_{ib}}$, $\tilde{I}_{O_{ib}}$, $\tilde{S}_{O_{ib}}$, C_{ib} , t_{ij}^{Def}) and their respective fuzzy membership function parameters (l_{ib} , m_{1ib} , m_{2ib} , u_{ib}) as expressed in Eq. (4.21). The advantage of using an array is that it can represent large number of fuzzy variables with several attributes (dimensions) while keeping the FSD model compact and efficient. If each element of the attributes were represented as a variable instead of using arrays, the model would be complicated and would become more difficult to understand as the number of variables increased, consequently increasing the simulation run time.

$$\tilde{R}_{ib} = \begin{bmatrix} l_{ib} & m_{1ib} & m_{2ib} & u_{ib} \\ \tilde{P}_{R_{ib}} & 0.18 & 0.35 & 0.40 & 0.64 \\ \tilde{I}_{R_{ib}} & 0.06 & 0.25 & 0.44 & 0.69 \\ \tilde{S}_{R_{ib}} & 0.01 & 0.09 & 0.18 & 0.44 \\ 0.06 & 0.21 & 0.21 & 0.26 \\ 0.00 & 0.07 & 0.13 & 0.19 \\ \tilde{S}_{O_{ib}} & 0.00 & 0.01 & 0.03 & 0.04 \\ \tilde{S}_{O_{ib}} & 0.20 & 0.20 & 0.20 \\ \tilde{L}_{ij}^{Def} & 0.08 & 0.08 & 0.08 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.21)

Step 2: Define the relationships between risk and opportunity events and calculate the values of the risk and opportunity event attributes (i.e., risk probability, opportunity probability, risk severity and opportunity severity).

A fuzzy weighted average, which considers the degree of causal influence (t_{ij}^{Def}) between the risk and opportunity events obtained from the fuzzy DEMATEL method, is used to define the causal relationships between the risk and opportunity events (Kwan and Leung 2011; Tah and McCaffer 1993). In a causal relationship between risk and opportunity events, the occurrence of predecessor risk and opportunity events has an effect on both the risk probability and the opportunity probability of the posterior risk and opportunity events. If the causal link between the predecessor and posterior risk and opportunity events is positive, an increase/decrease in the probability of occurrence of the predecessor risk and opportunity event results in an increase/decrease of the probability of occurrence of the posterior risk and opportunity event. The opposite is true if the causal link is negative between the predecessor and posterior risk and opportunity and impact fuzzy numbers determined in the risk assessment and prioritization stage are used as the initial probability and impact values of the risk and opportunity probability ($\tilde{P}^*_{R_{jb}}$) and weighted opportunity probability ($\tilde{P}^*_{O_{jb}}$), reflecting the effect of the predecessor risk and opportunity events on the posterior risk and opportunity event, are obtained at each time step in the FSD model using Eq. (4.22).

$$\tilde{P}_{R_{jb}}^{*} = \frac{\tilde{P}_{R_{jb}} \bigoplus \sum_{i=1}^{n} t_{(ij)b}^{Def} \otimes \tilde{P}_{R_{ib}}}{1.0 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} t_{(ij)b}^{Def}}; \quad \tilde{P}_{O_{jb}}^{*} = \frac{\tilde{P}_{O_{jb}} \bigoplus \sum_{i=1}^{n} t_{(ij)b}^{Def} \otimes \tilde{P}_{O_{ib}}}{1.0 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} t_{(ij)b}^{Def}} \quad (4.22)$$

Where:

 $\tilde{P}_{R_{jb}}^{*}$ and $\tilde{P}_{O_{jb}}^{*}$ are the weighted risk probability and weighted opportunity probability, respectively, of the *j*th posterior risk and opportunity event affected by the *i*th predecessor risk and opportunity events in the *b*th work package;

 $\tilde{P}_{R_{jb}}$ and $\tilde{P}_{O_{jb}}$ are the initial aggregated risk probability and opportunity probability, respectively, of the *j*th posterior risk and opportunity event in the *b*th work package; $\tilde{P}_{R_{ib}}$ and $\tilde{P}_{O_{ib}}$ are the initial aggregated risk probability and opportunity probability, respectively, of the *i*th predecessor risk and opportunity event in the *b*th work package; $t_{(ij)b}^{Def}$ is the degree of causal influence of the *i*th predecessor risk and opportunity events on the *j*th posterior risk and opportunity event in the *b*th work package; and

 \oplus and \otimes are fuzzy addition and fuzzy multiplication, respectively.

The corresponding weighted risk severity $(\tilde{S}_{R_{jb}}^*)$ and weighted opportunity severity $(\tilde{S}_{O_{jb}}^*)$ are determined by multiplying $\tilde{P}_{R_{jb}}^*$ and $\tilde{P}_{O_{jb}}^*$ with $\tilde{I}_{R_{jb}}$ and $\tilde{I}_{O_{jb}}$, respectively. Thus, the posterior risk and opportunity event affected by the predecessors is described by the risk and opportunity event attributes $(\tilde{P}_{R_{jb}}^*, \tilde{I}_{R_{jb}}, \tilde{S}_{R_{jb}}^*, \tilde{P}_{O_{jb}}^*, \tilde{I}_{O_{jb}}, \tilde{S}_{O_{jb}}^*, C_{jb}, t_{(ij)b}^{Def})$ and their respective membership function parameters $(l_{jb}^*, m_{1jb}^*, m_{2jb}^*, l_{jb}^*)$ at each time step.

Step 3: Calculate the values of flow and stock variables at the risk and opportunity event category, work package, and project level.

The forecasted monthly progress in dollars (F_b), which is the product of the forecasted monthly progress percentage (A_b) and the forecasted total work package cost (D_b), is multiplied by the affected percentage of the work package cost (C_{ib}) and the weighted risk severity ($\tilde{S}_{R_{ib}}^*$) to determine the risk severity in dollars of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *b*th work package. The opportunity severity in dollars is determined in a similar fashion using the weighted opportunity severity (\tilde{S}_{0tb}^*). The net severity in dollars is determined for each risk and opportunity event by subtracting its opportunity severity in dollars from its risk severity in dollars. Then, the values of the flow variables (i.e., *Risk Severity in Dollars* (\overline{RSD}), *Opportunity Severity in Dollars* (\overline{OSD}), and *Net Severity in Dollars* (\overline{NSD})) for each risk and opportunity event category, work package, and project, are determined at each time step (monthly) using Eqs. (4.23)–(4.31), as provided in Table 4.3. The accumulations of each of the flow variables result the corresponding contingency values of the stock variables at each time step, namely *Risk Contingency in Dollars* (\overline{RCD}), *Opportunity Contingency in Dollars* (\overline{OCD}), and *Net Contingency in Dollars* (\overline{NCD}), as defined in Eqs. (4.32)–(4.40) in Table 4.3. The time plots of the contingency values will result in contingency accumulation curves as the forecasted monthly progress percentage (A_b) is used in determining the risk and opportunity severities at each time step. The corresponding contingency depletion curves for the work packages and the project can be constructed from the contingency accumulation curves, as described in the next chapter (Section 5.5).

Level of	Flow variables		Stock variables	
aggregation	Description	Equation	Description	Equation
Risk and opportunity event category $(1 \le e \le h)$	Risk severity in dollars $(\widehat{RSD}_{eb}^{RC})$	$\widetilde{RSD}_{eb}^{RC} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} C_{ib} F_b \otimes \tilde{S}_{R_{ib}}^* $ (4.23)	Risk contingency in dollars $(\widehat{RCD}_{eb}^{RC})$	$\widetilde{RCD}_{eb}^{RC} = \int_{t_0}^{t} \widetilde{RSD}_{eb}^{RC}(t) dt (4.32)$
	Opportunity severity in dollars $(\widetilde{OSD}_{eb}^{RC})$	$\widetilde{OSD}_{eb}^{RC} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} C_{ib} F_b \otimes \tilde{S}_{O_{ib}}^* (4.24)$	Opportunity contingency in dollars $(\widehat{OCD}_{eb}^{RC})$	$\widetilde{OCD}_{eb}^{RC} = \int_{t_0}^t \widetilde{OSD}_{eb}^{RC}(t) dt (4.33)$
	Net severity in dollars $(\widehat{NSD}_{eb}^{RC})$	$\widetilde{NSD}_{eb}^{RC} = \widetilde{RSD}_{eb}^{RC} \ominus \widetilde{OSD}_{eb}^{RC} $ (4.25)	Net contingency in dollars $(\widetilde{NCD}_{eb}^{RC})$	$\widetilde{NCD}_{eb}^{RC} = \int_{t_0}^t \widetilde{NSD}_{eb}^{RC}(t) dt (4.34)$
Work package $(1 \le b \le g)$	Risk severity in dollars (\widehat{RSD}_{b}^{WP})	$\widetilde{RSD}_{b}^{WP} = \sum_{e=1}^{h} \widetilde{RSD}_{eb}^{RC} (4.26)$	Risk contingency in dollars (\widehat{RCD}_{b}^{WP})	$\widetilde{RCD}_{b}^{WP} = \int_{t_{0}}^{t} \widetilde{RSD}_{b}^{WP}(t) dt \ (4.35)$
	Opportunity severity in dollars $(\widetilde{OSD}_{b}^{WP})$	$\widetilde{OSD}_{b}^{WP} = \sum_{e=1}^{h} \widetilde{OSD}_{eb}^{RC} (4.27)$	Opportunity contingency in dollars (\widehat{RCD}_b^{WP})	$\widetilde{OCD}_{b}^{WP} = \int_{t_{0}}^{t} \widetilde{OSD}_{b}^{WP}(t) dt \ (4.36)$
	Net severity in dollars (\widehat{NSD}_{b}^{WP})	$\widetilde{NSD}_{b}^{WP} = \widetilde{RSD}_{b}^{WP} \ominus \widetilde{OSD}_{b}^{WP} $ (4.28)	Net contingency in dollars $(\widetilde{NCD}_{b}^{WP})$	$\widetilde{NCD}_{b}^{WP} = \int_{t_{0}}^{t} \widetilde{NSD}_{b}^{WP}(t) dt(4.37)$
Project	Risk severity in dollars (\widehat{RSD}^{PR})	$\widetilde{RSD}^{PR} = \sum_{b=1}^{g} \widetilde{RSD}_{b}^{WP} (4.29)$	Risk contingency in dollars (\widehat{RCD}^{PR})	$\widetilde{RCD}^{PR} = \int_{t_0}^t \widetilde{RSD}^{PR}(t) dt (4.38)$
	Opportunity severity in dollars (\widehat{OSD}^{PR})	$\widetilde{OSD}^{PR} = \sum_{b=1}^{g} \widetilde{OSD}_{b}^{WP} (4.30)$	Opportunity contingency in dollars (\widetilde{OCD}^{PR})	$\widetilde{OCD}^{PR} = \int_{t_0}^t \widetilde{OSD}^{PR}(t) dt (4.39)$
	Net severity in dollars of (\widehat{NSD}^{PR})	$\widetilde{NSD}^{PR} = \widetilde{RSD}^{PR} \ominus \widetilde{OSD}^{PR} $ (4.31)	Net contingency in dollars (\widetilde{NCD}^{PR})	$\widetilde{NCD}^{PR} = \int_{t_0}^t \widetilde{NSD}^{PR}(t) dt \ (4.40)$

Table 4.3. Mathematical equations of flow and stock variables in FSD

Where:

 C_{ib} is the percentage of the *b*th work package cost affected by the *i*th risk and opportunity event;

 $F_b(F_b = A_b D_b)$ is the forecasted monthly progress in dollars of the *b*th work package, which is the product of the forecasted monthly progress percentage (A_b) and the forecasted total work package $cost(D_b)$ at each time step; and

 \otimes and \ominus are fuzzy multiplication and fuzzy subtraction, respectively.

The summations in the equations are carried out using fuzzy addition.

4.6 Dynamic Simulation of the FSD Model and Output Determination

Having constructed the quantitative FSD model, the cumulative and concurrent impact of risk and opportunity events on work packages and project cost were quantified by simulating the quantitative model over the total project duration. Fuzzy arithmetic was utilized in the FSD model instead of classical arithmetic to carry out the algebraic operations whenever a fuzzy variable is involved in a given mathematical expression. The type of fuzzy arithmetic and output determination methods used in the FSD model are discussed in the following section.

4.7 Fuzzy Arithmetic and Output Determination Methods

The type of fuzzy arithmetic method used and the choice of fuzzy operators, such as *t*-norm, have a considerable effect on the output of the FSD model. Basically, there are two methods of carrying out fuzzy arithmetic operations in the FSD model: the alpha-cut (α -cut) method and the extension principle, based on *t*-norms. The α -cut method applies interval arithmetic to each α -cut level of any two fuzzy numbers, at any level $\alpha \in (0,1]$ (Eq. 4.41), and takes the union of the results to determine an output fuzzy number based on the representation theorem (Eq. 4.42) (Pedrycz and Gomide, 2007).

$$(A * B)_{\alpha} = A_{\alpha} * B_{\alpha} \qquad (4.41)$$

$$A * B = \bigcup_{\alpha \in [0,1]} (A * B)_{\alpha} \qquad (4.42)$$

where *A* and *B* are two fuzzy numbers, * is any of the four basic arithmetic operations and when * is a division operation, it is that that $0 \notin B_{\alpha}, \forall \alpha \in (0,1]$.

The α -cut method is the most commonly used arithmetic method in FSD models. However, the α -cut method is based on interval arithmetic, which can lead to the phenomenon of accumulating fuzziness (due to growth of the support) and the overestimation of uncertainty in the model (Chang et al., 2006). On the other hand, the extension principle performs a point-wise calculation between the elements of the input fuzzy numbers and calculates the membership degree of the output points of the final fuzzy number by taking the supremum of the *t*-norms of the membership degrees of the input points as shown in Eq. (4.43) (Pedrycz and Gomide 2007).

$$(A * B)(z) = \sup_{z=x*y} [A(x) t B(y)] \quad \forall \in \mathbf{R}$$
 (4.43)

where t stands for a t-norm, which is a binary operation on the unit interval [0,1] that is commutative, associative, and monotonic and t(0, x) = 0 and t(1, x) = 1 for every $x \in [0,1]$. The most widely used basic t-norms are: minimum t-norm (t_{min}) , product t-norm (t_{prod}) , Lukasiewicz (bounded difference) t-norm (t_{Luk}) , and drastic t-norm (t_d) . The minimum t-norm and drastic tnorm are the strongest and weakest t-norms, respectively as indicated in Eq. (4.44).

$$t_d(A * B) \le t(A * B)(z) \le t_{min}(A * B)$$
 (4.44)

The minimum *t*-norm gives the same result as the α -cut method. Moreover, the support of the fuzzy numbers obtained by using the minimum *t*-norm and the product *t*-norm are the same. Hence, the accumulations of fuzziness due to the minimum *t*-norm and the product *t*-norm are similar to the α -cut method (Gerami Seresht and Fayek 2018). The drastic *t*-norm, defined by Eq. (4.45), reduce the growth of fuzziness and the overestimation of uncertainty during calculations (Chang et al. 2006; Lin et al. 2011; Gerami Seresht and Fayek 2018). A more detailed discussion on fuzzy arithmetic can be found in Hanss (2005) and Pedrycz and Gomide (2007).

$$t_{d}(x,y) = \begin{cases} x, & if \ y = 1 \\ y, & if \ x = 1 \\ 0, & otherwise \end{cases}$$
(4.45)

The literature shows that there is a lack of research on the implementation of fuzzy arithmetic by the extension principle method in FSD models for risk analysis and contingency determination. Recently, Gerami Seresht and Fayek (2018) explored the implementation of fuzzy arithmetic operations by both the α -cut and extension principle methods in an FSD model to determine the multi-factor productivity of equipment intensive activities. However, the fuzzy arithmetic approach they used is applicable only to triangular fuzzy numbers. In this research, the α -cut method and the drastic *t*-norm were implemented to carry out fuzzy arithmetic operations involving both triangular and trapezoidal fuzzy numbers in the FSD model.

In order to carry out fuzzy arithmetic based on the extension principle, continuous membership functions of fuzzy numbers need to be discretized into a finite number of points to obtain the corresponding fuzzy sets. Discretization can be achieved using a vertical or horizontal method, which subdivide the universe of discourse (*x*-axis) and the membership degree (*y*-axis), respectively into intervals of definite length (Hanss 2005). The vertical discretization method is straightforward and simple to implement. However, this method does not guarantee the inclusion of modal and boundary values of fuzzy numbers in the discretized sets for arbitrarily chosen intervals. In addition, it is difficult to maintain reasonable and consistent discretization intervals for fuzzy numbers with different dimensions (Hanss 2005). The horizontal method effectively addresses the problems of the vertical method as discretization in the horizontal method is done on the range of membership degrees, which is always equal to the closed interval [0, 1] (Hanss

2005). Thus, a horizontal discretization method proposed by Hanss (2005) was adopted in the FSD model to implement fuzzy arithmetic based on the drastic *t*-norm.

The final output (fuzzy numbers) of the FSD model that represents the work package and project contingency values in terms of cost can be represented as: (1) a single crisp value using different defuzzification methods, such as the center of area (COA), smallest of maxima (SOM), middle of maxima (MOM), and largest of maxima (LOM) or (2) an interval value using a selected α -cut level representing a specific possibility degree associated with a specific confidence level (1 – α) (Mauris et al. 2001; Elbarkouky et al. 2016). Both methods were implemented in this research and the results were compared.

A fuzzy arithmetic library was developed using the Java programing language (complied as a JAR file) and imported to the quantitative FSD model in AnyLogic[®] for performing fuzzy arithmetic operations using the α -cut method and the drastic *t*-norm as well as for determining contingency values using defuzzification methods and confidence levels. At each time step, equations involving fuzzy variable are computed in the fuzzy arithmetic library based on the arithmetic method selected, and the corresponding output fuzzy numbers or defuzzified values are obtained (Figure 4.7). The steps in incorporating fuzzy arithmetic to SD model in AnyLogic[®] are as follows. First, the JAR file is imported to the AnyLogic[®] model at the top-level in the model tree (e.g., wind farm project). Second, the required classes of the JAR file, such as fuzzy arithmetic method and defuzzification method, are imported to the sub-models (e.g., civil, structural, and electrical work package). Third, methods in the classes of the JAR file (e.g., multiplication of two fuzzy numbers based on α -cut method or the drastic *t*-norm) are referenced in the model variables for solving equations involving fuzzy variables at each time step. Fourth, input values of variables

(fuzzy parameters) in model equations are declared. Fifth, the referenced methods in the JAR file and input values of the variables are sent to the JAR library, and the equations are computed at each time step. Sixth, the output values are obtained from the JAR library as fuzzy numbers and stored in a selected data set at each time step or used as an input to model equations in the next time step. Finally, the time plots of the variables, flows, and stocks can be created using the fuzzy parameters or the defuzzified crisp values based on the selected defuzzification method.



Output values of variables, flows, and stocks

Figure 4.7. FSD model architecture

4.8 Chapter Summary

This chapter presented a methodology for developing hybrid FSD model to analyze the severity of dynamic and interacting risk and opportunity events on work package costs and determine work package and project contingencies. A comprehensive literature review was conducted to identify risk and opportunity events to be considered in the FSD model. Linguistic scales, represented by triangular or trapezoidal fuzzy numbers, were adopted to allow experts to use natural language to assess the probability and impact of risk and opportunity events and to evaluate the degree of causal

interactions among risk and opportunity events. The expertise level of the experts in risk management was assessed in terms of certain qualification attributes and importance weights of the experts were considered in combining experts' evaluations. A systematic and structured method based on fuzzy DEMATEL was employed to construct the CLDs in the qualitative model development stage. Fuzzy arithmetic based on α -cut method and drastic *t*-norm was utilized to solve the mathematical equations in FSD model. Different defuzzification methods and confidence levels were applied to transform contingency fuzzy numbers into a crisp and interval values, respectively.

The main contributions of this chapter can be grouped into three areas. First, the chapter provides a systematic risk assessment and prioritization procedure, which uses linguistic scales represented by fuzzy numbers to assess probability and impact of risk and opportunity events. The proposed risk assessment and prioritization procedure incorporates opportunity in the assessment and allows risk assessment at the work package level. Moreover, it accounts for differing levels of expertise in risk management based on a comprehensive set of expert qualification attributes. Second, the chapter provides a hybrid FSD modeling approach that considers the dynamic causal interactions and dependencies between risk and opportunity events and quantify their severity on work package and project cost contingency. Third, it contributes to the advancement of the state of the art in FSD modeling for risk analysis and contingency determination by (i) providing a structured and systematic method that uses linguistic terms for constructing CLDs; (ii) providing a method for handling subjective uncertainty in FSD; and (iii) implementing fuzzy arithmetic methods (α-cut method and drastic *t*-norm) in FSD to carry out algebraic operations in mathematical equations involving fuzzy variables. The next chapter presents the application of the proposed modelling methodology to develop FSD model for determining the work package and project
contingencies of the construction of a wind farm power generation project and the FSD model validation process.

4.9 References

- Bavafa, A., Mahdiyayar, A., and Marsono, A.K. (2018). "Identifying and assessing the critical factors for effective implementation of safety programs in construction projects." *Safety Sci.*, 106, 47–56.
- Boateng, P., Chen, Z., Ogunlana, S., and Ikediashi, D. (2012). "A system dynamics approach to risks description in megaprojects development." *Organization, Technology, and Management in Construction: an International Journal*, 4(3), 593–603.
- Chang, P., Pai, P., Lin, K., and Wu, M. (2006). "Applying fuzzy arithmetic to the system dynamics for the customer–producer–employment model." *Int. J. Syst. Sci.*, 37(10), 673–698.
- CII (Construction Industry Institute). (2012). "Applying probabilistic risk management in design and construction projects." Univ. of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX.
- Coyle, G. (2000). "Qualitative and quantitative modelling in system dynamics: Some research questions." *Sys. Dyn. Rev.*, 16(3), 225–244.
- Dehdasht, G., Zin, R.M., Ferwati, M.S., Abdullahi, M.M., Keyvanfar, A., and McCaffer, R. (2018). "DEMATEL-ANP risk assessment in oil and gas construction projects." *Sustainability*, 9, 1420-1–1420-24.
- Elbarkouky, M.M.G., Fayek, A. Robinson, Siraj, N.B., and Sadeghi, N. (2016). "Fuzzy arithmetic risk analysis approach to determine construction project contingency." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 142(12), 1–11.
- Hanss, M. (2005). Applied fuzzy arithmetic an introduction with engineering applications, Springer, Berlin.

- Jalal, M.P., and Shoar, S. (2017). "A hybrid SD-DEMATEL approach to develop a delay model for construction projects" *Eng. Constr. Archit. Manage.*, 24(4), 629–651.
- Kwan, T. W., and Leung, H. K. N. (2011). "A risk management methodology for project risk dependencies." *IEEE T. Software Eng.*, 37(5), 635–648.
- Lin, K.P., Wu, M.J., Hung, K.C., and Kuo, Y. (2011). "Developing the weakest *t*-norm fuzzy GERT for evaluating uncertain process reliability in semiconductor manufacturing." *Appl. Soft Comput.*, 11(8), 5165–5180.
- Lin, Z., and Jianping, Y. (2011). "Risk assessment based on fuzzy network (F-ANP) in new campus construction project." *Syst. Eng. Proc.*, 1, 162–168.
- Mauris, G., Lasserre, V., and Foulloy, L. (2001). "A fuzzy approach for the expression of uncertainty in measurement." *Measurement.*, 29(3), 165–177.
- Monzer, N., Fayek, A. Robinson, Lourenzutti, R., and Siraj, N.B. (2019). "Aggregation-based framework for construction risk assessment with heterogeneous group of experts." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 145(3), 04019003-1–04019003-10.
- Nasirzadeh, F., Afshar, A., Khanzadi, M., and Howick, S. (2008). "Integrating system dynamics and fuzzy logic modelling for construction risk management." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 26, 1197–1212.
- Nasirzadeh, F., Khanzadi, M., and Rezaie, M. (2014). "Dynamic modeling of the quantitative risk allocation in construction projects." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 32, 442–451.
- Nazeri, A., and Naderikia, R. (2017). "A new fuzzy approach to identify the critical risk factors in maintenance management." *Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol.*, 92, 3749–3783.

- Raoufi, M., Seresht, N. G., Siraj, N.B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2018). "Fuzzy simulation techniques in construction engineering and management." Fuzzy Hybrid Computing in Construction Engineering and Management: Theory and Applications edited by Fayek, A. Robinson, 149–178. Emerald Publishing Limited, UK.
- Samani, B. A., and Shahbodaghlou, F. (2015). "A fuzzy systematic approach to construction risk analysis." *Journal of Risk Analysis and crisis Response*, 2(4), 275–284.
- Seker, S., and Zavadskas, E.K. (2017). "Application of Fuzzy DEMATEL method for analyzing occupational risks on construction sites." *Sustainability*, 9, 2083-1–1420-19.
- Seresht, N.G., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2018). "Dynamic modeling of multifactor construction productivity for equipment-intensive activities." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 144(9), 04018091-1–04018091-15.
- Siraj, N.B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2019). "Risk identification and common risks in construction: Literature review and content analysis." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 145(9), 03119004-1–03119004-13.
- Siraj, N.B., Fayek, A. Robinson, and Elbarkouky, M. M. G. (2018). "Fuzzy consensus and fuzzy aggregation processes for multi-criteria group decision-making problems in construction engineering and management." Fuzzy Hybrid Computing in Construction Engineering and Management: Theory and Applications edited by Fayek, A. Robinson, 229–275. Emerald Publishing Limited, UK.
- Sterman, J.D. (2000). Business Dynamics: System Thinking and Modeling for a Complex World, McGraw-Hill Companies, New York, NY.

- Tah, J. H. M., and McCaffer, R. (1993). "Contractor project risks contingency allocation using linguistic approximation." *Comput. Syst. Eng.*, 4(2–3), 04017084-1–04017084-11.
- Wang, J., and Yuan, H. (2017). "System dynamics approach for investigating the risk effects on schedule delay in infrastructure projects." J. Manage. Eng., 33(1), 04016029-1–04016029-13.
- Wang, S. Q., Dulaimi, M. F., and Aguria, M. Y. (2004). "Risk management framework for construction projects in developing countries." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 22, 237–252.

Chapter 5 Construction Application and Model Validation: Case Study⁵

5.1 Introduction

In this chapter, the modeling approach proposed in Chapter 4 was applied to develop an FSD model for analyzing risk and opportunity events and determining contingency on the construction of 99megawatt (MW) wind farm power generation project in North Dakota. The forecasted total project cost was approximately \$145 (USD) million and the planned project duration was 12 months. The project involved eight construction work packages ranging in cost from approximately \$900,000 to \$84 million. The construction work packages were grouped into three main project work packages: civil, structural, and electrical.

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows. First, the risk identification, assessment, and prioritization procedures are described and the results are presented. Second, the steps involved in developing the qualitative FSD model for the wind farm project is explained and the CLDs and flow and stock diagrams of selected work package and the project are presented. Third, the mathematical procedure in developing the quantitative FSD model is explained and the results of the dynamic simulation of the model based on α -cut method and drastic *t*-norm are presented and discussed. Finally, the validation process of the FSD model is presented.

⁵ Parts of this chapter have been submitted for publication in the *Automation in Construction*: Siraj, N. B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2019). "Hybrid fuzzy system dynamics model for analyzing the impacts of interrelated risk and opportunity events on project contingency." *Automat. Constr.*, 70 manuscript pages, submitted July 9, 2019.

5.2 Identification, Assessment, and Prioritization of Risk and Opportunity Events

A heterogeneous group consisting of four experts (E_1 , E_2 , E_3 , and E_4) who were directly involved in the project was formed. The experts were selected based on their involvement in the case study project, their total years of experience, their years of experience in risk management, and the number of similar projects they had been involved in. All the experts were members of the project team and had been involved in more than five similar projects of comparable scale. They had an average of 23 total years of experience in construction and an average of 12 years of experience specifically in risk management. The expertise levels of the experts in risk management were assessed based on qualitative and quantitative qualification attributes, as shown in Appendix B. Then, the importance weights (W_k) of the four experts (W_1 , W_2 , W_3 , and W_4) were calculated using the FAHP weight assigning method proposed by Monzer et al. (2019). The importance weights of the four experts were 0.25, 0.27, 0.22, and 0.26, respectively. The importance weights of the experts are relative weights and when added together should be equal to 1 ($\sum_{k=1}^{p} W_k = 1$). This ensures that the opinions of the experts with higher importance weights have more influence in the collective assessment of the experts.

The applicability of the identified risk and opportunity events and their categorizations for the construction of the wind farm project under consideration were verified by the group of experts. Based on the opinions of the experts, new risk and opportunity events that were not included in the list were added, the descriptions of some of the risk and opportunity events were revised, and risk and opportunity events that were not relevant to the project under investigation were omitted. Consequently, the final number of risk and opportunity events was reduced to 140. The experts assessed the level of complexity of the project with respect to the number of work packages involved and the over all complexity of the project on a scale of 1–5, where 1 = 1 ow, 2 = somewhat low, 3 = average, 4 = somewhat high, and 5 = High (see Appendix C). The aggregated result of the experts' assessments, which took into account the importance weight of the experts (W_k), revealed that the project had an average (2.77) level of complexity with respect to the number of work packages involved and an average (2.77) overall complexity. A similar scale was used to assess the complexity and criticality of the work packages based on the descriptions (factors) provided in Appendix C. The aggregated assessment of the work packages are presented in Table 5.1.

	Complexity and criticality rating of the work packages				
Description	Civil work	Structural work	Electrical work		
	package	package	package		
1. Complexity of the work					
package with respect to:					
1.1 Number of activities involved	Average (2.77)	Average (3.23)	Somewhat high (4.01)		
1.2 Work scope	Average (2.73)	Average (3.23)	Average (3.49)		
1.3 Construction methods	Somewhat low (2.25)	Average (3.25)	Average (3.27)		
1.4 Constructability	Somewhat low (2.26)	Average (3.00)	Average (3.03)		
2. Criticality of the work package in terms of:					
2.1 Its share of the total project cost	Average (3.26)	Average (3.27)	Somewhat high (3.73)		
2.2 Its share of the total project	Somewhat high	Somewhat high	Somewhat high		
contingency	(3.75)	(3.52)	(3.52)		
2.3 Its proneness to several risks	Average (3.26)	Somewhat high (4.27)	Somewhat high (3.56)		

Table 5.1. Complexity and criticality of the work packages

The experts assessed the probability of occurrence of the risk and opportunity events and their respective impacts on civil, structural, and electrical work packages using the linguistic terms and their associated fuzzy numbers presented in Table 5.2. The linguistic terms and their respective fuzzy numbers used to assess risk probability, risk impact, opportunity probability, and opportunity impact were adopted from Elbarkouky et al. (2016). The fuzzy numbers, which represent the linguistic terms, were generated using the modified horizontal approach coupled with curve fitting (Elbarkouky et al. 2016). The experts also determined the percentage of the work packages' costs impacted by each risk and opportunity event (see Appendix D). The experts' risk probability $(\tilde{P}_{R_{ib}}^{(k)})$, risk impact $(\tilde{I}_{R_{ib}}^{(k)})$, opportunity probability $(\tilde{P}_{O_{ib}}^{(k)})$, and opportunity impact $(\tilde{I}_{O_{ib}}^{(k)})$ assessments and the percentage of the work packages' costs impacted $(C_{ib}^{(k)})$ by each risk and opportunity event were aggregated using Eq. (4.1) and Eq. (4.2), respectively, resulting in the corresponding aggregated $\tilde{P}_{R_{ib}}, \tilde{I}_{R_{ib}}, \tilde{P}_{O_{ib}}, \tilde{I}_{O_{ib}}$ (fuzzy numbers), and C_{ib} (crisp value). The importance weights of the experts (W_k) were taken into account when aggregating the experts' assessments in Eq. (4.1) and Eq. (4.2). The net severity percentage (\widetilde{NS}_{ib}) of each of the risk and opportunity events for the three work packages were calculated using Eq. (4.3) and defuzzified using the COA method to obtain the defuzzified net severity percentage $(\widetilde{NS}_{ib}^{Def})$. Then, the risk and opportunity events were ordered based on NS_{ib}^{Def} from largest to smallest, and the risk and opportunity events to be considered in the FSD model were chosen based on the 75th percentile. As a result, 35 risk and opportunity events were selected for each work package. The prioritized list of risk and opportunity events for a civil work package along with their respective risk and opportunity event categories, NS_{ib}^{Def} , and rankings are presented in Table 5.3 as an example. Most of the identified risk and opportunity events have a negative effect (i.e., risks) on work package costs; only a few have a positive effect (i.e., opportunity). Risk and opportunity events that can be handled by management reserve, for example, R10_2 (force majeure, i.e., natural and man-made disasters that are beyond the control of the firm doing the risk analysis), are included in the FSD model, as the risk analysis is done from the project owner's perspective. The prioritized lists of risk and opportunity events for the structural and electrical work packages are provided in Appendix F and Appendix G, respectively.

Linguistic	Fuzzy Number						
term	Risk probability	Risk impact	Opportunity probability	Opportunity Impact			
Very low	(0.00 0.00 27.50)	(0.00 0.00 20.83)	(0.00 0.00 20.83)	(0.00 0.00 20.83)			
Low	(0.00 23.53 45.00)	(0.00 9.66 45.35)	(0.00 12.30 38.42)	(0.00 5.03 60.74)			
Medium	(21.11 37.78 55.00 80.00)	(4.46 16.09 41.27 55.35)	(11.63 30.65 40.13 84.91)	(0.00 26.61 48.50 71.55)			
High	(49.36 75.00 97.73)	(12.47 50.99 111.10)	(21.88 79.98 97.46)	(5.29 64.14 92.03)			
Very high	(65.79 100.00 100.00)	(44.51 200.00 200.00)	(64.58 97.55 100.00 100.00)	(63.20 100.00 100.00)			

 Table 5.2. Linguistic terms and fuzzy numbers for assessing the probability and impact of risk and opportunity events (Elbarkouky et al. 2016)

Risk ID	Description of risk and opportunity event	Risk and opportunity	Net severity percentage $(\widetilde{NS}_{i1}^{Def})$	Rank
R3 1	Delays and interruptions causing a cost	Construction	3.55	1
_	increase to the work package/project			
R10_1	Adverse weather conditions (continuous rainfall, snow, temperature, wind)	Environmental	1.29	2
R7 5	Change in tax regulation	Economic and financial	1.22	3
R3 9	Strict quality requirements	Construction	1.17	4
R1 4	Poor project quality management	Management	1.14	5
_	including inadequate quality planning,	-		
R3 8	Pressure to deliver project on an	Construction	1.07	6
_	accelerated schedule			
R5_10	Finding historical objects during the	Site conditions	1.07	6
	excavation process			_
R1_3	Poor site management and supervision by the contractor	Management	1.02	8
R4_1_5	Higher workforce attrition rates	Resource-related	0.87	9
R11_1	Accidents occurring during construction	Health and safety	0.87	9
R4_3_1	Unavailability or shortage of expected	Resource-related	0.84	11
R4 3 2	Equipment breakdown	Resource-related	0.82	12
R9_1	Changes in government laws	Political	0.79	13
10_1	regulations, and policies affecting the project		0.75	10
R4 4 3	Poor performance of subcontractors	Resource-related	0.74	14
R6_4	Possibility of contractual disputes and claims	Contractual and legal	0.72	15
R10_2	Force majeure (natural and man-made disasters that are beyond the control of	Environmental	0.71	16
R6_2	Delays in resolving contractual disputes and litigations	Contractual and legal	0.70	17
R3_12	Delays in approving contractor work by consultant or owner of the project	Construction	0.69	18
R6_6	Contract and specification interpretation disagreement	Contractual and legal	0.69	18

Table 5.3. Prioritized list of risk and opportunity events for a civil work package

		Risk and opportunity	Net severity percentage $(\widetilde{NS}_{i1}^{Def})$	
Risk ID	Description of risk and opportunity event	event category	0.00	Rank
K3_3	causing a cost increase to the work package/project	Construction	0.68	20
R6_1	Contradictions and vagueness in contract documents	Contractual and legal	0.68	20
R6_3	Change in codes and regulations	Contractual and legal	0.68	20
R3_15	Technical mistakes during construction stage by contractor	Construction	0.67	23
R3_7	Conflicting interfaces of work items	Construction	0.64	24
R1_1	Poor coordination and communication among various parties involved in the project	Management	0.62	25
R10_6	Changes in environmental permitting	Environmental	0.59	26
R1_5	Poor or incomplete definition of project scope	Management	0.58	27
R4_1_1	Unavailability of sufficient amount of skilled labour in project region	Resource-related	0.52	28
R5_12	Unexpected underground utilities encounters	Site conditions	0.51	29
R5_5	Late construction site possession	Site conditions	0.48	30
R11_12	Poor performance of contractor in health and safety of work	Health and safety	0.45	31
R10_4	Pollution associated with construction activities (dust, harmful gases, noise, solid and liquid wastes, etc.)	Environmental	0.43	32
R10_5	Strict environmental regulations and requirements	Environmental	0.43	32
R11_14	Poor planning of contractor for emergency measures	Health and safety	0.29	34
R9_4	Delay or refusal of project approval and permit by government departments	Political	0.26	35

5.3 Qualitative FSD Model Development

The fuzzy DEMATEL survey described in Chapter 4 and shown in Appendix E was completed by three of the experts (i.e., E_1 , E_2 , and E_4 with importance weight of 0.33, 0.36, and 0.31, respectively) who were involved in the risk assessment and prioritization stage. Each expert determined the causal influence of the *i*th risk and opportunity event on the *j*th risk and opportunity event using the fuzzy linguistic scales depicted in Table 4.2. The experts also defined the types of causal relationships between the risk and opportunity events as positive, negative, or not applicable (N/A). The linguistic assessments of the experts were converted to fuzzy numbers and three 35x35 initial fuzzy matrices (\tilde{X}_k) were obtained for each work package. The fuzzy DEMATEL steps discussed in Chapter 4 were applied for each work package to construct the causal loop diagrams (CLDs) in the qualitative model development stage. For brevity, only the results of the civil work package and the whole project are presented and discussed in this chapter.

The fuzzy direct-relation matrix (\tilde{X}^{C}) , which combines the ratings of the experts, was developed for each work package by aggregating the initial fuzzy matrices (\tilde{X}_{k}) using Eq. (4.6) by taking into account the importance weights of the experts (W_{k}) . The normalized fuzzy directrelation matrix (\tilde{Z}) was obtained for each work package by dividing the elements of the fuzzy directrelation matrix (\tilde{X}^{C}) by the number λ , as described in Eq. (4.8) and Eq. (4.9). The fuzzy totalrelation matrix (\tilde{T}) was calculated for each work package based on the normalized fuzzy directrelation matrix (\tilde{T}) using Eqs. (4.12)–(4.18). Table 5.4 depicts part of the fuzzy total-relation matrix (\tilde{T}) of the civil work package. The row (\tilde{R}) and column (\tilde{C}) summations of the fuzzy total-relation matrix (\tilde{T}) was computed for each work package using Eq. (4.19) and Eq. (4.20), respectively. Then, the $(\tilde{R} + \tilde{C})$ and $(\tilde{R} - \tilde{C})$ fuzzy values were calculated and defuzzified to obtain the prominence, $(\tilde{R} + \tilde{C})^{def}$, and relation, $(\tilde{R} - \tilde{C})^{def}$, vectors, as shown in Table 5.5. Finally, the influence relation map (IRM) was constructed for each work package by mapping the $(\tilde{R} + \tilde{C})^{def}$ and $(\tilde{R} - \tilde{C})^{def}$ values of each risk and opportunity event. The IRM of risk and opportunity events for the civil work package is shown in Figure 5.1.

Risk ID	R1_1	R1_3	R1_4	R1_5	R11_1	R11_12	R11_14
R1_1	(0.00, 0.02, 0.15)	(0.02, 0.05, 0.19)	(0.02, 0.05, 0.19)	(0.00, 0.02, 0.15)	(0.02, 0.05, 0.19)	(0.02, 0.05, 0.18)	(0.02, 0.04, 0.19)
R1_3	(0.01, 0.04, 0.17)	(0.00, 0.02, 0.18)	(0.02, 0.05, 0.22)	(0.01, 0.03, 0.18)	(0.02, 0.05, 0.22)	(0.02, 0.05, 0.21)	(0.02, 0.05, 0.21)
R1_4	(0.01, 0.03, 0.19)	(0.00, 0.03, 0.18)	(0.03, 0.02, 0.17)	(0.00, 0.02, 0.16)	(0.02, 0.03, 0.17)	(0.02, 0.03, 0.18)	(0.02, 0.04, 0.16)
R1_5	(0.02, 0.05, 0.18)	(0.01, 0.03, 0.15)	(0.02, 0.04, 0.17)	(0.00, 0.01, 0.11)	(0.01, 0.03, 0.16)	(0.01, 0.03, 0.15)	(0.01, 0.03, 0.15)
R11_1	(0.01, 0.04, 0.16)	(0.01, 0.05, 0.15)	(0.01, 0.03, 0.19)	(0.00, 0.02, 0.15)	(0.00, 0.02, 0.15)	(0.00, 0.03, 0.15)	(0.00, 0.03, 0.16)
R11_12	(0.01, 0.04, 0.17)	(0.02, 0.05, 0.2)	(0.02, 0.05, 0.20)	(0.00, 0.03, 0.16)	(0.02, 0.05, 0.20)	(0.00, 0.02, 0.15)	(0.01, 0.04, 0.18)
R11_14	(0.01, 0.04, 0.17)	(0.02, 0.04, 0.19)	(0.01, 0.03, 0.18)	(0.00, 0.02, 0.16)	(0.02, 0.05, 0.19)	(0.02, 0.05, 0.18)	(0.00, 0.02, 0.14)

Table 5.4. Fuzzy total-relation matrix (\tilde{T}) of risk and opportunity events for the civil work package

Table 5.5. Fuzzy and defuzzified values of $(\tilde{R} + \tilde{C})$ and $(\tilde{R} - \tilde{C})$ for the civil work package

Risk ID	$(\tilde{R}+\tilde{C})$	$(\tilde{R}-\tilde{C})$	$(\tilde{R}+\tilde{C})^{def}$	$(\tilde{R}-\tilde{C})^{def}$
R1_1	(0.71, 2.37, 11.45)	(-6.02, -0.26, 4.72)	4.22	-0.45
R1_3	(0.77, 2.56, 12.33)	(-5.78, 0.08, 5.77)	4.55	0.04
R1_4	(0.73, 2.47, 11.99)	(-6.05, -0.14, 5.21)	4.42	-0.28
R1_5	(0.50, 1.88, 9.90)	(-5.15, -0.08, 4.26)	3.54	-0.26
•••				
R11_1	(0.73, 2.43, 11.40)	(-5.85, -0.25, 4.82)	4.25	-0.39
R11_12	(0.75, 2.45, 11.43)	(-5.46, -0.05, 5.23)	4.27	-0.08
R11_14	(0.70, 2.34, 11.05)	(-5.37, -0.08, 4.98)	4.11	-0.14



Figure 5.1. Influence relation map (IRM) of risk and opportunity events for the civil work package

As shown in Figure 5.1, risk and opportunity events having the highest values of prominence $((\tilde{R} + \tilde{C})^{def})$, such as R3_1 (delays and interruptions causing a cost increase to the work package/project (4.93)), R6_4 (possibility of contractual disputes and claims (4.77)), and R1_3 (poor site management and supervision by the contractor (4.55)), have the highest level of causal interactions with the rest of the risk and opportunity events. In contrast, the risk and opportunity events with the lowest $(\tilde{R} + \tilde{C})^{def}$ values, such as R10_2 (force majeure, i.e., natural and manmade disasters that are beyond the control of the firm doing the risk analysis (2.46)) and R10_1 (adverse weather conditions (2.57)) have the fewest causal interactions with the rest of the risk and opportunity events with the lowest $(\tilde{R} - \tilde{C})^{def}$) are the most affected by the rest of the risk and opportunity events, such as R3_12 (delay in

approving contractor work by the consultant or owner of the project (-0.88)), R3_1 (delays and interruptions causing a cost increase to the work package/project (-0.83)), and R3_15 (technical mistakes during the construction stage by the contractor (-0.70)). R10_1 (adverse weather conditions (1.55)), R10_2 (force majeure, i.e., natural and man-made disasters that are beyond the control of the firm doing the risk analysis (1.39)), and R9_1 (changes in government laws, regulations, and policies affecting the project (0.67)) are the least affected risk and opportunity events.

The CLDs were constructed from the IRM based on the defuzzified total-relation matrix values (Table 5.6). A threshold value of 0.070, which is the 75th percentile of the defuzzified totalrelation matrix (T^{Def}) , was set for the civil work package so only the strongest causal relationships were depicted, reducing the complexity of the resulting CLDs. Thus, only those causal relationships having values greater than 0.070 (i.e., threshold value) in Table 5.6 were considered when developing the CLDs. The direction of the causal relationships were established from Table 5.6 in such a way that the risk and opportunity events in the row affect the risk and opportunity events in the column $(i \rightarrow j, e.g., R1 \ 5 \rightarrow R1 \ 1)$. For better clarity and representation, a CLD was created for each risk and opportunity event category. The CLD of a given risk and opportunity event category shows the causal relationships among the risk and opportunity events with in the category as well as the causal influence of risk and opportunity events from other categories on the given category. When the number of risk and opportunity events in a given category or the number of causal relationships in a category were too few (e.g., as in the economic and financial category and the political category), the CLDs for two or more closely related risk and opportunity event categories were combined. The CLDs of management, construction, resource-related, environmental, and health and safety risk and opportunity event categories for the civil work package are shown as an

example in Figures 5.2–5.6, respectively. Figure 5.7 depicts a CLD that combines the contractual and legal, economic and financial, and political risk and opportunity event categories. The CLDs of risk and opportunity categories for the structural and electrical work packages are provided in Appendix H and Appendix I, respectively.

Table 5.6. Defuzzified total-relation matrix (T^{Def}) of risk and opportunity events in the civil work package

Risk ID	R1_1	R1_3	R1_4	R1_5	 R11_1	R11_12	R11_14
R1_1	0.050	0.075	0.077	0.050	 0.075	0.072	0.073
R1_3	0.065	0.057	0.083	0.063	 0.086	0.082	0.081
R1_4	0.066	0.060	0.053	0.053	 0.063	0.065	0.065
R1_5	0.075	0.054	0.066	0.036	 0.058	0.056	0.055
R11 1	0.063	0.065	0.065	0.051	 0.048	0.054	0.053
R11 12	0.065	0.076	0.078	0.054	 0.083	0.049	0.063
R11_14	0.065	0.073	0.063	0.051	 0.077	0.074	0.046

Note: The bold values represent the relationships considered in the CLDs.



Figure 5.2. Causal loop diagram of the **management** risk and opportunity event category for the civil work package



Figure 5.3. Causal loop diagram of the **construction** risk and opportunity event category for the civil work package



Figure 5.4. Causal loop diagram of the **resource-related** risk and opportunity event category for the civil work package



Figure 5.5. Causal loop diagram of the environmental risk and opportunity event category for



Figure 5.6. Causal loop diagram of the **health and safety** risk and opportunity event category for the civil work package



Figure 5.7. Causal loop diagram of the **contractual and legal, economic and financial**, and **political** risk and opportunity event categories for the civil work package

After the CLDs were constructed for each work package, the corresponding flow and stock diagrams were developed for the risk and opportunity event categories, work packages, and project. The FSD model is structured in such a way that the severity and contingency values of the flow and stock variables at the category level are aggregated to obtain the severity and contingency values at the work package level, and then the severity and contingency values at the work package level, and then the severity and contingency values at the work package level are aggregated to determine the severity and contingency values at the project level. The overall qualitative FSD model of the project was created using simulation software (AnyLogic[®] 8.2.3). Figures 5.8–5.10 depict the flow and stock diagrams of the management risk and opportunity event category, the civil work package, and the wind farm project, respectively. As shown in Figures 5.8–5.10, each risk and opportunity event category, work package, and project has three flow variables representing the risk severity, opportunity severity, and net severity in dollars due to the risk and opportunity events in a given category, work package, and project, respectively at each time step,

i.e., monthly. The corresponding three stock variables (i.e., risk contingency, opportunity contingency, and net contingency in dollars) represent the cumulative contingency values of each risk category, work package and project at a given time step (i.e. a given month).



Figure 5.8. Flow and stock diagram of the management risk and opportunity event category for the civil work package







Figure 5.10. Flow and stock diagram of the wind farm project

5.4 Quantitative FSD Model Development

In developing the quantitative FSD model of the wind farm project, the objective and subjective (fuzzy) parameters and variables were first identified as described in Chapter 4. Each risk and opportunity event was modeled as a dynamic fuzzy array defined by the risk and opportunity event attributes ($\tilde{P}_{R_{ib}}$, $\tilde{I}_{R_{ib}}$, $\tilde{S}_{R_{ib}}$, $\tilde{P}_{O_{ib}}$, $\tilde{I}_{O_{ib}}$, $\tilde{S}_{O_{ib}}$, C_{ib} , t_{ij}^{Def}) and their corresponding fuzzy membership function parameters (l_{ib} , m_{1ib} , m_{2ib} , u_{ib}). Among the risk and opportunity event attributes, the affected percentage of work package cost (C_{ib}) and the degree of causal influence of risk and opportunity event *i* on risk and opportunity event *j* (t_{ij}^{Def}) were expressed by crisp values, whereas the rest of the attributes were represented by triangular or trapezoidal fuzzy numbers (Table 5.2). The other objective variables in the FSD model were the forecasted monthly progress percentage (A_b), forecasted total work package cost (D_b), and forecasted monthly progress in dollars (F_b). The forecasted cash flow S-curve. All the flow and stock variables in the FSD model were fuzzy variables as the risk severity and opportunity severity used in the equations were fuzzy numbers.

The weighted risk probability $(\tilde{P}_{R_{jb}}^*)$ and weighted opportunity probability $(\tilde{P}_{O_{jb}}^*)$, which reflect the effect of the predecessor risk and opportunity events on the posterior risk and opportunity event, were determined for the risk and opportunity events at each time step based on Eq. (4.22). Consequently, the weighted risk severity $(\tilde{S}_{R_{jb}}^*)$ and weighted opportunity severity $(\tilde{S}_{O_{jb}}^*)$ of the risk and opportunity events were computed at each time step. The risk severity in dollars $(\widehat{RSD}_{eb}^{RC})$, opportunity severity in dollars $(\widehat{OSD}_{eb}^{RC})$, and net severity in dollars $(\widehat{NSD}_{eb}^{RC})$ of the risk and opportunity event categories were determined at each time step using Eqs. (4.23)– (4.25). The accumulation of these severity values resulted in the corresponding risk contingency in dollars (\widehat{RCD}_{eb}^{RC}), opportunity contingency in dollars (\widehat{OCD}_{eb}^{RC}), and net contingency in dollars (\widehat{NCD}_{eb}^{RC}) at the category level (Eqs. (4.32)–(4.34)). Then, the severity and contingency dollar values at the category level were aggregated to determine the severity in dollars (\widehat{RSD}_{b}^{WP} , \widehat{OSD}_{b}^{WP} , and \widehat{NSD}_{b}^{WP}) and contingency in dollars (\widehat{RCD}_{b}^{WP} , \widehat{RCD}_{b}^{WP} , and \widehat{NCD}_{b}^{WP}) at the work package level using Eqs. (4.27)–(4.29) and Eqs. (4.36)–(4.38), respectively. Finally, the severity and contingency dollar values of the work packages were aggregated to obtain the severity in dollars (\widehat{RSD}_{PR}^{PR} , \widehat{OSD}^{PR} , and \widehat{NSD}^{PR}) and contingency in dollars (\widehat{RCD}^{PR} , \widehat{OCD}^{PR} , and \widehat{NCD}^{PR}) at the project level using Eqs. (4.29)–(4.31) and Eqs. (4.38)–(4.40), respectively.

5.5 Dynamic Simulation of the FSD Model and Output Determination

The contingency values of the work packages and the project were determined by simulating the quantitative FSD model over the project duration (i.e., 12 months). The fuzzy arithmetic calculation in the FSD model was carried out using the α -cut method and the drastic *t*-norm and the work packages' and project's contingencies were determined as fuzzy numbers represented by a tuple $(l_b^*, m_{1b}^*, m_{2b}^*, l_b^*)$ and (l^*, m_1^*, m_2^*, u^*) , respectively. For any trapezoidal fuzzy number represented by a tuple (l, m_1, m_2, u) , l and u represent the lower and upper bound of the support (i.e., the set of all elements of the universe of discourse that have a non-zero membership degree in the fuzzy number), respectively. The parameters m_1 and m_2 denote the lower and upper mode of the core (i.e., the set of all elements of the universe of discourse that have a membership degree of 1 in the fuzzy number), respectively. The plots of the fuzzy numbers representing the civil work package and net project contingency based on the α -cut and drastic *t*-norm are shown in Figure 5.11 and Figure 5.12, respectively.





drastic t-norm



Figure 5.11. Civil work package net contingency based on the α -cut method and the drastic *t*-norm





drastic t-norm



-----Net Contingency_Upper mode ----------Net Contingency_Upper bound

Figure 5.12. Net project contingency based on the *α*-cut method and the drastic *t*-normWhen the *α*-cut method is used in the FSD model, the supports of the fuzzy numbers growrapidly, contributing to the overestimation of uncertainty. For example, the support of the net

project contingency fuzzy number at the end of the project duration (shown in Figure 5.12) is [450,300.61 33,892,516.73] for the α -cut method, which means that the net project contingency value will fall between \$450,300.61 and \$33,892,516.73. For the drastic *t*-norm, the net project contingency value will be between \$6,460,369.29 and \$10,806,716.21. In order to observe the accumulation of fuzziness phenomenon in the two arithmetic methods, the length of the support (also referred to as the fuzzy spread) was calculated. The length of the support is the distance between the lower bound and upper bound of the support of a fuzzy number. Table 5.7 shows a comparison of the length of the support of the net project contingency fuzzy numbers over the project duration when the two arithmetic methods are used in the FSD model. The reduction rate (%) in the length of the support achieved by employing the drastic t-norm instead of the α -cut method is also summarised in Table 5.7. The length of the support at the end of the project duration for the α -cut method is close to eight times larger than the length of the support for the drastic tnorm, reflecting the significant growth of uncertainty that occurs when the α -cut method is employed in the FSD model. The excessive accumulation of fuzziness and overestimation of uncertainty encountered in the FSD model was significantly reduced by using drastic *t*-norm instead of the α -cut method. For instance, the length of the support at the end of the project duration was reduced by 87.00%. Based on these results, it can be concluded that the α -cut method and the drastic *t*-norm provide a pessimistic and conservative net project contingency range estimate, respectively.

Project	Length	Reduction rate $(\%) =$	
duration			[((1)-(2))/(1)]*100
	α -cut method (1)	drastic <i>t</i> -norm (2)	
0	0.00	0.00	0.00
1	0.00	0.00	0.00
2	156,700.09	20,423.22	86.97
3	491,570.69	64,255.34	86.93
4	815,868.58	104,689.54	87.17
5	1,425,401.23	181,324.53	87.28
6	2,405,163.85	307,932.26	87.20
7	4,912,017.38	626,435.32	87.25
8	11,567,913.74	1,425,288.81	87.68
9	19,266,750.08	2,373,897.54	87.68
10	27,932,561.82	3,573,392.53	87.21
11	32,237,520.17	4,177,089.14	87.04
12	33,442,216.12	4,346,346.92	87.00

Table 5.7. Comparison of the length of the support of the net project contingency fuzzy numbers for the α -cut method and the drastic *t*-norm

The net project contingency fuzzy numbers in dollars (450,300.61, 6,550,070.15, 10,615,179.05, 33,892,516.73) and (6,460,369.29, 6,550,070.15, 10,615,179.05, 10,806,716.21) at the end of the project duration (t=12 months), shown in Figure 5.13, represent the total net contingency of the wind farm project based on the *a*-cut method and the drastic *t*-norm, respectively. The crisp and interval values that represent the net contingency fuzzy numbers were determined using defuzzification methods and the confidence level (i.e., the possibility degree), respectively. The fuzzy numbers were defuzzified using the smallest of maxima (SOM), middle of maxima (MOM), largest of maxima (LOM), and center of area (COA) methods to obtain representative crisp values. The SOM, MOM, and LOM are the smallest, middle, and largest of the x-axis values with the largest membership degree, respectively. The COA is the x-axis value that corresponds to the center of area of the fuzzy number. Since the core of the net contingency fuzzy numbers obtained based on the *a*-cut method and the drastic *t*-norm are equal, the defuzzified net contingency values

of the project determined using the SOM (\$6,550,070.15), MOM (\$8,582,624.60), and LOM (\$10,615,179.05) are the same for both fuzzy arithmetic methods (Figure 5.13). The defuzzified net contingency values of the project based on the COA method are \$13,998,190.00 and \$8,608,360.00 for the α -cut method and the drastic *t*-norm, respectively (Figure 5.13). The defuzzified net contingency values of the project over the entire project duration based on the COA method are depicted in Figure 5.14 for the two arithmetic methods. As shown in Figure 5.14, the defuzzified net contingency values based on the COA method for the α-cut method are higher than the drastic *t*-norm throughout the project duration. There is no standard or guideline for selecting the most appropriate defuzzification method that can be applied to all types of projects. The defuzzification method can be selected based on project context, familiarity of the risk analyst with the methods, and the preferences and risk attitude of the analyst (Elbarkouky et al. 2016). The SOM, MOM, and LOM defuzzification methods are simple to implement. However, they always give the same result irrespective of the fuzzy arithmetic method used and they do not take into account the shape of the fuzzy number in determining the defuzzified value. The COA method is more realistic in representing the output fuzzy number, as it averages the membership values of the entire domain range. However, in general, difficulty of implementation and an increase in simulation run time are major drawbacks of the COA method.

The net contingency fuzzy numbers can also be expressed as confidence intervals at different levels of confidence (Figure 5.15). For a given α -cut level, the confidence level is 1 – α with a possibility degree equal to α . For instance, at an α -cut level of 0.6, there is a confidence level of 0.4 and a possibility of 0.6 that the net contingency of the project will be [4,110,162.633 19,926,114.12] and [6,514,189.814 10,691,793.91] for the α -cut method and the drastic *t*-norm,

respectively (Figure 5.15). The confidence level is suitable for representing uncertainty in a way that is compatible with the confidence interval of the Monte Carlo simulation method and when both specificity and certainty of information are important to the decision-maker.



Figure 5.13. Defuzzified values of the net project contingency fuzzy numbers



Figure 5.14. Defuzzified net contingency of the project based on the COA method for the α -cut method and the drastic *t*-norm





Figure 5.15. Net project contingency intervals based on the confidence level

The defuzzified contingency depletion curves for the work packages and the project can be constructed from the defuzzified contingency accumulation curves. The defuzzified values of the contingency depletion curve at each time step are calculated by subtracting the defuzzified cumulative contingency value at a given time step from the defuzzified contingency value at the end of the project duration (t=12 months). The defuzzified net contingency depletion curves of the project based on the COA method for the α -cut method and the drastic *t*-norm are shown in Figure 5.16.



Figure 5.16. Defuzzified net contingency depletion curves of the project based on the COA method for the α-cut method and the drastic *t*-norm

5.6 FSD Model Validation

The qualitative and quantitative FSD models were validated by conducting structural and behavioral validations (Sterman 2000; Lee et al. 2005; Lee and Peña-Mora 2007). Structural validation, which comprises structural verification, parameter verification, and dimensional consistency, was carried out on the CLDs, flow and stock diagrams, and mathematical equations. Structural verification, which indicates how realistic the FSD model is in representing the variables and relationships in the system, was conducted at different stages of the FSD model development. The literature review, data collected from project documents, and experts' assessments were used to identify, assess, and prioritize the risk and opportunity events for each work package to be considered in the FSD model. The final list of the prioritized risks used in the FSD model were verified by the experts who were involved in the risk identification and assessment. The CLDs

constructed using the fuzzy DEMATEL method were also reviewed by the same experts who completed the fuzzy DEMATEL survey to check if the defined causal relationships were realistic. For parameter verification, all the parameters used in the FSD model (e.g., work package cost) were obtained from project documents and verified by the project manager of the case study under consideration. The dimensional consistency test was conducted to uncover flaws in mathematical equations and dimensional errors. All the equations in the FSD model were inspected, and automatic dimensional analysis was carried out using AnyLogic[®] simulation software. The fuzzy arithmetic class developed using the Java programing language for implementing the α -cut method and the drastic *t*-norm was also tested for all arithmetic operations, and the results were compared against fuzzy arithmetic examples provided in Lin et al. (2011) and Pedrycz and Gomide (2007). In order to test the level of aggregation of the FSD model for mathematical accuracy, the project model was disaggregated into subsystem models (work packages). Then, the subsystem models were simulated individually and the resulting work packages' contingencies were aggregated and compared with the project's contingency result obtained by simulating the whole project model.

For behavior validation, the FSD model was checked to see if it reproduces the anticipated behavior in the system. To achieve this, the forecasted contingency values of the work packages and the project throughout the project duration were plotted and compared with the shape of the corresponding forecasted work package and project cost S-curves. In addition, an integration error test was conducted on the FSD model by running the model at different time steps and using different numerical integration methods to make sure the model was not sensitive to the choice of time step or integration method (Sterman 2000; Lee et al. 2005; Lee and Peña-Mora 2007).
The performance of the FSD model was evaluated by implementing it using an actual project case study and the results were compared against contingency values obtained from Monte Carlo simulation (MCS) model developed by the wind farm project owner. MCS was chosen for comparison because it is the most commonly used method for risk analysis and contingency determination in the construction domain. The defuzzified net project contingency values determined using the the α -cut method and the drastic *t*-norm from the FSD model at the end of the project duration (t=12 months) were compared with the P50 (confidence level of 0.5) and P95 (confidence level of 0.95) project contingency values obtained through MCS. The symmetric mean absolute percentage error (SMAPE) was used to calculate the error and evaluate the degree of agreement between the FSD model and MCS in predicting the net project contingency. SMAPE overcomes the shortcomings, such as asymmetry and impact of outliers, associated with other error measurements, including the mean absolute error and the root mean square error (Willmott and Matsuura 2005). SMAPE is expressed as shown in Eq.(5.1).

$$SMAPE = \frac{100\%}{n} \sum_{t=1}^{n} \frac{|Q_t - V_t|}{(|Q_t| + |V_t|)/2}$$
(5.1)

where Q_t is the defuzzified net project contingency predicted by the FSD model and V_t is the P50 or P95 project contingency estimated by MCS. The value of SMAPE ranges from 0% to 200% and a value of 0% implies a perfect agreement between the contingency results of the FSD model and MCS.

Table 5.8 presents the SMAPE results calculated based on the P50 and P95 project contingency output of MCS. The comparison between the FCD net project contingency results and MCS P50 shows that the lowest SMAPE are observed for the COA (8.67%) defuzzification

method when the drastic *t*-norm is used. The comparison between the FSD net project contingency results and MCS P95 indicates that the lowest SMAPE is achieved for the COA (5.15%) defuzzification method when the α -cut method is used. The SMAPE results obtained for the SOM, MOM, and LOM defuzzification methods are the same regardless of which arithmetic method was adopted. The net project contingency results obtained from FSD are comparable to the MCS P50 and P95 project results. The FSD modeling approach addresses the limitations of MCS, such as a reliance on historical data to develop probability distributions, by using expert judgement, linguistic scales, and fuzzy numbers. Moreover, the causal relationships that exist among risk and opportunity events were taken into account when determining the net project contingency in FSD; MCS, on the other hand, considers risks to be independent. Furthermore, FSD estimates the net project contingency continuously throughout the project duration, while MCS estimates project contingency at a specific time (e.g., quarterly).

Fuzzy system dynamics (FSD)		Symmetric mean absolute percentage error (SMAPE) (%)				
Fuzzy arithmetic	Defuzzification					
method	methods	MCS P50	MCS P95			
α-cut method	SOM	37.16	76.93			
	MOM	10.57	52.79			
	LOM	10.67	32.52			
	COA	37.88	5.15			
Drastic <i>t</i> -norm	SOM	37.16	76.93			
	MOM	10.57	52.79			
	LOM	10.67	32.52			
	COA	10.27	52.51			

Table 5.8. Symmetric mean absolute percentage error (SMAPE): FSD net project contingencyresults compared to MCS P50 and P95 project contingency results

The defuzzified net project contingency values determined by the FSD model at the end of the project duration (t=12 months) were also compared with the defuzzified contingency values

obtained by employing the α -cut method and drastic *t*-norm in Fuzzy Contingency Determinator[©] (FCD[©]) software (Elbarkouky et al. 2016). FCD[©] was selected because it uses linguistic terms represented by triangular and trapezoidal fuzzy numbers to assess the probability and impact of risk and opportunity events, and because it uses fuzzy arithmetic procedures based on both the α cut method and the extension principle similar to the FSD model to determine work package and project contingencies. The SMAPE defined in Eq. (5.1), where V_t is the defuzzified project contingency predicted by FCD[©], was used to evaluate the degree of agreement between FSD and FCD[©]. The SMAPE results are summarized in Table 5.9. Overall, the degree of agreement between the net contingency estimated by the FSD model and FCD[©] varied between 2.63% and 98.90%. A better degree of agreement (2.63%) was achieved when the α -cut method/drastic *t*-norm and LOM defuzzification method was employed in the FSD model, and the resulting net project contingency was compared with the contingency result obtained from $FCD^{\mathbb{C}}$ by using the α -cut method/drastic *t*-norm and the COA defuzzification method. However, the comparison between FSD and FCD[©] for similar arithmetic and defuzzification methods (i.e., the SMAPE results highlighted in Table 5.9) reflects that a better degree of agreement (14.64%) was achieved when the LOM defuzzification method was used, irrespective of the fuzzy arithmetic method that was employed. Although both FSD and FCD[©] use linguistic terms represented by fuzzy numbers and fuzzy arithmetic procedures to determine project contingency, FCD[©] fails to consider the causal interactions that exist among risk and opportunity events and only estimates project contingency at specific time.

The project contingencies estimated by FSD need to be compared with the final actual cost variances of several projects to determine if FSD offers better predictive capability than MCS and

FCD[©]. The selection of arithmetic and defuzzification methods depend on different factors such as project scale, project context, and the preferences of decision makers.

		Symmetric mean absolute percentage error (SMAPE) (%)								
		Fuzzy Contingency Determinator (FCD [©])								
Fuzzy system dynamics (FSD)		α-cut method			Drastic <i>t</i> -norm					
		SOM	MOM	LOM	COA	SOM	MOM	LOM	COA	
α-cut	SOM	32.17	5.94	33.30	44.88	32.17	5.94	33.30	6.16	
method	MOM	57.78	21.01	6.59	18.57	57.78	21.01	6.59	20.79	
	LOM	76.61	41.72	14.64	2.63	76.61	41.72	14.64	41.51	
	COA	98.90	67.28	41.71	30.06	98.90	67.28	41.71	67.08	
Drastic	SOM	32.17	5.94	33.30	44.88	32.17	5.94	33.30	6.16	
<i>t</i> -norm	MOM	57.78	21.01	6.59	18.57	57.78	21.01	6.59	20.79	
	LOM	76.61	41.72	14.64	2.63	76.61	41.72	14.64	41.51	
	COA	58.06	21.30	6.29	18.28	58.06	21.30	6.29	21.09	

Table 5.9. Symmetric mean absolute percentage error (SMAPE): FSD net project contingency results compared to FCD[©] project contingency results

Note: The bold values represent SMAPE values for similar arithmetic and defuzzification methods

The list of criteria and sub-criteria (qualification attributes) for assessing experts' expertise levels, the risk assessment and prioritization procedure, and the hybrid FSD modeling approach proposed in this thesis are generalizable and can be adapted to any type of construction project. In addition, the risk and opportunity events and CLDs can be used as a starting point for developing qualitative FSD models for future projects. However, the linguistic scales and fuzzy numbers for assessing the probability and impact of risk and opportunity events, the prioritization and ranking of risk and opportunity events, and the degree of causal influences among risks and opportunity events are specific to the wind farm project considered in the case study.

5.7 Chapter Summary

In this chapter, a hybrid FSD model is developed to analyze the severity of dynamic and interacting risk and opportunity events on work package costs and to determine work package and project contingencies of the construction of a wind farm power generation project. The expertise levels of the experts' involved in the FSD model development were assessed based on certain qualification attributes and consequently importance weights of the experts' were determined and then considered in combining experts' evaluations. The experts assessed the work package and project characteristics to establish the context of the project selected as a case study. The probability and impact of the risk and opportunity events as well as the causal interaction between the risk and opportunity events were assessed by the experts using linguistic scales represented by fuzzy numbers. A structured and systematic method based on fuzzy DEMATEL was employed to determine the degree of causal influence between the risk and opportunity events and construct the CLDs. The FSD model was simulated over the project duration and the work packages and project contingencies were determined as fuzzy numbers based on both the α -cut method and the drastic tnorm. The comparison of the results obtained based on the two fuzzy arithmetic methods indicate that excessive accumulation of fuzziness and overestimation of uncertainty was encountered when α -cut method was used in the FSD model. The contingency fuzzy numbers obtained from the FSD model were transformed into crisp and interval values using different defuzzification methods and confidence levels, respectively. The FSD model was validated using structural and behavioral validation tests. Moreover, the defuzzified contingency values obtained from the FSD model at the

end of the project duration were compared with the MCS P50 and P95 project contingency results and the defuzzified values of $FCD^{\textcircled{O}}$. The FSD model provides comparable contingency results to those obtained through MCS P50 and P95 and $FCD^{\textcircled{O}}$. The FSD modelling approach addresses the challenges of the probabilistic risk analysis approach by using expert judgement and linguistic scales that do not require historical data. The FSD modelling approach also accounts for the dynamic nature of risk and opportunity events and causal interactions that exist among them, unlike MCS and $FCD^{\textcircled{O}}$, which consider risk and opportunity events to be causally independent and estimate contingency at a specific time (e.g., quarterly). The FSD model also helps to track the severity of dynamic and interacting risk and opportunity events over time. The next chapter presents summary of the work conducted in this research, research contributions, research limitations, and recommendations for future research.

5.8 References

- Elbarkouky, M.M.G., Fayek, A. Robinson, Siraj, N.B., and Sadeghi, N. (2016). "Fuzzy arithmetic risk analysis approach to determine construction project contingency." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 142(12), 1–11.
- Lee, S.H., Pena-Mora, F., and Park, M. (2005). "Quality and change management model for large scale concurrent design and construction projects." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 131 (8), 890– 902.
- Lee, S.H., and Pena-Mora, F. (2007). "Understanding and managing iterative error and change cycles in construction." *System Dynamics Review*, 23 (1), 35–60.
- Lin, K.P., Wu, M.J., Hung, K.C., and Kuo, Y. (2011). "Developing the weakest *t*-norm fuzzy GERT for evaluating uncertain process reliability in semiconductor manufacturing." *Appl. Soft Comput.*, 11(8), 5165–5180.
- Monzer, N., Fayek, A. Robinson, Lourenzutti, R., and Siraj, N.B. (2019). "Aggregation-based framework for construction risk assessment with heterogeneous group of experts." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 145(3), 04019003-1–04019003-10.
- Pedrycz, W. and Gomide, F., 2007. *Fuzzy System Engineering: Toward Human-Centric Computing*, John Wiley and Sons, Hoboken, NJ.
- Sterman, J.D. (2000). Business Dynamics: System Thinking and Modeling for a Complex World, McGraw-Hill Companies, New York, NY.

Willmott, C. J., and Matsuura, K. (2017). "Advantage of the mean absolute error over the root mean square error (RMSE) in assessing average model performance." *Clim. Res.*, 30(1), 79– 82.

Chapter 6 Conclusions and Recommendations⁶

6.1 Introduction

This chapter presents summary of the work conducted in this research and outlines the academic and industrial contributions. Moreover, limitations of this research and recommendations for future research are presented.

6.2 Research Summary

Construction projects are inherently fraught with risks and uncertainties throughout their life cycle. Hence, managing risks in construction projects is crucial to successfully achieving project objectives. Risk identification is the first and critical stage in risk management process as it develops the basis for later stages and ensures risk management effectiveness. Despite the abundance of published articles emphasizing on construction risk identification, there is a lack of systematic review and content analysis of risk identification literature in construction. As such, there is a need to examine common risk identification techniques and risk classification methods used in construction risk management process as well as identify, categorize and rank common risks impacting construction projects through systematic review and content analysis of selected published articles. Traditional risk analysis and contingency determination methods are ineffective

⁶ Parts of this chapter have been published in the *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*: Siraj, N. B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2019). "Risk identification and common risks in construction: Literature review and content analysis." *J. Const. Eng. Manage.*, 145(9), 03119004-1–03119004-13; and submitted for publication in *Automation in Construction*: Siraj, N. B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2019). "Hybrid fuzzy system dynamics model for analyzing the impacts of interrelated risks and opportunity events on project contingency." *Automat. Constr.*, 70 manuscript pages, submitted July 9, 2019.

for capturing the dynamic causal interactions and subjective uncertainties involved in assessing risk and opportunity events. The lack of consideration of the dynamic nature of risk and opportunity events and the causal interactions and dependency between them can lead to over estimation or underestimation of contingency. Even though system dynamic (SD) is a viable option in capturing such characteristics, it has limited ability in handling subjective uncertainties and imprecisions associated to risk assessment. Subjective uncertainties and impressions can be best dealt with using fuzzy logic. Research endeavors to integrate SD and fuzzy logic so as to address the shortcomings of SD in risk analysis and contingency determination are very few. The main objective of this research is thus to develop a hybrid fuzzy system dynamics model (FSD) to analyze the severity of interrelated and interacting risk and opportunity events on work package cost and consequently determine work package and project contingencies. The stages followed to achieve the objectives of this research are discussed in the following subsections.

6.2.1 The First Stage

In the first stage, literature review was conducted on risk identification process and risk analysis in construction. The literature review aimed at identifying research gaps of past studies and establishing the theoretical framework of this research and the rationale for selecting the FSD modeling approach for risk analysis and contingency determination. The literature review conducted on risk identification process revealed that positive risks (opportunities) are often overlooked or addressed reactively; there is no standard or consensus on how to categorize risks in the construction industry; and there is lack of systematic review and content analysis of published articles related to risk identification in construction. Deterministic, probabilistic, fuzzybased, and hybrid risk analysis and contingency determination methods in construction were reviewed, with a special focus on SD and FSD. The results of the literature review identified a lack of dynamic risk analysis and contingency determination method capable of capturing the complex interrelationships and interactions among risk and opportunity events, the dynamic nature of risk and opportunity events, and the subjective uncertainties and imprecisions associated in assessing them. The results of the literature review also revealed that there is a lack of structured and systematic method to define causal relationships among risk and opportunity events and construct causal loop diagrams (CLDs) in the qualitative FSD model. Additionally, the results indicate a lack of effective method for representing large number of fuzzy variables in FSD models for risk analysis and contingency determination. Furthermore, the results identified a lack of research on implementation of fuzzy arithmetic by the extension principle method in the FSD models for risk analysis and contingency determination, as most of the models are limited to the use of α -cut method.

6.2.2 The Second Stage

In the second stage, common risk identification tools and techniques and risk classification methods in construction were examined as well as potential risks affecting construction projects were identified, systematically categorized, and ranked. In order to achieve these objectives, a systematic review and detailed content analysis was carried out on 130 selected articles from 14 well-regarded academic journals in construction engineering and management published in the last three decades. A three-stage process—comprising selection of journals, selection of articles, and content analysis—was employed to conduct a systematic review and detailed content analysis on the selected articles. The findings of the content analysis showed that the majority of the selected articles identified risks for construction projects—mainly infrastructure projects—in the Asia and

Europe regions, and in most cases the identified risks were either classified based on their nature or listed without any categorization. For identifying risks, combinations of different informationgathering techniques were predominantly used in the selected articles, while diagramming and analysis-based techniques were seldom used. A comprehensive and structured risk classification method was established based on the existing category names in the selected articles and the risks identified from the selected articles were grouped into eleven categories: management, technical, construction, resource-related, site conditions, contractual and legal, economic and financial, social, political, environmental, and health and safety. The risk in each category were ranked based on their frequencies (i.e., total number of references each risk had). The most frequently identified risks based on the overall ranking were unpredicted change of inflation rate; design errors and poor engineering; and changes in government laws, regulations, and policies affecting the project. The common risks identified in this stage were used to design the risk identification and assessment survey form.

6.2.3 The Third Stage

In the third stage, a data collection protocol was prepared to describe the methodology and data collection process for developing the FSD model. Four different data collection forms were designed: experts' levels of expertise in risk management assessment survey form; project and work package characteristics survey form; risk and opportunity events identification and assessment survey form; and risk and opportunity events causal relationship assessment survey form. Qualification criteria such as experience, knowledge, professional performance, risk management practice, project specifics, reputation, and personal attributes and skills were used to assess the experts' levels of expertise in risk management. Predetermined rating scales and

numerical values were used to assess the qualitative and quantitative qualification attributes, respectively. The project work package and characteristics survey form was used to record information about the selected project and work packages and to establish the context of the project. The risk identification and assessment survey form was designed to identify the risk and opportunity events applicable to the selected project and to assess the probability of occurrence of risk and opportunity events and their impact on the work package cost using linguistic terms represented by fuzzy numbers. The causal relationship assessment survey form comprised a pairwise comparison matrix and allows experts to assess the degree of causal influence of one risk and opportunity event on the other and define the type of causal relationship between them. Once the data survey forms were ready, a candidate project was selected as a case study through a meeting in the presence of senior management staff from the participating company. A group of experts, who were directly involved in the selected project, was formed and the surveys were administered in the form of structured interview survey.

6.2.4 The Fourth Stage

In the fourth stage, a hybrid FSD modeling methodology was developed to analyze the severity of dynamic and interacting risk and opportunity events on work package cost and consequently determine work package and project contingencies. The proposed modelling methodology was applied to develop a FSD model for determining the work package and project contingencies of the construction of a wind farm power generation project. The hybrid FSD model was developed in the following six steps: identification of risk and opportunity events; assessing experts' levels of expertise and assigning importance weights to experts; assessment and prioritization of risk and

opportunity events; FSD model development; dynamic simulation of the FSD model and output determination; and FSD model validation.

A comprehensive literature review was conducted to identify common risk and opportunity events in construction and to establish a risk classification method as mentioned in the second stage. Then, the applicability of the identified risk and opportunity events and the risk categorization for the selected case study project was verified by the group of experts. The expertise level of the experts in risk management was assessed based on certain qualification attributes and the importance weights of the experts were determined using a fuzzy analytical hierarchical process (FAHP) weight assigning model.

A fuzzy-based risk assessment and prioritization procedure, which assesses the probability and impact of risk and opportunity events at work package level, takes into account the percentage of the work package affected, and considers the experts' expertise level, was adopted. Also, linguistic scales, represented by triangular or trapezoidal fuzzy numbers, were adopted to allow experts to use natural language to assess the probability and impact of risk and opportunity events. The experts' assessment of each risk and opportunity events for a given work package were aggregated to obtain the collective assessment of the experts by taking into account the importance weights of the experts. Then, the net severity percentage and overall net severity percentage of risk and opportunity events on a work package and project was determined, respectively. Subsequently, the risk and opportunity events to be considered in the FSD model were prioritized and selected.

The FSD model for risk analysis and contingency determination was developed in two stages: development of the qualitative and quantitative model. The first step in constructing the qualitative FSD model is to determine the risk and opportunity events that need to be considered in the model. Following, other key model parameter and variables were identified and the model boundary and level of aggregation was established. Then, a structured and systematic method, based on fuzzy DEMATEL (decision making trial and evaluation laboratory), was employed to define the causal relationships among risk and opportunity events and to construct the corresponding CLDs. After the CLDs were constructed for each work package, the corresponding flow and stock diagrams were developed for the risk and opportunity event categories, work packages, and project. Finally, the qualitative FSD model of the project was created using AnyLogic[®] 8.2.3 simulation software.

In developing the quantitative FSD model, first, the objective and subjective (fuzzy) model parameter and variables were identified. The objective variables were quantified using crisp numbers and the risk and opportunity events were represented using fuzzy array. Then, the causal relationship between risk and opportunity events were defined using fuzzy weighted average to reflect the effect of predecessor risk and opportunity events on the posterior risk and opportunity event. Then, mathematical equations were developed to calculate the values of flow and stock variables at risk and opportunity event category, work package, and project level. A fuzzy arithmetic library was developed using Java programing language and imported to the quantitative FSD model in AnyLogic[®] to perform arithmetic operations based on α -cut method and drastic *t*-norm on mathematical equations involving both objective and subjective (fuzzy) variables.

The FSD model for the case study project was simulated over the project duration and the work packages and project contingencies were determined as fuzzy numbers. Different defuzzification methods—including smallest of maxima (SOM), middle of maxima (MOM), largest of maxima (LOM), and center of area (COA)—and confidence levels were applied to transform

contingency fuzzy numbers into a crisp and interval values, respectively. The comparison of project contingency fuzzy numbers obtained based on the two fuzzy arithmetic methods indicate that excessive accumulation of fuzziness and overestimation of uncertainty was encountered when *a*-cut method was used in the FSD model. Lastly, structural and behavioral validation tests were performed to validate the FSD model. Moreover, the defuzzified contingency values obtained from FSD model at the end of the project duration were compared with Monte Carlo simulation (MCS) P50 and P95 project results and defuzzified values of Fuzzy Contingency Determinator[©] (FCD[©]). The FSD model provided comparable contingency result to MCS P50 and P95 and FCD[©] estimates.

The list of criteria and sub-criteria (qualification attributes) for assessing experts' expertise levels, the risk assessment and prioritization procedure, and the hybrid FSD modeling approach proposed in this thesis are generalizable and can be applied to other construction projects. To do so, the expertise levels of the experts to be involved in the risk assessment and model development should be evaluated based on the proposed set of criteria and sub-criteria (qualification attributes). In addition, the risk and opportunity events and CLDs can be used as a starting point for developing qualitative FSD models for future projects. However, the fuzzy membership functions of the linguistic terms for assessing the probability and impact of risk and opportunity events should be calibrated for new projects. The prioritization and ranking of the risk and opportunity events and the degree of causal influences among risks and opportunity events (i.e., the CLDs) should be modified to suit new projects.

6.3 Research Contributions

The academic and industrial contributions of this research relevant to academic researchers and construction industry practitioners, respectively are presented in the following subsections.

6.3.1 Academic Contributions

The main academic contributions of this research are summarised as follows:

- 1. Providing a systematic and in-depth content analysis of published articles related to risk identification in construction; and a useful reference on common potential risks affecting construction projects for future risk identification, analysis, and modeling purposes. This research addresses the lack of a systematic review and content analysis of published articles related to risk identification in construction and establishes research areas in need of further examination. The most common risk identification tools and techniques and risk classification methods used in construction projects were identified. Also, common potential risks affecting construction projects and projects were identified, systematically categorized, and ranked. Moreover, a comprehensive risk classification method applicable to different types of construction projects and project stakeholders has been proposed. The proposed risk classification method helps to avoid redundancy and ambiguity and contributes to the effectiveness and quality of the risk identification process because the categories are detailed and comprehensive.
- 2. Providing a systematic fuzzy-based risk assessment and prioritization procedure, which uses linguistic scales represented by fuzzy numbers to assess probability and impact of risks; incorporates opportunity in the assessment; allows risk assessment at the work package level; and accounts for differing levels of expertise in risk management based on

a comprehensive set of expert qualification attributes. The proposed risk assessment and prioritization procedure allows experts to use natural language to assess the probability and impact of risk and opportunity events and captures the subjective uncertainty involved in assessing them. It also incorporates opportunity in the assessment which is rarely considered in previous construction risk assessment models. Assessing and prioritizing risk and opportunity events at the work package level have an advantage as the risk and opportunity events affecting a specific work package, their level of severity, and percentage of the work package affected could considerably vary for work packages in a project. Most previous risk assessment and prioritization procedures either do not take into account the experts' levels of expertise in risk management or importance weights are assigned to experts directly by a moderator or a manager. However, in this research the expertise level of the experts in risk management was assessed based on certain qualification attributes and consequently importance weights of the experts were determined and considered in aggregating experts assessments.

3. Providing an approach, using hybrid FSD modeling, that can consider the dynamic causal interactions and dependencies between risks (opportunities) and quantify their severity on work package cost and consequently determine work package and project contingency by using expert judgement, linguistic scales, and fuzzy numbers. Traditional risk analysis and contingency determination methods are ineffective in capturing the dynamic nature of risk and opportunity events and the complex causal interactions that exist between them. In most cases, risk and opportunity events are often modeled and analyzed as if they are independent, which can lead to over estimation or under estimation of contingency. This research addresses the limitations of traditional risk analysis and contingency

determination methods by providing a hybrid FSD modeling approach to analyze the severity of interrelated and interacting risk and opportunity events on work package cost and determine work package and project contingencies over the life cycle of the project.

4. Contributing to the advancement of the state of the art in FSD modeling for risk analysis and contingency determination by (a) providing a structured and systematic method that uses linguistic terms for constructing causal loop diagrams (CLDs); (b) providing a method for handling subjective uncertainty in FSD; and (c) implementing fuzzy arithmetic methods (both α -cut and extension principle based on drastic t-norm) in FSD to carry out algebraic operations in mathematical equations involving fuzzy variables. The CLDs in existing SD and FSD models are commonly developed based on the modelers' assumptions or the conceptual foundations of the models are borrowed from other fields. This research addresses the lack of structured and systematic method that uses linguistic terms for assessing the causal relationships among risk and opportunity events and for constructing CLDs. Common approaches in SD modelling use either numerical values or probabilistic distributions to define system variables and the approaches are incapable in accounting for subjective uncertainties associated with system variables. Integrating fuzzy logic with SD allows to capture the subjective uncertainty and imprecisions of variables and parameters involved in risk analysis and contingency determination. The methodology proposed in this research enables to represent large number of subjective (fuzzy) variables with multidimensional data in FSD model by using fuzzy arrays. The fuzzy arithmetic methods used in existing FSD models are limited to α -cut method because of its simplicity. However, the α -cut method leads to accumulation of fuzziness (due to growth of support) and the overestimation of uncertainty in the FSD model. This research addresses the lack of research on implementation of fuzzy arithmetic by the extension principle method in FSD models for risk analysis and contingency determination by implementing both α -cut method and extension principle based on drastic *t*-norm. Moreover, it implements different defuzzification methods and confidence level to represent contingency fuzzy numbers with crisp and interval values, respectively.

6.3.2 Industrial Contributions

The main industrial contributions of this research are summarised as follows:

- 1. Providing a useful reference on common potential risks affecting construction projects for future risk identification, analysis, and modeling purposes through systematic review and content analysis of published articles. This research provides industry practitioners with a list of the most common potential risks affecting construction projects as well as a comprehensive risk classification method applicable to different types of construction projects and project stakeholders. The list of identified risks and the proposed classification method contributes to the effectiveness and quality of the risk identification process.
- 2. Providing a risk modeling and analysis approach that allows construction industry practitioners to assess risks and opportunities by using subjective evaluation and experience. The proposed modeling and analysis approach allows experts to use natural language to assess the probability and impact of risk and opportunity events as well as the causal relationships between them. The proposed approach does not require historical data; rather it uses expert judgement, linguistic scales, and fuzzy numbers to overcome the data reliance challenges of probabilistic methods. Also, the proposed approach takes into account the importance weights of experts in aggregating experts' evaluations and

addresses limitations of consensus reaching process and Delphi methods, which require several rounds of revisions to reach to an acceptable level of agreement.

3. Providing a hybrid FSD modeling approach to understand the dynamic causal interactions and dependencies among risks; quantify and track their severity on work package cost; and determine work package and project contingency. Unlike the traditional risk analysis and contingency determination methods, the proposed FSD modeling approach allows industry practitioners to determine realistic work package and project contingencies by considering the dynamic nature of risk and opportunity events and the causal interactions that exist between them. It also allows industry practitioners to explore different scenarios and track the severity of interacting risk and opportunity events over time.

6.4 Research Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research

The limitations of this research and recommendations for future research are discussed in the following subsections.

6.4.1 Content Analysis on Risk Identification Process and Common Risks in Construction

The systematic review and content analysis carried out on risk identification process and common risks in construction is more general and not context specific. Using the research methodology adopted for the content analysis, future research should focus on the identification of common risks, risk identification tools and techniques, and risk classification methods for different contexts based on project type, project location, project stakeholders, and project delivery type; for example, the identification of common risks for public-private partnership infrastructure projects in a given country or region from the contractors' perspective.

Some of the common risks identified from the selected articles are not stated as risks (but rather, are expressed as consequences), and some are not stated in a systematic and clear way to reduce subjectivity in evaluating them. Thus, future research will focus on systematically structuring and detailing the way risks are stated and refining the descriptions of the identified risks for different project contexts.

The common risks identified from the selected articles are ranked solely based on their frequencies, i.e., the total number of references each risk had. The frequencies only reflect how common the risks are in the construction industry or how frequently the risks are identified in the selected articles and do not show the probability of occurrence, impact, or severity of the identified risks on project objectives. Further studies are required to conduct extensive surveys and assess the probability, impact, and severity of the identified risks and rank them based on their severity level for different types of projects and contexts.

The findings of the content analysis show that there are a vast number of risk management tools and techniques and risk classification methods in the literature. Therefore, it has become increasingly challenging to select an appropriate tool and technique and classification method for risk identification on construction projects. Future research is required to develop a framework to assist with the selection of an appropriate risk identification tool and technique and risk classification method. In order to develop such a framework, important criteria that need to be considered for the selection of risk identification tools and techniques and risk classification methods (e.g., complexity of the project, risk maturity of the organization, simplicity of use, completeness of the tools and techniques, etc.) should be identified, and a multi-criteria decisionmaking model should be developed. **6.4.2 Assessing Experts' Levels of Expertise and Assigning Importance weights to Experts** In the risk assessment and prioritization step of this research, importance weights of the experts were considered to be the same for risk assessment of a given project, regardless of the work package being assessed. However, in reality, some experts are more knowledgeable than others or have backgrounds more relevant to a specific work package. Consequently, the importance weights assigned to experts should vary based on the work package being assessed. Thus, future research should explore the development of weight assigning method that considers the expertise level of experts specific to the work package under evaluation. The FAHP weight-assigning model used in this research considers the elements in the hierarchy (criteria and sub-criteria (i.e., qualification attributes)) for assessing the experts' expertise level to be independent of one another. Future research will explore the development of a weight assigning method based on the fuzzy analytic network process (ANP), which accounts for the interdependence among criteria as well as the subcriteria belonging to a given criterion.

6.4.3 Development of Membership Functions for Linguistic Terms

In this research, the membership functions of the linguistic terms for assessing probability and impact of risk and opportunity events were generated based on a modified horizontal approach coupled with curve fitting, which is an expert-driven and direct method. The modified horizontal method is relatively simple to implement and allows the formulation of several questions into one question. However, it heavily relies on experts' judgements and can be subject to errors due to the subjectivity of experts and inconsistencies in answering questions. Expert-driven indirect methods such as pairwise comparison using the analytic hierarchy process (AHP), which allows for the checking of the consistency of the expert evaluations, and automatic data-driven approaches based

on clustering methods (e.g., fuzzy c-means clustering (FCM)) will be explored to specify membership functions of the linguistic terms.

6.4.4 Prioritization of Risk and Opportunity Events

In this research, the risk and opportunity events considered in the FSD model were prioritized based on the net severity percentage without taking into account the causal interactions between them. Thus, an improved prioritization procedure that considers both the net severity percentage and the causal interaction between the risk and opportunity events is recommended for further investigation. The risk and opportunity events would be prioritized using the new prioritization procedure as follows: first the defuzzified net severity percentage of each risk and opportunity event would be calculated as described in Chapter 4. Second, a fuzzy DEMATEL approach would be employed to determine the prominence, $(\tilde{R} + \tilde{C})^{def}$, and relation, $(\tilde{R} - \tilde{C})^{def}$, vectors, which reflect the level of causal interactions among the risk and opportunity events, as discussed in Chapter 4. Third, the importance weight of each risk and opportunity event would be determined by adding the squared values of the prominence and relation, and taking the square root (Can and Toktas 2018). Fourth, the relative importance weight of each risk and opportunity event would be determined by dividing the importance weight of a given risk and opportunity event by the sum of the importance weights of all risks and opportunities under consideration (Can and Toktas 2018). Fifth, the weighted net severity percentage of each risk and opportunity event would be determined by multiplying the net severity percentage with the relative importance weight. Finally, the risk and opportunity events would be ranked and prioritized based on the weighted net severity percentage.

6.4.5 Improvement of the Fuzzy DMEATEL Method

In this research, a fuzzy DEMATEL method was employed to establish the causal relationship between risk and opportunity events and to construct the CLDs. The fuzzy DEMATEL method involves lengthy mathematical procedures (matrix computations and fuzzy arithmetic calculations), which limit the use of this method by industry practitioners. Thus, a software tool should be developed in the future to automate the fuzzy DEMATEL procedures and facilitate tits implementation.

In this research, the threshold value to filter negligible causal relations was determined based on a 75th percentile value of all elements in the defuzzified total-relation matrix (T^{Def}). Future research should explore the use of other methods and algorithms, such as maximum mean deentropy (Li and Tzeng 2009), for determining the threshold value.

6.4.6 Implementation of Fuzzy Arithmetic Methods

In this research, the α -cut method and the extension principle based on drastic *t*-norm were implemented to carry out fuzzy arithmetic operations involving both triangular and trapezoidal fuzzy numbers in the FSD model. The fuzzy arithmetic method implemented in the FSD model should be extended to incorporate the other basic *t*-norms in engineering applications such as product *t*-norm (t_{prod}) and Lukasiewicz (bounded difference) *t*-norm (t_{Luk}) as well as common parametrised *t*-norms such as Yager *t*-norm, Hamacher *t*-norm, and Schweizer-Sklar *t*-norm. The parameterized *t*-norms are defined by explicit formula involving a parameter *p* and provide flexibility to adjust the amount of uncertainty included in the resulting fuzzy numbers by varying the parameters. The arithmetic method should also be extended, so that it can be applied on Gaussian fuzzy numbers, which is a common fuzzy number used in engineering applications other than triangular and trapezoidal fuzzy numbers.

6.4.7 Further Expansion of the FSD Model

The FSD model developed in this research is only capable of determining the severity of interacting risk and opportunity events on work package and project cost. Risk and opportunity events may have an impact on two or more project objectives at the same time (i.e., concurrent impact). Moreover, the cumulative impact of interrelated and interacting risks on two or more project objectives is different than the sum of the individual impacts of independent risks on a specific project objective (Boateng 2012). Thus, this research should be extended in the future to develop a FSD model to determine the concurrent and cumulative impact of risk and opportunity events on two or more project objectives (e.g., cost, schedule, quality, and safety and health). In particular, the FSD model will be extended to determine the severity of risk and opportunity events in terms of not only cost but also impact on the project schedule, including extensions of time.

The number of experts involved in defining the causal relationships between the risk and opportunity events and constructing the CLDs was few. Moreover, the FSD modelling methodology was applied only to one windfarm project. In future research, more experts should be involved and more projects should be considered in developing a generalizable FSD model for determining work package and project contingencies for the construction of wind farm projects. The CLDs were reviewed and verified by the same experts who completed the fuzzy DEMATEL survey. In the future, "cold eye" reviews should be done on the CLDS by experts who were not involved in the qualitative model development stage. For validation purpose, the project contingencies estimated by FSD was compared with MCS and FCD[©] contingency estimates, both

of which determine project contingency by considering risk and opportunity events to be independent and static. Thus, further validation should be done by comparing the FSD contingency results with the final actual cost variance of completed work packages and project to check if the FSD model offers better predictive capability than MCS and FCD[©]. Further validation will also help in selecting the appropriate fuzzy arithmetic and defuzzification method for future projects.

The FSD model developed in this research only deals with subjective uncertainties. Hence, this research should be extended to provide the ability to account for both probabilistic (i.e., randomness) and subjective uncertainties in the FSD. Future research should also explore the application of machine learning techniques, such as data-driven fuzzy rule-based systems (FRBSs), artificial neural networks (ANNs), fuzzy neural networks, and neuro-fuzzy systems to define the relationships between system variables in FSD automatically from data.

Traditional risk management techniques do not support the risk response stage. Rather, they focus primarily on the risk identification and analysis stages and tend to recommend response strategies based on the severity level of risk and opportunity events without further investigating the impact of response strategies on work package and project contingency. Furthermore, most techniques do not take into account the impact of secondary risks, which may arise as a direct result of implementing a response strategy. Therefore, future research is required to develop an FSD model that is capable of incorporating response strategies for critical risks along with their associated secondary risks to determine their severity on work package and project contingency and evaluate the effectiveness of response strategies prior to their implementation.

6.5 References

- Boateng, P., Chen, Z., Ogunlana, S., and Ikediashi, D. (2012). "A system dynamics approach to risks description in megaprojects development." *Organization, Technology, and Management in Construction: an International Journal*, 4(3), 593–603.
- Can, G.F., and Toktas, P. (2018). "A novel fuzzy risk matrix based risk assessment approach." *Kybernetes*, 47(9), 1721–1751.
- Li, C.W., and Tzeng, G.H (2009). "Identification of a threshold value for the DEMATEL method using the maximum mean de-entropy algorithm to find critical services provided by a semiconductor intellectual property mall." *Expert Systems with Applications*, 36, 9891–9898.

Bibliography

- AACE International (The Association for the Advancement of Cost Engineering International).
 (2007). "Cost engineering terminology." *Recommended practice 10S–90*, AACE International, Morgantown, WV.
- Abdelgawad, M., and Fayek, A.R. (2010). "Risk management in the construction industry using combined fuzzy FMEA and fuzzy AHP." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 136(9), 1028–1036.
- Abdelgawad, M., and Fayek, A.R. (2011). "Fuzzy reliability analyzer: Quantitative assessment of risk events in the construction industry using fault-tree analysis." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 137(4), 294–302.
- Abdelgawad, M.A. (2011). "Hybrid decision support system for risk criticality assessment and risk analysis." Ph.D. thesis, Uni. of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada.
- Abourizk, S.M. (2008). *Risk analysis for construction projects: a practical guide for engineers and project managers*. Hole School of Construction Engineering and Management, Univ. of Alberta.
- Al-Bahar, J.F., and Crandall, K.C. (1990). "Systematic risk management approach for construction projects." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 116(3), 533–546.
- Al-Sabah, R., Menassa, C.C., and Hanna, A. (2014). "Evaluating impact of construction risks in the Arabian Gulf region from perspective of multinational architecture, engineering and construction firms." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 32(4), 382–402.
- Alzraiee, H., Zayed, T., and Moselhi, O. (2015). "Dynamic planning of construction activities using hybrid simulation." *Automat. Constr.*, 49, 176–192.

- Ardeshir, A., Amiri, M., Ghasemi, Y., and Errington, M. (2014) "Risk assessment of construction projects for water conveyance tunnels using fuzzy fault tree analysis." *Int. J. Civ. Eng.*, 12(14), 396–412.
- Banaitiene, N., and Banaitis, A. (2012). *Risk management Current issues and challenges: Risk management in construction projects*, InTech, 429–448.
- Barraza, G. and Bueno, R. (2007). "Cost contingency management." *J. Manage. Eng.*, 23(3), 140–146.
- Baumann, S., Erber, I., and Gattringer, M. (2016). "Selection of risk identification instruments." *Journal of Finance and Risk Perspective*, 5(2), 27–41.
- Bavafa, A., Mahdiyayar, A., and Marsono, A.K. (2018). "Identifying and assessing the critical factors for effective implementation of safety programs in construction projects." *Safety Sci.*, 106, 47–56.
- Bing, L., Akintoye, A., Edwards, P.J., and Hardcastle, C. (2005). "The allocation of risk in PPP/PFI construction projects in the UK." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 23, 25–35.
- Boateng, P., Chen, Z., Ogunlana, S., and Ikediashi, D. (2012). "A system dynamics approach to risks description in megaprojects development." *Organization, Technology, and Management in Construction: an International Journal*, 4(3), 593–603.
- British Standard. (2000). "Project management—Part 1: Guide to project management." *BS6079-1:2000*, British Standards Institute. ISBN 0-580-25594-8.
- Bu-Qammaz, A.S., Dikmen, I., and Birgonul, M.T. (2009). "Risk assessment of international construction projects using the analytic network process." *Can. J. Civil Eng.*, 36, 1170–1181.

- Can, G.F., and Toktas, P. (2018). "A novel fuzzy risk matrix based risk assessment approach." *Kybernetes*, 47(9), 1721–1751.
- Case D.M., and Stylios, C.D. (2016). "Fuzzy cognitive map to model project management problems." *Proc. Annual Conference of the North American Fuzzy Information Processing Society (NAFIPS), IEEE*, Texas, USA, 1–6.
- Chan, A.P.C., Chan, D.W.M., and Yeung, J.F.Y (2009). "Overview of the application of 'fuzzy techniques' in construction management research." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 135(11), 1241–1252.
- Chang, P., Pai, P., Lin, K., and Wu, M. (2006). "Applying fuzzy arithmetic to the system dynamics for the customer–producer–employment model." *Int. J. Syst. Sci.*, 37(10), 673–698.
- Chapman, C., and Ward, S. (2003). *Project risk management: Processes, techniques and insights*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, U.K.
- Choudhry, R.M., and Iqbal, K. (2013). "Identification of risk management system in Construction industry in Pakistan." *J. Mange. Eng.*, 29(1), 42–49.
- CII (Construction Industry Institute). (2012). "Applying probabilistic risk management in design and construction projects." Univ. of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX.
- Coyle, G. (2000). "Qualitative and quantitative modelling in system dynamics: Some research questions." *Sys. Dyn. Rev.*, 16(3), 225–244.
- De Marco, A., Rafele, C., and Thaheem, M.J. (2016). "Dynamic management of risk contingency in complex design-build projects." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 142(2), 04015080-1–04015080-10.

- Dehdasht, G., Zin, R.M., Ferwati, M.S., Abdullahi, M.M., Keyvanfar, A., and McCaffer, R. (2018). "DEMATEL-ANP risk assessment in oil and gas construction projects." *Sustainability*, 9, 1420-1–1420-24.
- Ebrahimnejad, S., Mousavi, S.M., and Seyrafianpour, H. (2010). "Risk identification and assessment for build–operate–transfer projects: A fuzzy multi attribute decision making model." *Expert Syst. Appl.*, 37, 575–586.
- Eden, C., Williams, T., Ackermann, F., and Howick, S. (2000). "The role of feedback dynamics in disruption and delay on the nature of disruption and delay (D&D) in major projects." *J. Oper. Res. Soc.*, 51, 291–300.
- Edwards, P.J, and Bowen, P.A (1998). "Risk and risk management in construction: a review and future directions for research." *Eng. Constr. Archit. Manage.*, 5(4), 339–349.
- Elbarkouky, M.G., Fayek, A. Robinson, Siraj, N.B., and Sadeghi, N. (2016). "Fuzzy arithmetic risk analysis approach to determine construction project contingency." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 142(12)04016070-1–04016070-11.
- El-Sayegh, S.M. (2008). "Risk assessment and allocation in the UAE construction industry." Int. J. Project Manage., 26, 431–438.
- El-Sayegh, S.M., and Mansour, M.H. (2015). "Risk assessment allocation in highway construction projects in the UAE." *J. Mange. Eng.*, 31(6), 04015004-1–04015004-11.
- Fang, C., and Marle, F. (2012). "A simulation-based risk network model for decision support in project risk management." *Decis. Support Syst.*, 52, 635–644.

- Forcada, N., Rusiñol, G., MacArulla, M., and Love, P.E.D. (2014). "Rework in highway projects." J. Civ. Eng. Manag., 20(4), 445–465.
- Ford, D.N. (2002). "Achieving multiple project objectives through contingency management." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 128(1), 30–39.
- Ford, D.N., Anderson, S.D., Damron, A.J., Casas, R., Gokmen, N., and Kuennen, S. (2004).
 "Managing constructibility reviews to reduce highway project durations." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 130(1), 33–42.
- Ghassemi, A., and Darvishpour, A. (2018). "A novel approach for risk evaluation and risk response planning in a geothermal drilling project using DEMATEL and fuzzy ANP." *Decision Science Letters*, 31(6), 04015004-1–04015004-11.
- Goh, C.S., Abdul-Rahman, H., and Abdul Samad, Z. (2013). "Applying risk management workshop for a public construction project: Case study." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 139(5), 572–580.
- Gray, C. and Larson, E. (2003). Project management: The managerial process. 2nd ed., McGraw-Hill, New York, NY.
- Grimaldi, S., Rafele, C., and Cagliano, A.C. (2012). *Risk management Current issues and challenges: A framework to select techniques supporting project risk management*, InTech, 67–96.
- Han, S., Lee, S., and Park, M. (2014). "Dynamic Project Management: An Application of SystemDynamics in Construction Engineering and Management." In: Xu H., Wang X. (eds)*Optimization and Control Methods in Industrial Engineering and Construction, Intelligent*

Systems, Control and Automation: Science and Engineering, 72. Springer, Dordrecht, 219–231.

- Hanss, M. (2005). Applied fuzzy arithmetic an introduction with engineering applications, Springer, Berlin.
- Hillson, D. (2001). "Effective strategies for exploiting opportunities." Proc., Project Management Institute Annual Seminars and Symposiums, Nashville, Tennessee, USA.
- Hillson, D. (2002). "Extending the risk process to manage opportunities." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 20, 235–240.
- Hillson, D., 1999. "Developing effective risk responses." Proceedings of the 30th Annual Project Management Institute, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA.
- Hong, Y., Liyin, S., Yongtao, T., and Jianli, H. (2011). "Simulating the impacts of policy scenarios on the sustainability performance of infrastructure projects." *Automat. Constr.*, 20, 1060–1069.
- Hosseini, M.R., Chileshe, N. Jepson, J., and Arashpour, M. (2016). "Critical success factors for implementing risk management systems in developing countries." *Construction Economic and Building*, 16(1), 18–32.
- Howick, S. (2005). "Using system dynamics models with litigation audiences." *Eur. J. Oper. Res.*, 162, 239–250.
- Hwang, B., Zhao, X., and Gay, M.J.S. (2013). "Public private partnership projects in Singapore: factors, critical risks and preferred risk allocation from the perspective of contractors." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 31, 424–433.

- Hwang, S., Park, M., Lee, H., and Lee, S. (2016). "Hybrid simulation framework for immediate facility restoration planning after a catastrophic disaster." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 142(8), 04016026-1–04016026-15.
- Islam, M.S., and Nepal, M. (2016). "A fuzzy-Bayesian model for risk assessment in power plant projects." *Procedia Comput. Sci.*, 100, 963–970.
- Islam, M.S., Nepal, M.P., Skitmore, M., and Attarzadeh, M. (2017). "Current research trends and application areas of fuzzy and hybrid methods to the risk assessment of construction projects." *Adv. Eng. Inform.*, 33, 112–131.
- ISO (The International Organization for Standardization). (2009). "Risk management principles and guideline." *ISO 31000:2009*, International Standard Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Iyer, K.C., and Sagheer, M. (2010). "Hierarchical structuring of PPP risks using interpretative structural modeling." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 136(2), 151–159.
- Jalal, M.P., and Shoar, S. (2017). "A hybrid SD-DEMATEL approach to develop a delay model for construction projects." *Eng. Construct. Architect. Manage.*, 24(4), 629–651.
- Jayasudha, K. and Vidivelli, B. (2016). "Analysis of major risks in construction projects." *ARPN Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences*, 11(11), 6943–6950.
- Karavezyris, V., Timpe, K., and Marzi, R. (2002). "Application of system dynamics and fuzzy logic to forecasting of municipal solid waste." *Math. Comput. Simulat.*, 60, 149–158.
- Khanzadi, M., Nasirzadeh, F., and Alipour, M. (2012). "Integrating system dynamics and fuzzy logic modeling to determine concession period in BOT projects." *Automat. Constr.*, 22, 368– 376.

- Khanzadi, M., Nasirzadeh, F., Mir, M., and Nojedehi, P. (2018). "Prediction and improvement of labor productivity using hybrid system dynamics and agent-based modeling approach." *Construction Innovation*, 18(1), 2–19.
- Krippendorff, K. (2013). *Content Analysis: An introduction to its methodology*, Third edition, SAGE, Los Angeles.
- Kwan, T. W., and Leung, H. K. N. (2011). "A risk management methodology for project risk dependencies." *IEEE T. Software Eng.*, 37(5), 635–648.
- Lam, K.C., Wang, D., Lee, P.T.K., and Tsang, Y.T. (2007). "Modelling risk allocation decision in construction contracts." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 25, 485–493.
- Lazzerini, B., and Mkrtchyan, L. (2011). "Analyzing risk impact factors using extended fuzzy cognitive maps" *IEEE Syst. J.*, 5(2), 288–297.
- Lee, N., and Schaufelberger, J.E. (2014). "Risk management strategies for privatized infrastructure projects: Study of the build–operate–transfer approach in east Asia and the Pacific." *J. Mange. Eng.*, 30(3), 05014001-1–05014001-9.
- Lee, S. and Peña-Mora, F. (2007). "Understanding and managing iterative error and change cycles in construction." *Syst. Dynam. Rev.*, 23(1), 35–60.
- Lee, S. H., Peña-Mora, F., and Park, M., (2006). "Dynamic planning and control methodology for strategic and operational construction project management." *Automat. Constr.*, 15, 84–97.
- Lee, S.H., Pena-Mora, F., and Park, M. (2005). "Quality and change management model for large scale concurrent design and construction projects." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 131 (8), 890– 902.
- Leon, H., Osman, H., Georgy, M., and Elsaid, M. (2018). "System Dynamics Approach for Forecasting Performance of Construction Projects." J. Manage. Eng., 34(1), 04017049-1– 04017049-14.
- Li, C.W., and Tzeng, G.H (2009). "Identification of a threshold value for the DEMATEL method using the maximum mean de-entropy algorithm to find critical services provided by a semiconductor intellectual property mall." *Expert Systems with Applications*, 36, 9891–9898.
- Li, J., and Zou, P.X.W. (2011). "Fuzzy AHP-based risk assessment methodology for PPP projects." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 137(12), 1205–1209.
- Lin, K.P., Wu, M.J., Hung, K.C., and Kuo, Y. (2011). "Developing the weakest *t*-norm fuzzy GERT for evaluating uncertain process reliability in semiconductor manufacturing." *Appl. Soft Comput.*, 11(8), 5165–5180.
- Lin, Z., and Jianping, Y. (2011). "Risk assessment based on fuzzy network (F-ANP) in new campus construction project." *Syst. Eng. Proc.*, 1, 162–168.
- Ling, F.Y.Y., and Hoi, L. (2006). "Risks faced by Singapore firms when undertaking construction projects in India." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 24, 261–270.
- Lingard, H., and Turner, M. (2017). "Promoting construction workers' health: a multi-level system perspective." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 35(5), 239–253.
- Liu, S., Triantis, K., and Sarangi, S. (2011) "Representing qualitative variables and their interactions with fuzzy logic in system dynamics modeling." *Syst. Res. Behav. Sci.*, 28, 245– 263.

- Lo, W., and Yan, M.R. (2009). "Evaluating qualification-based selection system: a simulation approach." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 135(6), 458–465.
- Lo, W., Lin, C.L., and Yan, M.R. (2007). "Contractor's opportunistic bidding behaviour and equilibrium price level in the construction market." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 133(6), 409–416.
- Love, P.E., Holt, L.Y., Shen, L.Y., Li, B., and Irani, Z. (2002). "Using system dynamics to better understand change and rework in construction project management systems." *Int. J. Proj. Manage.*, 20, 425–436.
- Lyons, T., and Skitmore, M. (2004). "Project risk management in the Queensland engineering construction industry: A survey." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 22, 51–61.
- Mak, S., and Picken, D. (2000). "Using risk analysis to determine construction project contingencies." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 126(2), 130–136.
- Marle, F., and Gidel, T. (2012). "Assisting project risk management method selection." *Int. J. Project Org. Manage.*, 1–32.
- Marzouk, M., and Hamdy, A. (2013). "Quantifying weather impact on formwork shuttering and removal operation using system dynamics." *KSCE J. Civ. Eng.*, 17(4), 620–626.
- Mauris, G., Lasserre, V., and Foulloy, L. (2001). "A fuzzy approach for the expression of uncertainty in measurement." *Measurement.*, 29(3), 165–177.
- Menassa, C., and Peña-Mora, F. (2010). "Hybrid model incorporating real options with process centric and system dynamics modeling to assess value of investments in alternative dispute resolution techniques." *J. Comput. Civ. Eng.*, 24(5), 414–429.

- Mohammadi, A., and Tavakolan, M. (2013). "Construction project risk assessment using combined fuzzy and FMEA." *Proc., Int. Fuzzy Systems Association (IFSA) World Congress and North American Fuzzy Information Processing Society (NAFIPS) Annual Meeting*, IEEE, New York, 232–237.
- Mojtahedi, S.M.H., Mousavi, S.M., and Makui, A. (2010). "Project risk identification and assessment simultaneously using multi-attribute group decision making technique." *Safety Sci.*, 48, 499–507.
- Monzer, N., Fayek, A. Robinson, Lourenzutti, R., and Siraj, N.B. (2019). "Aggregation-based framework for construction risk assessment with heterogeneous group of experts." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 145(3), 04019003-1–04019003-10.
- Moradi, S., Nasirzadeh, F., and Golkhoo, F. (2015). "A hybrid SD–DES simulation approach to model construction projects." *Construction Innovation*, 15(1), 66–83.
- Nasirzadeh, F., Afshar, A., and Khanzadi, M., and Howick, S. (2013). "Modeling quality management in construction projects." *Int. J. Civ. Eng.*, 11, 14–22.
- Nasirzadeh, F., Afshar, A., Khanzadi, M., and Howick, S. (2007). "System dynamics approach to optimum response selection in construction project risks." Proc., International Project Management Conference. http://www.mbaforum.ir/download/mba/pm/3th/166.pdf, accessed August 2014.
- Nasirzadeh, F., Afshar, A., Khanzadi, M., and Howick, S. (2008). "Integrating system dynamics and fuzzy logic modelling for construction risk management." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 26, 1197–1212.

- Nasirzadeh, F., Khanzadi, M., and Mir, M. (2018). "A hybrid simulation framework for modelling construction projects using agent-based modelling and system dynamics: an application to model construction workers' safety behavior." *Int. J. Constr. Manage.*, 18(2), 132–143.
- Nasirzadeh, F., Khanzadi, M., and Rezaie, M. (2014). "Dynamic modeling of the quantitative risk allocation in construction projects." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 32, 442–451.
- Nazeri, A., and Naderikia, R. (2017). "A new fuzzy approach to identify the critical risk factors in maintenance management." *Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol.*, 92, 3749–3783.
- Ng, H.S., Peña-Mora, F., and Tamaki, T. (2007). "Dynamic conflict management in large-scale design and construction projects." *J. Manage. Eng.*, 23(2), 52–66.
- Nielsen, K.R (2006). "Risk management: Lessons from six continents." J. Mange. Eng., 22(2), 61–67.
- Nojedehi, P., and Nasirzadeh, F. (2017). "A hybrid simulation approach to model and improve construction labor productivity." *KSCE J. Civ. Eng.*, 21(5), 1516–1524.
- Park, M. (2005). "Model-based dynamic resource management for construction projects." *Automat. Constr.*, 14, 585–598.
- Pedrycz, W. and Gomide, F., 2007. *Fuzzy System Engineering: Toward Human-Centric Computing*, John Wiley and Sons, Hoboken, NJ.
- Peña-Mora, F., and Li, M., (2001). "Dynamic planning and control methodology for design/build fast-track construction projects." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 127, 1–17.
- PMI (The Project Management Institute). (2013). *The project management body of knowledge* (*PMBOK Guide*), 5th Ed, the Project Management Institute (PMI), Pennsylvania, U.S.

- Raoufi, M., Seresht, N. G., Siraj, N.B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2018). "Fuzzy simulation techniques in construction engineering and management." Fuzzy Hybrid Computing in Construction Engineering and Management: Theory and Applications edited by Fayek, A. Robinson, 149–178. Emerald Publishing Limited, UK.
- Rashedi, R., and Hegazy, T. (2016). "Holistic analysis of infrastructure deterioration and rehabilitation using system dynamics." *J. Infrastruct. Syst.*, 22(1), 04015016-1–04015016-10.
- Ren, H., 1994. "Risk lifecycle and risk relationships on construction projects." Int. J. Project Manage., 12(2), pp. 68–74.
- Rostami, A. (2016). "Tools and techniques in risk identification: A research within SMEs in the UK construction industry." *Universal Journal of Management*, 4(4), 203–210.
- Sabounchi, N.S., Triantis, K., Sarangi, S., and Liu, S. (2011). "Fuzzy modeling of linguistic variables in a system dynamics context." *Proc., Int. System Dynamics Conf.*, Washington, DC.
- Sadeghi, N., Fayek, A.R., and Pedrycz, W. (2010). "Fuzzy Monte Carlo simulation and risk assessment in construction." *Comput.-Aided Civ. Inf.*, 25(4), 238–252.
- Salah, A., and Moselhi, O. (2015). "Contingency modelling for construction projects using fuzzy set theory." *Eng. Construct. Architect. Manage.*, 22(2), 214–241.
- Samani, B. A., and Shahbodaghlou, F. (2015). "A fuzzy systematic approach to construction risk analysis." *Journal of Risk Analysis and crisis Response*, 2(4), 275–284.
- Seker, S., and Zavadskas, E.K. (2017). "Application of Fuzzy DEMATEL method for analyzing occupational risks on construction sites." *Sustainability*, 9, 2083-1–1420-19.

- Seresht, N.G., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2018). "Dynamic modeling of multifactor construction productivity for equipment-intensive activities." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 144(9), 04018091-1–04018091-15.
- Shaheen, A.A., Fayek, A. Robinson, and AbouRizk, S.M. (2007). "Fuzzy numbers in cost range estimating." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 133(4), 325–334.
- Shrestha, A., Chan, T.K., Aibinu, A.A., Chen, C., and Martek, I. (2017). "Risks in PPP water projects in China: Perspective of local governments." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 143(7), 05017006-1–05017006-12.
- Siraj, N.B., and Fayek, A. Robinson (2019). "Risk identification and common risks in construction: Literature review and content analysis." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 145(9), 03119004-1–03119004-13.
- Siraj, N.B., Fayek, A. Robinson, and Elbarkouky, M. M. G. (2018). "Fuzzy consensus and fuzzy aggregation processes for multi-criteria group decision-making problems in construction engineering and management." Fuzzy Hybrid Computing in Construction Engineering and Management: Theory and Applications edited by Fayek, A. Robinson, 229–275. Emerald Publishing Limited, UK.
- Sterman, J.D. (1992). "System dynamics modeling for project management." Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Sloan School of Management, Cambridge, Mass.
- Sterman, J.D. (2000). *Business dynamics: System thinking and modeling for a complex world*, McGraw-Hill Companies, New York, NY.

- Tadayon, M., Jaafar, M., and Nasri, E. (2012). "An assessment of risk identification in large construction projects in Iran" *Journal of Construction in Developing Countries*, 17(1), 57–69.
- Tah, J. H. M., and McCaffer, R. (1993). "Contractor project risks contingency allocation using linguistic approximation." *Comput. Syst. Eng.*, 4(2–3), 04017084-1–04017084-11.
- Tah, J.H.M., and Carr, V. (2000). "A proposal for construction project risk assessment using fuzzy logic." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 18(4), 491–500.
- Tang, W., Qiang, M., Duffield, C.F., Young, D.M., and Lu, Y. (2007). "Risk management in the Chinese construction industry." J. Constr. Eng. Manage., 133(12), 944–956.
- Taroun, A. (2014). "Towards a better modelling and assessment of construction risk: Insights from a literature review." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 32, 101–115.
- Tatari, O., Castro-Lacouture, D., Skibniewski, M.J. (2008). "Performance evaluation of construction enterprise resource planning systems." J. Manage. Eng., 24(4), 198–206.
- Tavakolan, M., and Etemadinia, H. (2017). "Fuzzy weighted interpretive structural modeling: Improved method for identification of risk interactions in construction projects." *J. Constr. Eng. Manage.*, 143(11), 04017084-1–04017084-11.
- Valipour, A., Yahay, N., Noor, N.M., Kildienė, S., Sarvari, H., and Mardani, A. (2015). "A fuzzy analytic network process method for risk prioritization in freeway PPP projects: an Iranian case study." J. Civ. Eng. Manag., 21(7), 933–947.
- Vickerman, R. (2007). "Cost-benefit analysis and large-scale infrastructure projects: state of the art and challenges." *Environmental and Planning: Planning and Design*, 34(1), 598–610.

- Wan, J., and Liu, Y. (2014). "A system dynamics model for risk analysis during project construction process." *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, 2, 451–454.
- Wang, J., and Yuan, H. (2017). "System dynamics approach for investigating the risk effects on schedule delay in infrastructure projects." J. Manage. Eng., 33(1), 04016029-1–04016029-13.
- Wang, S. Q., Dulaimi, M. F., and Aguria, M. Y. (2004). "Risk management framework for construction projects in developing countries." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 22, 237–252.
- Williams, T., Ackermann, F., and Eden, C., (2003). "Structuring a delay and disruption claim: an application of cause-mapping and system dynamics." *Eur. J. Oper. Res.*, 148, 192–204.
- Willmott, C. J., and Matsuura, K. (2017). "Advantage of the mean absolute error over the root mean square error (RMSE) in assessing average model performance." *Clim. Res.*, 30(1), 79– 82.
- Wing, C.K. (1997). "The ranking of construction management journals." *Constr. Manage. Econ.*, 15(4), 387–398.
- Xiong, B., Skitmore, M., and Xia, B. (2015). "A critical review of structural equation modeling applications in construction research." *Automat. Constr.*, 49, 59–70.
- Yi, W., and Chan, A.P.C. (2014). "Critical review of labor productivity research in construction journals." J. Mange. Eng., 30(2), 214–225.
- Yu, Y., Chan, A.P.C., Chen, C., and Darko, A. (2018). "Critical risk factors of transnational publicprivate partnership projects: Literature review." *J. Infrastruct. Syst.*, 24(1), 04017042-1– 04017042-11.

- Zayed, T., Amer, M., and Pan, J. (2008). "Assessing risk and uncertainty inherent in Chinese highway projects using AHP." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 26, 408–419.
- Zeng, J., Min, A., and Smith, N.J. (2007). "Application of a fuzzy based decision making methodology to construction project risk assessment." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 25, 589–600.
- Zhang, X., Wu, Y., Shen, L., and Skitmore, M. (2014). "A prototype system dynamic model for assessing the sustainability of construction projects." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 32, 66–76.
- Zhang, Y., 2016. "Selecting risk response strategies considering project risk interdependence." Int. J. Project Manage., 34, pp. 819–830.
- Zou, P.X.W., and Zhang, G. (2009). "Managing risks in construction projects: Life cycle and stakeholder perspectives." *International Journal of Construction Management*, 9(1), 61–77.
- Zou, P.X.W., Zhang, G., and Wang, J. (2007). "Understanding the key risks in construction projects in China." *Int. J. Project Manage.*, 25, 601–614.

Appendices

Journal Name Title of the article No. Author(s) Year 2015 Evaluation and Ranking of Risk Factors in Public–Private ESA Ameyaw, E.E. and Chan, A.P.C. Partnership Water Supply Projects in Developing Countries Using Fuzzy Synthetic Evaluation Approach 2 ESA Ebrahimnejad, S., Mousavi, S.M., 2010 Risk Identification and Assessment for Build-Operateand Sevrafianpour, H. Transfer Projects: A Fuzzy Multi Attribute Decision Making Model 3 Generating Project Risk Response Strategies Based on ESA Fan, Z., Li, Y, and Zhang, Y. 2015 CBR: A Case Study 4 ESA Mousavi, S.M., Tavakkoli-2011 Risk Assessment for Highway Projects Using Jackknife Moghaddam, R., Azaron, A., Technique Mojtahedi, S.M.H., and Hashemi, H. 5 AC Cheng, M. and Lu, Y. 2015 Developing a Risk Assessment Method for Complex Pipe Jacking Construction Projects 6 Chien, K., Wu, Z., and Huang, S. 2014 Identifying and Assessing Critical Risk Factors for BIM AC Projects: Empirical Study 7 Dikmen, I., Birgonul, M.T., Anac, Learning from risks: A Tool for Post-Project Risk AC 2008 C., Tah, J.H.M., and Aouad, G. Assessment 8 AC Ding, L.Y., Yu, H.L., Li, H., Zhou, 2012 Safety Risk Identification System for Metro Construction C., Wu, X.G., Yu, M.H. on the Basis of Construction Drawings 9 AC Tserng, H.P., Yin, S.Y.L., Dzeng, 2009 A Study of Ontology-Based Risk Management R.J., Wou, B., Tsai, M.D., and Framework of Construction Projects through Project Life Chen, W.Y. Cycle 10 AC 2010 Developing a Risk Assessment Model for PPP Projects in Xu, Y., Yeung, J.F.Y., Chan, A.P.C. Chan, D.W.M., Wang, China — A Fuzzy Synthetic Evaluation Approach S.O., and Ke, Y. 11 AC Yildiz, A.E., Dikmen, I., Birgonul, 2014 A Knowledge-based Risk mapping Tool for Cost M.T., Ercoskun, K., and Alten, S. **Estimation of International Construction Projects** 12 IJPM Akintoye, A.S. and Macleod, M.J. 1997 Risk Analysis and Management in Construction 13 IJPM Baloi, D. and Price, A.D.F. 2003 Modelling Global Risk Factors Affecting Construction Cost Performance 14 IJPM Bing, L., Akintoye, A., Edwards, 2005 The Allocation of Risk in PPP/PFI Construction Projects P.J., and Hardcastle, C. in the UK 15 IJPM Dikmen, I., Birgonul, M.T., and 2007 Using Fuzzy Risk Assessment to Rate Cost Overrun Risk in International Construction Projects Han, S. Risk Assessment and Allocation in the UAE Construction 16 IJPM El-Sayegh, S.M. 2008 Industry 17 IJPM Ghosh, S. and Jintanapakanont, J. 2004 Identifying and Assessing the Critical Risk Factors in an Underground Rail Project in Thailand: A Factor Analysis Approach 18 IJPM Hwang, B., Zhao, X., and Gay, 2013 Public Private Partnership Projects in Singapore: Factors, Critical Risks and Preferred Risk Allocation from the M.J.S. Perspective of Contractors 19 IJPM Jin, X. and Zhang, G. 2011 Modelling Optimal Risk Allocation in PPP Projects Using Artificial Neural Networks 20 IJPM Kartam, N.A. and Kartam, S.A. 2001 Risk and Its Management in the Kuwaiti Construction Industry: A Contractors' Perspective Ke, Y., Wang, S.Q., Chan, A.P.C., 21 IJPM 2010 Preferred Risk Allocation in China's Public-Private and Lam, P.T.I. Partnership (PPP) Projects

Appendix A. Selected Articles for the Content Analysis

	Journal			
No.	Name	Author(s)	Year	Title of the article
22	IJPM	Kuo, Y. and Lu, S.	2013	Using Fuzzy Multiple Criteria Decision Making Approach to Enhance Risk Assessment for Metropolitan
23	IJPM	Lam, K.C., Wang, D., Lee, P.T.K.,	2007	Construction Projects Modelling Risk Allocation Decision in Construction
24	HPM	Liu I lin F Xie O and	2017	Improving Risk Assessment in Financial Feasibility of
24	191 101	Skitmore, M.	2017	International Engineering Projects: A Risk Driver Perspective
25	IJPM	Lu, S. and Yan, H.	2013	A Comparative Study of the Measurements of Perceived Risk among Contractors in China
26	IJPM	Nieto-Morote, A. and Ruz-Vila, F.	2011	A Fuzzy Approach to Construction Project Risk Assessment
27	IJPM	Qazi, A., Quigley, J., Dickson, A., and Kirytopoulos, K.	2016	Project Complexity and Risk Management (ProCRiM): Towards Modelling Project Complexity Driven Risk Paths in Construction Projects
28	IJPM	Yu, T., Shen, G.Q., Shi, Q., Lai, X., Li, C.Z., and Xu, K.	2017	Managing Social Risks at the Housing Demolition Stage of Urban Redevelopment Projects: A Stakeholder- Oriented Study Lleing Social Network Analysis
29	IJPM	Zayed, T., Amer, M., and Pan, J.	2008	Assessing Risk and Uncertainty Inherent in Chinese
30	IJPM	Zeng, J., Min, A., and Smith, N.J	2007	Application of a Fuzzy Based Decision Making
31	IJPM	Zhang, Y.	2016	Selecting Risk Response Strategies Considering Project Risk Interdependence
32	IJPM	Zhi, H.	1995	Risk Management for Overseas Construction Projects
33	IJPM	Zou, P.X.W., Zhang, G., and Wang, J.	2007	Understanding the Key Risks in Construction Projects in China
34	B&E	Jannadi, O.A.	2008	Risks Associated with Trenching Works in Saudi Arabia
35	B&E	Oztas, A. and Okmen, O.	2004	Risk Analysis in Fixed-Price Design–Build Construction Projects
36	B&E	Oztas, A. and Okmen, O.	2005	Judgmental Risk Analysis Process Development in Construction Projects
37	B&E	Tam, V.W.Y., Shen, L.Y., Tam, C M and Pang W W S	2007	Investigating the Intentional Quality Risks in Public Foundation Projects: A Hong Kong Study
38	B&E	Zhang, L., Wu, X., Ding, L., and Skibniewski M I	2013	A Novel Model for Risk Assessment of Adjacent Buildings in Tunneling Environments
39	JCEM	Al-Bahar, J.F. and Crandall, K.C.	1990	Systematic Risk Management Approach for Construction Projects
40	JCEM	Babar, S., Thaheem, M.J., and Ayub B	2017	Estimated Cost at Completion: Integrating Risk into Earned Value Management
41	JCEM	Chan, E.H.W. and Au, M.C.Y.	2009	Factors Influencing Building Contractors' Pricing for Time-Related Risks in Tenders
42	JCEM	Chang, C. and Ko, J.	2017	New Approach to Estimating the Standard Deviations of Lognormal Cost Variables in the Monte Carlo Analysis of Construction Risks
43	JCEM	Choudhry, R.M., Aslam, M.A., Hinze LW and Arian F.M.	2012	Cost and Schedule Risk Analysis of Bridge Construction
44	JCEM	Creedy, G.D., Skitmore, M. and	2010	Evaluation of Risk Factors Leading to Cost Overrun in
45	JCEM	Wong, J.K.W. Diab, M.F., Varma, A., and Kamalesh, P.	2017	Modeling the Construction Risk Ratings to Estimate the Contingency in Highway Projects

	Journal			
No.	Name	Author(s)	Year	Title of the article
46	JCEM	Dikmen, I., Birgonul, M.T., Tah,	2004	Web-Based Risk Assessment Tool Using Integrated
		J.H.M., and Ozer, A.H.		Duration–Cost Influence Network Model
47	JCEM	Elbarkouky, M.G., Fayek, A.R.,	2016	Fuzzy Arithmetic Risk Analysis Approach to Determine
		Siraj, N.B., and Sadeghi, N.		Construction Project Contingency
48	JCEM	Eybpoosh, M., Dikmen, I. and	2011	Identification of Risk Paths in International Construction
		Birgonul, M.T.		Projects Using Structural Equation Modeling
49	JCEM	Fang, D., Mingen, L., Fong, P.S.,	2004	Risks in Chinese Construction Market-Contractors'
		and Liyin, S.		Perspective
50	JCEM	Goh, C.S., Abdul-Rahman, H., and	2013	Applying Risk Management Workshop for a Public
		Abdul Samad, Z.		Construction Project: Case Study
51	JCEM	Iyer, K.C., and Sagheer, M.	2010	Hierarchical Structuring of PPP Risks Using
				Interpretative Structural Modeling
52	JCEM	Li, J. and Zou, P.X.W.	2011	Fuzzy AHP-Based Risk Assessment Methodology for
				PPP Projects
53	JCEM	Li, Y., Wang, X., and Wang, Y.	2017	Using Bargaining Game Theory for Risk Allocation of
				Public-Private Partnership Projects: Insights from
				Different Alternating Offer Sequences of Participants
54	JCEM	Molenaar, K.R.	2005	Programmatic Cost Risk Analysis for Highway
				Megaprojects
55	JCEM	Schatteman, D., Herroelen, W.,	2008	Methodology for Integrated Risk Management and
		Van de Vonder, S., and Boone, A.		Proactive Scheduling of Construction Projects
56	JCEM	Shrestha, A., Chan, T.K., Aibinu,	2017	Risks in PPP Water Projects in China: Perspective of
		A.A., Chen, C., and Martek, I.		Local Governments
57	JCEM	Subramanyan, H., Sawant, P.H.,	2012	Construction Project Risk Assessment: Development of
		and Bhatt, V.		Model Based on Investigation of Opinion of Construction
				Project Experts from India
58	JCEM	Tang, W., Qiang, M., Duffieled,	2007	Risk Management in the Chinese Construction Industry
		C.F., Young, D.M., and Lu, Y.		
59	JCEM	Tavakolan, M. and Etemadinia, H.	2017	Fuzzy Weighted Interpretive Structural Modeling:
				Improved Method for Identification of Risk Interactions
				in Construction Projects
60	JCEM	Xia, N., Zhong, R., Chunlin, W.,	2017	Assessment of Stakeholder-Related Risks in Construction
		Wang, X. and Wang, S.		Projects: Integrated Analyses of Risk Attributes and
				Stakeholder Influences
61	JCEM	Zhang, G. and Zou, P.X.W.	2007	Fuzzy Analytical Hierarchy Process Risk Assessment
				Approach for Joint Venture Construction Projects in
				China
62	JCCE	Fidan, G., Dikmen, I., Tanyer,	2011	Ontology for Relating Risk and Vulnerability to Cost
	1005	A.M., and Birgonul, M.T.	• • • •	Overrun in International Projects
63	JCCE	Jin, X.	2010	Neurofuzzy Decision Support System for Efficient Risk
				Allocation in Public-Private Partnership Infrastructure
<i>.</i> .	1005		• • • •	Projects
64	JCCE	Karakas, K., Dikmen, I., and,	2013	Multiagent System to Simulate Risk-Allocation and Cost-
<i>(1</i>	LOCE	Birgonul, M.	2017	Sharing Processes in Construction Projects
65	JCCE	Liu, D., Xuan, P., Li, S., and,	2015	Schedule Risk Analysis for IBM Tunneling Based on
		Huang, P.		Adaptive CYCLONE Simulation in a Geologic
((ICCE		2001	Uncertainty-Aware Context
00	JUCE	I an, J.H.M., and Carr, V.	2001	Knowledge-Based Approach to Construction Project Risk
67	ICCE	Zhou V Su W Ding I I	2017	Management Dradiating Sofaty Disks in Deen Foundation Dita in
0/	JULE	LIIOU, I., SU, W., DING, L., LUO,	2017	Subway Infrastructure Drojects: Support Vector Machine
		II., allu Love, P.E.D.		Approach
				Approach

	Iournal			
No.	Name	Author(s)	Year	Title of the article
68	JME	Aladag, H. and Isik, Z.	2017	Role of Financial Risks in BOT Megatransportation Projects in Developing Countries
69	JME	Chan, A.P.C., Yeung, J.F.Y., Yu, C.C.P. Wang S.O. and Ke, Y	2011	Empirical Study of Risk Assessment and Allocation of Public-Private Partnership Projects in China
70	JME	El-Sayegh, S.M. and Mansour, M H	2015	Risk Assessment Allocation in Highway Construction Projects in the UAE
71	JME	Jung, W. and Han, S.H.	2017	Which Risk Management is Most Crucial for Controlling Project Cost?
72	JME	Lee, N. and Schaufelberger, J.E.	2014	Risk Management Strategies for Privatized Infrastructure Projects: Study of the Build–Operate–Transfer Approach in East Asia and the Pacific
73	JME	Nielsen, K.R.	2006	Risk Management: Lessons from Six Continents
74	JME	Odediran, S.J. and Windapo, A.O.	2017	Mitigating Risks in African Construction Markets through the Interactive Behavior of Resources and Capabilities in Multinational Construction Companies and Entry Decisions
75	JME	Tran, D.Q., and Molenaar, K.R.	2014	Impact of Risk on Design-Build Selection for Highway Design and Construction Projects
76	JME	Wang, J. and Yuan, H.	2016	System Dynamics Approach for Investigating the Risk Effects on Schedule Delay in Infrastructure Projects
77	JME	Wang, M. and Chou, H.	2003	Risk Allocation and Risk Handling of Highway Projects in Taiwan
78	JIS	Ameyaw, E.E., Chan, A.P.C., Owusu-Manu, D., Edwards, D.J., and Dartey F	2017	A Fuzzy-Based Evaluation of Financial Risks in Build– Own–Operate–Transfer Water Supply Projects
79	JIS	Chan, A.P.C., Lam, P.T.I., Yang, W., Ameyaw, E.E., Wang, S., and Ke, Y.	2015	Cross-Sectional Analysis of Critical Risk Factors for PPP Water Projects in China
80	JIS	Hastak, M. and Baim, E.J.	2001	Risk Factors Affecting Management and Maintenance Cost of Urban Infrastructure
81	JIS	Heravi, G., and Hajihosseini, Z.	2012	Risk Allocation in Public–Private Partnership Infrastructure Projects in Developing Countries: Case Study of the Tehran–Chalus Toll Road
82	JIS	Ke, Y., Wang, S., and Chan, A.P.C.	2010	Risk Allocation in Public-Private Partnership Infrastructure Projects: Comparative Study
83	CME	Acar, E. and Göç, Y.	2011	Prediction of Risk Perception by Owners' Psychological Traits in Small Building Contractors
84	CME	Al-Sabah, R., Menassa, C.C., and Hanna, A.	2014	Evaluating Impact of Construction Risks in the Arabian Gulf Region from Perspective of Multinational Architecture Engineering and Construction Firms
85	CME	Andi	2006	The Importance and Allocation of Risks in Indonesian Construction Projects
86	CME	Jha, K.N. and Devaya, M.N.	2008	Modelling the Risks Faced by Indian Construction Companies Assessing International Projects
87	CME	Nasirzadeh, F., Afshar, A., Khanzadi M and Howick S	2008	Integrating System Dynamics and Fuzzy Logic Modelling for Construction Risk Management
88	CME	Ökmen, Ö. and Öztaş, A.	2010	Construction cost analysis under uncertainty with correlated cost risk analysis model
89	CME	Olawale, Y.A., and Sun, M.	2010	Cost and Time Control of Construction Projects: Inhibiting Factors and Mitigating Measures in Practice
90	CME	Tah, J.H.M., and Carr, V.	2000	A Proposal for Construction Project Risk Assessment Using Fuzzy Logic

	Journal			
No.	Name	Author(s)	Year	Title of the article
91	CME	Thomas, A.V., Kalidindi, S.N.,	2003	Risk Perception Analysis of BOT Road Project
		and Ananthanarayanan, K.		Participants in India
92	CME	Wang, S.Q., Dulaim, M.F., and	2004	Risk Management Framework for Construction Projects
		Aguria, M.Y.		in Developing Countries
93	CME	Xenidis, Y. and Angelides, D.	2005	The Financial Risks in Build-Operate-Transfer Projects
94	CME	Zou, P.X.W. and Li, J.	2010	Risk Identification and Assessment in Subway Projects:
		, , ,		Case Study of Nanjing Subway Line 2
95	JCiEM	Abdul-Rahman, H., Wang, C., and	2013	Design and Pilot Run of Fuzzy Synthetic Model (FSM)
		Lee, Y.L.		for Risk Evaluation in Civil Engineering
96	JCiEM	Ahmadi, M., Behzadian, K.,	2017	Comprehensive Risk Management Using Fuzzy FMEA
		Ardeshir, A., and Kapelan, Z.		and MCDA Techniques in Highway Construction Projects
97	JCiEM	Al-Azemi, K.F., Bhamra, R., and	2014	Risk Management Framework for Build, Operate and
		Salman, A.F.M.		Transfer (BOT) Projects in Kuwait
98	JCiEM	Hwang, B., Zhao, X., and Yu, G.S.	2016	Risk Identification and Allocation in Underground Rail
				Construction Joint Ventures: Contractors' Perspective
99	JCiEM	Ke, Y., Wang, S.Q., and Chan,	2012	Risk Management Practice in China's Public-Private
		A.P.C.		Partnership Projects
100	JCiEM	Valipour, A., Yahaya, N., Noor,	2017	Hybrid SWARA-COPRAS Method for Risk Assessment
		N.M., Antucheviciene, and		in Deep Foundation Excavation Project: an Iranian Case
		Tamosaitiene, J.		Study
101	JCiEM	Valipour, A., Yahaya, N., Noor,	2015	A Fuzzy Analytic Network Process Method for Risk
		N.M., Kildienė, S., Sarvari, H.,		Prioritization in Freeway PPP Projects: An Iranian Case
		and Mardani, A.		Study.
102	JCiEM	Yazdani-Chamzini, A.	2014	Proposing a New Methodology Based on Fuzzy Logic for
				Tunnelling Risk Assessment
103	JCiEM	Zavadskas, E.K., Turskis, Z., and	2010	Risk Assessment of Construction Projects
		Tamosaitiene, J.		
104	JCiEM	Zhang L., Wu, X., Ding, L.,	2016	BIM-Based Risk Identification System in Tunnel
		Skibniewski, M.J, and Lu, Y.		Construction
105	ECAM	Ahmed, S.M., Ahmad, R., and	1999	Risk Management Trends in the Hong Kong Construction
		Saram, D.D.		Industry: A Comparison of Contractors and Owners
				Perceptions
106	ECAM	Albogamy, A. and Dawood, N.	2015	Development of a Client-Based Risk Management
				Methodology for the Early Design Stage of Construction
105	FGUN		1000	Processes
107	ECAM	Edwards, P.J. and Bowen, P.A.	1998	Risk and Risk Management in Construction: A Review
100	FOAM		2011	and Future Directions for Research
108	ECAM	Hwang, B., Zhao, X., and Chin,	2011	International Construction Joint Ventures Between
		E.W.		Singapore and Developing Countries: Risk Assessment
100	ECAM	Ka V. Wang S. Chan A.D. and	2011	and Allocation Preferences
109	ECAM	Ke, Y., Wang, S., Chan, A.P., and	2011	Analysis of Political Risks and Opportunities in Public
		Cheung, E.		Countries Survey Deculta
110	ECAM	Mahamid I	2011	Countries: Survey Results Dials Matrix for Eastern Affasting Time Dalay in Dead
110	ECAM	Manannu, 1.	2011	Construction Projecto: Oumors' Derenactive
111	ECAM	Rostami A and Oduoza C F	2017	Key Ricks in Construction Projects in Italy: Contractors'
111	LUAM	Nosiann, A. anu Ouuoza, C.F.	2017	Rey Risks in Construction r tojects in itary. Contractors
112	ECAM	Santoso S.S. Opunlana S.O. and	2003	Assessment of Risks in High Rise Building Construction
114		Minato T	2005	in Jakarta
113	ECAM	Ye, S, and Tiong R K	2000	Government Support and Risk-return Trade-off in China's
	201101	,		BOT Power Projects

	Journal			
No.	Name	Author(s)	Year	Title of the article
114	CJCE	Abdul-Rahman, H., Loo, S.C., and Wang, C.	2012	Risk Identification and Mitigation for Architectural, Engineering, and Construction Firms Operating in the Gulf Region
115	CJCE	Alireza, V., Mohammadreza, Y., Zin, R.M., Yahaya, N., and Noor, N.M.	2014	An Enhanced Multi-Objective Optimization Approach for Risk Allocation in Public–Private Partnership Projects: A Case Study of Malaysia.
116	CJCE	Bu-Qammaz, A.S., Dikmen, I., and Birgonul, M.T.	2009	Risk Assessment of International Construction Projects Using the Analytic Network Process
117	CJCE	Dikmen, I. and Birgonul, M.T.	2006	An Analytic Hierarchy Process Based Model for Risk and Opportunity Assessment of International Construction Projects
118	CJCE	Li, H.X., Al-Hussien, M., Lei, Z., and Ajwej, Z.	2013	Risk Identification and Assessment of Modular Construction Utilizing Fuzzy Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) and Simulation
119	CJCE	McIntosh, K. and McCabe, B.	2003	Risk and Benefits Associated with International Construction–Consulting Joint Ventures in the English- Speaking Caribbean
120	CJCE	Nasirzadeh, F., Afhar, A. and Khanzadi, M.	2008	Dynamic Risk Analysis in Construction Projects
121	CJCE	Salem D., Elwakil, E., Hegab, M.	2017	Risk Level Problems Affecting Microtunneling Projects Installation
122	IJCM	Jin, X. and Zuo, J.	2011	Critical Uncertainty Factors for Efficient Risk Allocation in Privately Financed Public Infrastructure Projects in Australia
123	IJCM	Mohammed, O., Abd-Karim, S.B., Roslan, N.H., Danuri, M.S., and Zakaria, N.	2015	Risk Management: Looming the Modus Operandi among Construction Contractors in Malaysia
124	IJCM	Perera, B.A.K., Rameezdeen, R., Chileshe, N., and Hosseini, M.R.	2014	Enhancing the Effectiveness of Risk Management Practices in Sri Lankan Road Construction Projects: A Delphi Approach
125	IJCM	Perez, D., Gray, J., and Skitmore, M.	2017	Perceptions of Risk Allocation Methods and Equitable Risk Distribution: A Study of Medium to Large Southeast Queensland Commercial Construction Projects
126	IJCM	Samaras, G.D., Gkanas, N.I., and Vista, K.C.	2014	Assessing Risk in Dam Projects Using AHP and ELECTRE I
127	IJCM	Zou, P.X.W., and Zhang, G.	2009	Managing Risks in Construction Projects: Life Cycle and Stakeholder Perspectives
128	JRUES	Mehany, M.S.H. and Guggemos, A.A.	2016	Risk-Managed Lifecycle Costing for Asphalt Road Construction and Maintenance Projects under Performance-Based Contracts
129	JRUES	Tolo, S., Patelli, E., and Beer, M.	2017	Risk Assessment of Spent Nuclear Fuel Facilities Considering Climate Change
130	JRUES	Wang, Z., Qiao, L., Li, S., and Bi, L.	2016	Risk Assessment for Stability and Containment Property of an Underground Oil Storage Facility in Construction Phase Using Fuzzy Comprehensive Evaluation Method

Appendix B. Expertise Level of the Experts in Risk Management

Appendix B.1. Self-evaluation Form (Completed by Experts)

Please enter numerical data values for the quantitative qualification attributes and assign a data value for each qualitative qualification attributes based on the corresponding predetermined rating scales provided.

			Scale of	Data	
Criteria	Sub-criteria	Description	measure	Value	Predetermined Rating (1 - 5) Description
1. Experience	1.1 Total years of	Number of years you have been	Real number		N/A
	experience	working in this discipline			
	1.2 Diversity of	Number of different companies you	Integer		N/A
	experience	have worked for			
	1.3 Relevant	Number of years you have been	Real number		N/A
	experience	working in risk management			
	1.4 Applied	Number of projects in which you	Real number		N/A
	experience	performed risk management tasks			
	1.5 Varied experience	Number of different functional areas	Integer		N/A
		or project types worked with in your			
		entire career			
2. Knowledge	2.1 Academic	Number of years of study in your	Real number		N/A
	knowledge	discipline			
	2.2 Education level	Highest degree achieved to date	1-5		1. High School Degree; 2. College Degree;
			predetermined		3. Technical Degree; 4. Bachelor Degree;
			rating		5. Masters Degree
	2.3 On the job training	Number of courses taken in current discipline	Integer		N/A
3. Professional	3.1 Current	Your occupation in company	1-5		1. Project Engineer; 2. Senior Engineer; 3.
performance	occupation in the	currently working for	predetermined		Project Manager; 4. Manager; 5. Senior
1	company		rating		Manager
	3.2 Years in current occupation	Number of years in your current occupation at company	Real number		N/A

			Scale of	Data	
Criteria	Sub-criteria	Description	measure	Value	Predetermined Rating (1 - 5) Description
	3.3 Expertise self- evaluation	Level of risk management expertise that participant expert acknowledges about himself/herself	1-5 predetermined rating		 VERY LOW risk management expertise LOW risk management expertise AVERAGE risk management expertise HIGH risk management expertise VERY HIGH risk management expertise
4. Risk Management Practice	4.1 Average hours of work in risk per week	Number of hours per week working in risk management related tasks in current company	Real number		N/A
	4.2 Level of risk management training	Number of certifications you have obtained from risk management training sessions or workshops	Integer		N/A
	4.3 Risk management conferences experience	Number of risk management conferences you have attended	Integer		N/A
	4.4 Risk identification and planning	Experience level with proper risk identification and development of an overall risk management plan with risk response planning	1-5 predetermined rating		 NO Proper risk identification, VERY POOR Development of an overall risk management plan with risk response planning; NO Proper risk identification, POOR Development of an overall risk management plan with risk response planning; SOME Risk identification, FAIR Development of an overall risk management plan with risk response planning; SOME Risk identification, GOOD Development of an overall risk management plan with risk response planning; SOME Risk identification, GOOD Development of an overall risk management plan with risk response planning; DETAILED Risk identification, VERY GOOD Development of an overall risk management plan with risk response planning

			Scale of	Data	
Criteria	Sub-criteria	Description	measure	Value	Predetermined Rating (1 - 5) Description
4. Risk Management Practice	4.5 Risk monitoring and control	Experience level with keeping track of identified risks, monitoring residual risks and identifying new risks, ensuring the execution of risk plans, evaluating their effectiveness in reducing risk	1-5 predetermined rating		 NOT Keeping track of identified risks, VERY POOR Monitoring of residual risks and identifying new risks, VERY POOR in Ensuring the execution of risk plans, NO Evaluation on their effectiveness in reducing risk; NOT Keeping track of identified risks, POOR Monitoring of residual risks and identifying new risks, POOR in Ensuring the execution of risk plans, NO Evaluation on their effectiveness in reducing risk; Keeping SOME track of identified risks, FAIR Monitoring of residual risks and identifying new risks, FAIR in Ensuring the execution of risk plans, SOME Evaluation on their effectiveness in reducing risk; Keeping DETAIL track of identified risks, GOOD Monitoring of residual risks and identifying new risks, GOOD in Ensuring the execution of risk plans, DETAILED Evaluation on their effectiveness in reducing risk; Keeping DETAIL track of identified risks, VERY GOOD Monitoring of residual risks and identifying new risks, VERY GOOD in Ensuring the execution of risk plans, DETAILED Evaluation on their effectiveness in reducing risk;

			Scale of	Data	
Criteria	Sub-criteria	Description	measure	Value	Predetermined Rating (1 - 5) Description
	4.6 Crisis management	Experience level in understanding the time phase of crisis (to be reactive or proactive), and having effective systems to prevent/control/manage crisis	1-5 predetermined rating		 REACTIVE, VERY POOR systems to prevent crisis REACTIVE, POOR systems to prevent crisis REACTIVE, FAIR systems to prevent crisis PROACTIVE, GOOD systems to prevent crisis PROACTIVE, VERY GOOD systems to prevent crisis
5. Project Specifics	5.1 Project size limit	Monetary value of the largest risk management project you have worked on in current company	Real number		N/A
	5.2 Commitment to time deadlines	Percentage of projects finished on time by all projects you have been involved in	Real number		N/A
	5.3 Commitment to cost budget	Percentage of projects finished on budget by all projects you have been involved in	Real number		N/A
	5.4 Safety adherence	Number of projects you have worked in with zero incident rates	Integer		N/A
	5.5 Geographic diversity experience	Number of different project locations that you have worked on	Integer		N/A
6. Reputation	6.2 Willingness to participate in survey	Experts' attitude and willingness towards participating in research survey	1-5 predetermined rating		 COMPLETELY Unwilling SOMEWHAT NOT Willing SOMEWHAT Willing Willing COMPLETELY Willing
	6.4 Enthusiasm and Willingness	Level of enthusiasm and willingness in performing risk management tasks in current company	1-5 predetermined rating		 VERY POOR Enthusiasm and COMPLETELY Unwilling POOR Enthusiasm and SOMEWHAT NOT Willing AVERAGE Enthusiasm and SOMEWHAT Willing GOOD Enthusiasm and WILLING

Criteria	Sub-criteria	Description	Scale of measure	Data Value	Predetermined Rating (1 - 5) Description
					5. VERY GOOD Enthusiasm and COMPLETELY Willing

Appendix B.2.Supervisor Evaluation Form (Completed by Supervisor)

Each qualitative qualification attribute is measured using the corresponding predetermined rating scales described below. Based on your own judgement **about the Expert's** expertise level, please assign a data value for each of the qualitative qualification attributes listed.

			Scale of	Data	
Criteria	Sub-criteria	Description	measure	Value	Predetermined Rating (1 - 5) Description
4. Risk	4.4 Risk	Experience level with proper risk	1-5		1. NO Proper risk identification, VERY
Management	identification and	identification and development of an	predetermined		POOR Development of an overall risk
Practice	planning	overall risk management plan with risk	rating		management plan with risk response
		response planning			planning;
					2. NO Proper risk identification, POOR
					Development of an overall risk management
					plan with risk response planning;
					3. SOME Risk identification, FAIR
					Development of an overall risk management
					plan with risk response planning;
					4. SOME Risk identification, GOOD
					Development of an overall risk management
					plan with risk response planning;
					5. DETAILED Risk identification, VERY
					GOOD Development of an overall risk
					management plan with risk response planning
4. Risk	4.5 Risk monitoring	Experience level with keeping track of	1-5		1. NOT Keeping track of identified risks,
Management	and control	identified risks, monitoring residual risks	predetermined		VERY POOR Monitoring of residual risks
Practice		and identifying new risks, ensuring the	rating		and identifying new risks, VERY POOR in
		execution of risk plans, evaluating their			Ensuring the execution of risk plans, NO
		effectiveness in reducing risk			Evaluation on their effectiveness in reducing
					risk;
					2. NOT Keeping track of identified risks,
					POOR Monitoring of residual risks and
					identifying new risks, POOR in Ensuring the

			Scale of	Data	
Criteria	Sub-criteria	Description	measure	Value	Predetermined Rating (1 - 5) Description
					execution of risk plans, NO Evaluation on
					their effectiveness in reducing risk;
					3. Keeping SOME track of identified risks,
					FAIR Monitoring of residual risks and
					identifying new risks, FAIR in Ensuring the
					execution of risk plans, SOME Evaluation on
					their effectiveness in reducing risk;
					4. Keeping DETAIL track of identified risks,
					GOOD Monitoring of residual risks and
					identifying new risks, GOOD in Ensuring the
					execution of risk plans, DETAILED
					Evaluation on their effectiveness in reducing
					risk;
					5. Keeping DETAIL track of identified risks,
					VERY GOOD Monitoring of residual risks
					and identifying new risks, VERY GOOD in
					Ensuring the execution of risk plans,
					DETAILED Evaluation on their effectiveness
					in reducing risk
4. Risk	4.6 Crisis	Experience level in understanding the	1-5		1. REACTIVE, VERY POOR systems to
Management	management	time phase of crisis (to be reactive or	predetermined		prevent crisis
Practice		proactive), and having effective systems	rating		2. REACTIVE, POOR systems to prevent
		to prevent/control/manage crisis			crisis
					3. REACTIVE, FAIR systems to prevent
					crisis
					4. PROACTIVE, GOOD systems to prevent
					crisis
					5. PROACTIVE, VERY GOOD systems to
					prevent crisis

			Scale of	Data	
Criteria	Sub-criteria	Description	measure	Value	Predetermined Rating (1 - 5) Description
6. Reputation	6.1 Social	Level of the experts' social acclimation	1-5		1. VERY LOW social acclimation
	acclimation	by others	predetermined		2. LOW social acclimation
			rating		3. AVERAGE social acclimation
					4. HIGH social acclimation
					5. VERY HIGH social acclimation
	6.2 Willingness to	Experts' attitude and willingness towards	1-5		1. COMPLETELY Unwilling
	participate in survey	participating in research survey	predetermined		2. SOMEWHAT NOT Willing
			rating		3. SOMEWHAT Willing
					4. Willing
					5. COMPLETELY Willing
	6.3 Professional	Level of credibility of expert based on	1-5		1. VERY INCONSISTENT professional
	reputation	consistency and reasonableness (use of	predetermined		decisions and VERY UNRESONABLE
		engineering judgement) of previous	rating		professional decisions
		decisions			2. INCONSISTENT professional decisions
					and UNRESONABLE professional decisions
					3. SOMEWHAT CONSISTENT professional
					professional decisions
					4. CONSISTENT professional decisions and
					RESONABLE professional decisions
					5. VERY CONSISTENT professional
					decisions and VERY RESONABLE
					professional decisions
6. Reputation	6.4 Enthusiasm and	Level of Enthusiasm and willingness in	1-5		1. VERY POOR Enthusiasm and
-	willingness	performing risk management tasks in	predetermined		COMPLETELY Unwilling
	-	current company	rating		2. POOR Enthusiasm and SOMEWHAT
			_		NOT Willing
					3. AVERAGE Enthusiasm and SOMEWHAT
					Willing
					4. GOOD Enthusiasm and WILLING
					5. VERY GOOD Enthusiasm and
					COMPLETELY Willing

			Scale of	Data	
Criteria	Sub-criteria	Description	measure	Value	Predetermined Rating (1 - 5) Description
	6.5 Level of risk conservativeness	Indicates the expert's level of conservativeness in risk management decisions	1-5 predetermined rating		 VERY AGGRESSIVE risk-taking AGGRESSIVE risk-taking MODERATE risk-taking CONSERVATIVE risk-taking VERY CONSERVATIVE risk-taking
7. Personal Attributes and Skills	7.1 Level of communication skills	Indicates the expert's level of communication skills with other team members and peers including maintaining interpersonal skills with team, clearly expressing their point of view, and ability to communicate with others who are at different levels (technical/language/knowledge)	1-5 predetermined rating		 VERY POOR interpersonal skills, NO eloquence, and VERY POOR vertical communication POOR interpersonal skills, NO eloquence and POOR vertical communication AVERAGE interpersonal skills, SOME eloquence, and AVERAGE vertical communication GOOD interpersonal skills, CLEAR eloquence, and GOOD vertical communication VERY GOOD interpersonal skills, CLEAR eloquence, and VERY GOOD vertical communication
7. Personal Attributes and Skills	7.2 Level of teamwork skills	Indicates the expert's level of teamwork skills within the current company such as participating as an active and contributing member to achieve the team's goals	1-5 predetermined rating		 VERY INACTIVE team member and NO contribution to team's goals INACTIVE team member and NO contribution to team's goals AVERAGE ACTIVE team member and SOME contribution to team's goals ACTIVE team member and FAIR contribution to team's goals VERY ACTIVE team member and FAIR contribution to team's goals

			Scale of	Data	
Criteria	Sub-criteria	Description	measure	Value	Predetermined Rating (1 - 5) Description
	7.3 Level of	Indicates the expert's level of leadership			1. VERY POOR training, NO support tools to
	leadership skills	skills within the current company, such as			team members, VERY POOR communication
		finding resources and training team			of objectives and progress, COMPLETELY
		members; offering tools to support team			Unwilling to mentor
		members; communicating project			2. POOR training, NO support tools to team
		objectives and progress; and willingness			members, POOR communication of
		to coach or mentor others.			objectives and progress, SOMEWHAT NOT
					Willing to mentor
					3. AVERAGE training, SOME support tools
					to team members, AVERAGE
					communication of objectives and progress,
					SOMEWHAT Willing to mentor
					4. GOOD trainings, FAIR support tools to
					team members, GOOD communication of
					objectives and progress, Willing to mentor
					5. VERY GOOD training, FAIR support tools
					to team members, VERY GOOD
					communication of objectives and progress,
					COMPLETELY Willing to mentor
7. Personal	7.4 Level of	Expert's level of anticipating and	1-5		1. VERY POOR anticipation and VERY
Attributes and	analytical skills	identifying problems in daily tasks while	predetermined		POOR identification of problems
Skills		accounting for any missing data	rating		2. POOR anticipation and POOR
					identification of problems
					3. AVERAGE anticipation and AVERAGE
					identification of problems
					4. GOOD anticipation and GOOD
					identification of problems
					5. VERY GOOD anticipation and VERY
					GOOD identification of problem

			Scale of	Data	
Criteria	Sub-criteria	Description	measure	Value	Predetermined Rating (1 - 5) Description
	7.5 Level of ethics	Expert's level of conforming to any legal	1-5		1. VERY POOR compliance to legal and
		or regulatory framework enforced by	predetermined		regulatory framework, and VERY POOR
		company, and expert's level of morality	rating		level of morality
					2. POOR compliance to legal and regulatory
					framework ,and POOR level of morality;
					3. AVERAGE compliance to legal and
					regulatory framework, and AVERAGE level
					of morality
					4. GOOD compliance to legal and regulatory
					framework, and GOOD level of morality
					5. VERY GOOD compliance to legal and
					regulatory framework, and VERY GOOD
					level of morality

Appendix C. Project and Work Package Characteristics Assessment

Please provide a description of the selected project by providing appropriate answers to the questions below.

<i>1.1.</i> Please indicate the name of the project:			
<i>1.2.</i> Please indicate the project location:			
<i>1.3.</i> What role does your organization play in the p	project?		
□ Owner	□ Main contractor		
□ Sub/Speciality contractor	□ Consultant		
□ Project management service	□ Supplier		
□ Financier □ Other (please specify):			
<i>1.4.</i> Please specify the total contract value of the	he project:		
<i>1.5.</i> Please specify the percentage of the alloca cost:	ated project contingency relative to the total project		
1.6. Please specify the contract duration of the	project:		
1.7. Please specify the project start date (for co	onstruction work):		
1.8. Please specify the approximate percent compl	ete to date in the <i>Construction Work</i> for this project:		
<i>1.9.</i> Please indicate below the project delivery syst	tem employed for the project.		
Traditional Design-Bid-Build	□ Design-Build (EPC)		
Construction Management at Risk	Parallel Primes		
□ Build, Own, Operate and Transfer (BOOT)	□ Integrated Project Delivery (IDP)		
□ Public Private Partnership (P3)	□ Other (please specify):		
1.10. Please indicate below the contract type used	in the project.		
□ Unit Rate	□ Lump Sum		
□ Cost Plus	□ Time and Material		
Guaranteed Maximum Price	□ Other (please specify):		
<i>1.11</i> . Please specify the number of similar projects	s completed by your organization:		

1.12. Please specify the number of work packages involved in the project:

1.13. How would you rate the level of complexity of the project with respect to the number of work packages involved?

Low	Somewhat	Average	Somewhat	High
	Low		High	
1	2	3	4	5

1.14. How would you rate the overall complexity of the project?

Low	Somewhat	Average	Somewhat	High
	Low		High	
1	2	3	4	5

SECTION 2: WORK PACKAGE CHARACTERISTICS

Please provide a description of each work package by providing appropriate answers to the questions below.

2.1. Please indicate the name of the work package:

2.2. Please provide full description of the work package:



2.3. Please indicate below the contract type used in the work package:

□ Unit Rate	□ Lump Sum
□ Cost Plus	□ Time and Material
Guaranteed Maximum Price	□ Other (please specify):
2.4. Please indicate the estimate type used	for the work package:
□ Indicative	□ Estimate
□ Historical	\Box Other (please specify):

- 2.5.Please specify the total work package cost:
- *2.6.* Please specify the percentage of the total cost of the selected work package relative to the total project cost: ______
- 2.7. Please specify the values of the cost components for the selected work package:

Cost component	Amount (Canadian Dollars)
Labour total cost	
Materials total cost	
Equipment total cost	
Subcontract total cost	
Indirect total cost	

- 2.8. Please specify the estimated duration of the work package:
- 2.9. Please specify the start date of the work package (for construction work):
- *2.10.* Please specify the approximate percent complete to date in the *Construction Work* for this work package: ______
- 2.11. Please specify the cumulative budgeted cost of the work package at different completion stage (percentage):

Percentage completion of the work package (%)	Cumulative budgeted cost of the work package (Canadian Dollars)
10	
20	
30	
40	
50	
60	
70	
80	
90	
100	

		Level of Complexity				
			Somewhat		Somewhat	
No.	Description	Low	Low	Average	High	High
2.12.1	The level of complexity of the					
	selected work package in terms of	1	2	3	4	5
	number of activities involved					
2.12.2	The level of complexity of the					
	selected work package with respect to	1	2	3	4	5
	the work scope					
2.12.3	the level of the selected work package					
	complexity with respect to the	1	2	3	4	5
	construction methods					
2.12.4	The level of difficulty of the selected					
	work package with regard to the	1	2	3	4	5
	constructability					

2.12. Please rate the level of complexity of the selected work package based on the following descriptions using the predetermined rating scale (1-5)

2.13. Please rate the criticality of the work package based on the following descriptions using the predetermined rating scale (1-5):

		Level of Criticality				
			Somewhat		Somewhat	
No.	Description	Low	Low	Average	High	High
2.13.1	The criticality of the selected work					
	package in terms of its share to the total	1	2	3	4	5
	project cost					
2.13.2	The criticality of the selected work					
	package in terms of its share to the total	1	2	3	4	5
	project contingency					
2.13.3	The criticality of the selected work					
	package in terms of its proneness to	1	2	3	4	5
	several risks					

Appendix D. Risk and Opportunity Events Identification and Assessment

Work Package Name: _____

Percentage completion of the work package: _____

Please assess the probability of occurrence of the following risks/opportunities and their respective impact on the selected work package on a scale of 1-5 (in addition to N/A- Not applicable), where 1 = Very low (VL), 2 = Low (L), 3 = Medium (M), 4 = High (H), and 5 = Very high (VH). Please also determine the percentage of the work package cost that may be affected by each risk/opportunity. Blank rows are left intentionally to add additional risks.

	Management Risk and Opportunity	F	Risk Pro	bability	ofOc	currer	ice	Risk	Impact	t on Wo	rk Pac	kage C	Cost	Opportunity Probability of Occurrence							Opportunity Impact on Work Package Cost							
No.	Events	NA	VL	L	М	н	vн	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	Affected in %		
1.1	Poor coordination and communication among various parties involved in the project	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5			
1.2	Poor relationship among various parties involved in the project	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5			
1.3	Inadequate project organization structure	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5			
1.4	Poor project quality management including inadequate quality planning, quality assurance, and quality control	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5			
1.5	Poor or incomplete definition of project scope	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5			
1.6	Inadequate or poor project planning and budgeting	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5			
1.7	Interdependencies with other projects (consistency and complementarities with other projects)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5			
1.8	Poor site management and supervision by the contractor	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5			

1. Management risk and opportunity events

No. Management Risk and Opportunit		R	Risk Pro	bability	ofOc	curren	ice	Risk	Impact	t on Wo	rk Pac	ckage (Cost	1	Opporti	unity Occu	Probabi rrence	lity of		Ор	portuni	y Impa C	ct on W ost	/ork Pa	ckage	Cost of Work Package
No.	Events	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	Affected in %
1.9	Lack of experience and project management skills of the project team	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.10	Unavailability of sufficient professionals and managers	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.11	Loss of productivity due to inadequate site facilities planning or inability to manage labour	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.12	Poor capability of owner in project management	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.13	Low management competency of subcontractors	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.14	Lack of proper training program to new and existing staff in the project	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.15	Poor project monitoring and auditing	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.16	Low level motivation and efficiency of existing manpower	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.17	Frequent replacement of project managers and key personnel	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.18	Poor project cost management and control	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.19	Inefficiency of owner's supervisors	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.20	Unexpected change in owner's staff/organization	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.21	Inadequate experience of consultant with regard to type of work package/project	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.22	Low project team cohesion (poor interpersonal relations between project team members)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.23	High staff turnover in the project	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.24	Poor time management due to change of manager or management strategies of the project	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.25	Consultant lacks adequate number of staff (inspector) during construction phase of the project	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.26	Inadequate project complexity analysis	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
1.27	Lack of proper management of subcontractors by the general contractor/owner	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	

2. Technical risk and opportunity events

		F	Risk Pro	bability	of Oc	curren	ce	Risl	k Impac	t on Wo	ork Pac	kage C	Cost	Oppor	rtunity l	Proba	bility of	Occur	rence	Oppo	Cost of Work					
No.	Technical Risk and Opportunity Events	NA	VL	L	м	н	vн	NA	VL	L	М	н	VH	NA	VL	L	М	Н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	Package Affected in %
2.1	Inappropriate design and poor engineering	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.2	Delay in issuing construction drawing due to late approval	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.3	Delay in design (design process takes longer than anticipated)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.4	Unpredicted technical problems in construction	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.5	Unclear and inadequate details in design drawings and specifications	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.6	Unanticipated engineering and design changes	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.7	Unproven engineering techniques (the techniques adopted are immature and cannot fulfill the standards and requirements as expected)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.8	Inadequate study and insufficient data before design (errors in feasibility studies)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.9	Incomplete design	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.10	Complexity of design	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.11	Problems in technology transfer and implementation	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.12	Rapidly changing technologies	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.13	Low constructability	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.14	Inefficiency in decision making on key design issues	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.15	Using inadequate software for design	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.16	Gaps between implementation and specifications; incompatibility between construction drawings and methods	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.17	Lack of proper design review and checking by consultant	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.18	Lack of skilled designers in the project region	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
2.19	Non-familiarity of the project team with a certain technology	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	

3. Construction risk and opportunity events

		Ris	sk Proba	bility	of Occ	currer	ice	Risl	k Impac	t on Wo	ork Pac	kage C	Cost	Oppo	rtunity	Probabi	ility of	Occur	rence	Oppo	Cost of Work					
No.	Construction Risk and Opportunity Events	NA	VL	L	м	н	vн	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	vн	NA	VL	L	м	н	vн	Package Affected in %
3.1	Delays and interruptions causing cost increase to the work package/project	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
3.2	Poor workmanship and construction errors leading to rework	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
3.3	Unreasonably tight project schedule causing cost increase to the work package/project	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
3.4	Contractor's incompetence in executing the work package/project	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
3.5	Complexity of proposed construction methods/techniques	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
3.6	Change in construction methods/techniques	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	1
3.7	Conflicting interfaces of work items	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
3.8	Pressure to deliver project on accelerated schedule (pressure to crash project duration)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
3.9	Strict quality requirements	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
3.10	Contractor's lack of experience in similar projects	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
3.11	Adoption of improper, poor, or unproven construction methods/techniques	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
3.12	Delay in approving the contractor work by consultant or owner of the project	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
3.13	Failure to identify construction defects	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
3.14	Owner's improper intervention in construction phase	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
3.15	Technical mistakes during construction stage by contractor	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
3.16	Vagueness of construction methods/techniques	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	1

4. Resource-related risk and opportunity events

		Ri	sk Prob	abilit	y of Oc	curren	ce	Ri	sk Impa	act on	Work I	Package	Cost	Opp	ortunity	/ Probab	oility of	Occur	rence	Opp	Cost of Work					
No.	Resources-Related Risk and Opportunity Events	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	Package Affected in %
4.1	Labour related																									
4.1.1	Unavailability of sufficient amount of skilled labour in project region	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.1.2	Low labour productivity of local workforce	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.1.3	Untrained and inexperienced labour force	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.1.4	Strikes and labor disputes	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.1.5	Higher workforce attrition rates	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.1.6	Workforce absenteeism	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.2	Material related																									
4.2.1	Unavailability or shortage of expected material	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.2.2	Delay in materials delivery	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.2.3	Defective or non-conforming materials that do not meet the standard	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.2.4	Material wastage and damage due to poor construction methods, working habit, or improper storage	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.2.5	Import restrictions on materials needed in construction	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.2.6	Changes in material types and specifications during construction	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.2.7	Delay in material approval	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.2.8	Limited capability and service quality of material suppliers and logistic service	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.2.9	Incorrect definition of type and quantity of needed materials by designer(s)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		Ri	sk Prob	abilit	y of Oc	curren	ce	Ris	sk Impa	act on	Work I	Package	Cost	Opp	ortunity	/ Probat	oility of	Occur	rence	Opportunity Impact on Work Package C Cost V				Cost of Work		
-------	--	----	---------	--------	---------	--------	----	-----	---------	--------	--------	---------	------	-----	----------	----------	-----------	-------	-------	--	----	---	---	-----------------	----	-----------------------------
No.	Resources-Related Risk and Opportunity Events	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	Package Affected in %
4.3	Equipment related																									
4.3.1	Unavailability or shortage of expected Equipment	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.3.2	Equipment breakdown	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.3.3	Low productivity and efficiency of equipment	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.3.4	Delay in equipment delivery to the project site	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.3.5	Quality problem of construction equipment	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.3.6	Improper selection of construction equipment by contractor or subcontractor	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.3.7	Unavailability of spare parts and high maintenance cost of equipment	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.3.8	Equipment import restriction	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.3.9	Type and number of needed equipment are not compatible with work package/project scale	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.4	Subcontractor related	-																		_				_		
4.4.1	Unavailability of qualified subcontractors	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.4.2	Subcontractors' failure; default of subcontractors	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.4.3	Poor performance of subcontractors	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.4.4	Subcontractor lack of required technical skill	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.4.5	Subcontractor lack of adequate number of staff and equipment	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
4.4.6	Delay in appointing subcontractor	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	1

5. Site conditions risk and opportunity events

No.	Site Conditions Risk and	I	Risk Pro	bability	y of Oc	curren	ce	Ris	k Impao	et on W	ork Pac	kage (Cost	Oppo	ortunity	Probab	ility of	Occurr	rence	Oppo	ortunity	Impact Co	on Wo st	ork Pac	kage	Cost of Work Package Affected in %
	Opportunity Events	NA	VL	L	м	н	vн	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	vн	
5.1	Unpredicted adverse engineering geology (subsurface conditions)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.2	Differing and unforeseen site conditions	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.3	Difficulties of access and work on site due to specific geographical constraint of region	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.4	Lack of readily available utilities on site (e.g., water, electricity, etc.) and supporting infrastructure unavailability	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.5	Late construction site possession	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.6	Inadequate site investigations (soil tests and site survey)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.7	Improper selection of project location	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.8	Security problems at project site	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.9	Delay in right of way process	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.10	Finding historical objects during excavation process	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.11	Ineffective control and management of traffic	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.12	Unexpected underground utilities encounter	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.13	Limited construction area (on-site congestion)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.14	Land acquisition and compensation problem (the cost and time for land acquisition exceeds the original plans)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.15	Obstruction to surrounding business or others	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.16	Poor preliminary assessment and evaluation of ground movement and settlements	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.17	Distance from primary sources, materials, and manufacturers	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
5.18	Ground water seepage which can damage underground construction work	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	

6. Contractual and legal risk and opportunity events

		F	Risk Pro	bability	of Occ	currenc	e	Ris	sk Impa	ct on W	ork Pac	kage C	Cost	Opp	ortunity	/ Probab	oility of	Occur	rence	Opp	ortunity	/ Impact Co	t on W st	/ork Pa	ckage	Cost of Work
No.	Contractual and Legal Risk and Opportunity Events	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	vн	NA	VL	L	М	Н	VH	Package Affected in %
6.1	Contradictions and vagueness in the contract documents	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.2	Delays in resolving contractual disputes and litigations	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.3	Change in codes and regulations	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.4	Possibility of contractual disputes and claims	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.5	Breach of contract by owner, contractor, or subcontractors	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.6	Contract and specification interpretation disagreement	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.7	Change in project scope	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.8	Unclear roles and responsibilities of project stakeholders	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.9	Intense competition at tender stage	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.10	Frequent change orders	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.11	Rigidity of contract provision	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.12	Lack of integrity in the tendering process (unfairness in tendering)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.13	Contract strategy changes from plan	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.14	Inadequate claim administration	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.15	Excessive contract variation	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.16	Immaturity and/or unreliability of legal system	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.17	Extent of work differs from contract	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.18	Errors or omissions in BOQ	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.19	Intensity of contract (the ratio of contract value and contract period)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.20	Inappropriate form or type of contract	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
6.21	Lack of legal judgement reinforcement	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	

7. Economic and financial risk and opportunity events

		ł	Risk Pro	obability	y of Oc	curren	ce	Ris	k Impa	et on W	ork Pac	kage C	Cost	Oppo	ortunity	Probabi	ility of	Occur	rence	Oppo	ortunity	Impact Co	on Wo st	ork Pac	kage	Cost of Work
No.	Economic ad Financial Risk and Opportunity Events	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	H	VH	NA	VL	L	м	Н	vн	NA	VL	L	м	Н	VH	Package Affected in %
7.1	Unpredicted change of inflation rate	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.2	Fluctuation in currency exchange and/or difficulty of convertibility	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.3	Escalation of material prices	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.4	Unpredicted change of interest rate	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.5	Change in tax regulation	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.6	Project funding problems	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.7	Delay in payments	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.8	Poor financial market or unavailability of financial instrument resulting difficulty of financing	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.9	Economic recession or instability of economic condition	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.10	Financial failure of the owner or contractor	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.11	Change in government funding policy	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.12	Lack of insurance (insufficient insurance)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.13	Market demand change	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.14	Wage inflation (increase in labors and employee salaries)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.15	Inaccurate assessment or forecast of market demand	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.16	Enactment of a new bylaw leading to cost changes	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.17	Energy price changes	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.18	Tight fiscal and monetary policies	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.19	Change in bankers policy for loans	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
7.20	Conflict between project financiers	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	

Opportunity Impact on Work Risk Probability of Occurrence Risk Impact on Work Package Cost Opportunity Probability of Occurrence Package Cost No. Social Risk and Opportunity Events н NA VL L М н VH NA VL L М Н VH NA VL L М н VH NA VL L М VH Differences in social, cultural and 8.1 religious background 8.2 Unfavorable social environment Public opposition to the project 8.3 (public objections) Societal conflict and/or public 8.4 unrest Insecurity and crime (theft, 8.5 vandalism and fraudulent practices) Land acquisition and compensation problems; the cost and time for land 8.6 acquisition exceeds the original plans Poor public relations with local 8.7 contacts Social grievances; local 8.8 communities pose objections 8.9 Substance abuse Unexpected aboriginal claims or 8.10 protests leading to cost increase 8.11 Disturbances to public activities Loss of public trust/goodwill 8.12

Cost of

Work Package

Affected in %

8. Economic and financial risk and opportunity events

9. Political risk and opportunity events

		F	Risk Pro	bability	of Oc	curren	ce	Ris	k Impac	t on Wo	ork Pac	kage C	Cost	Oppo	ortunity	Probab	ility of	Occur	rence	Oppo	ortunity	Impact Co	on W st	ork Pa	ckage	Cost of Work
No.	Political Risk and Opportunity Events	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	vн	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	Package Affected in %
9.1	Changes in government laws, regulations, and policies affecting the project	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
9.2	Outbreak of hostilities (wars, revolution, civil disorder/riots, and terrorism)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
9.3	Political instability of the government (unfavorable political environment)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
9.4	Delay or refusal of project approval and permit by government departments	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
9.5	Corrupt local government officials demand bribes or unjust rewards	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
9.6	High level of bureaucracy of the authority	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
9.7	Poor relations with related government departments	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
9.8	Government's improper intervention during construction	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
9.9	Poor international relations; instability of international relation	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
9.10	Government restrictions on foreign companies (e.g. mandatory technology transfer, differential taxation of foreign firms, etc.)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
9.11	Multinational sanctions (embargos)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
9.12	Change of government (government discontinuity)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
9.13	Out of date labor, tax, insurance, trade and environmental laws	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
9.14	Lack of support from government	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	

10. Environmental risk and opportunity events

		F	Risk Pro	obability	of Oc	curren	ce	Ris	k Impac	t on We	ork Pac	kage C	lost	Орро	rtunity	Probabi	lity of	Occur	rence	Oppo	ortunity	Impact Cos	on Wo st	ork Pac	kage	Cost of Work
No.	Environmental Risk and Opportunity Events	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	Package Affected in %
10.1	Adverse weather conditions (continuous rainfall, snow, temperature, wind)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
10.2	Force majeure (natural and man- made disasters that are beyond the control doing the risk analysis, e.g. floods, thunder and lightning, landslide, earthquake, hurricane, etc.)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
10.3	Adverse environmental impacts of the project	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
10.4	Pollution associated with construction activities (dust, harmful gases, noise, solid and liquid wastes, etc.)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
10.5	Strict environmental regulations and requirements	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
10.6	Changes in environmental permitting	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
10.7	Poor preliminary assessment and evaluation of environmental impacts of the project	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
10.8	Poor environmental regulations and control	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
10.9	Prosecution due to unlawful disposal of construction waste	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	

11. Health and safety risk and opportunity events

		Ris	sk Prob	ability	of Oc	curren	ce	Ris	k Impa	et on W	ork Pac	kage C	Cost	Oppo	ortunity	Probab	ility of	Occur	rence	Oppo	ortunity	Impact Co	on Wo st	ork Pac	kage	Cost of Work
No.	Health and Safety Risks/Opportunities	NA	VL	L	М	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	Н	VH	NA	VL	L	м	н	VH	Package Affected in %
11.1	Accidents occurring during construction	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
11.2	Inadequate safety measures or unsafe operations	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
11.3	Poor construction safety management	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	Í
11.4	Damage to persons or property or materials due to poor health and safety management of the project	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
11.5	Changed labour safety laws or regulations	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
11.6	Lack of safety insurance	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
	Ineffective protection of																									
11.7	surrounding environment (e.g., adjacent buildings and facilities)	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	ĺ
11.8	Failure to comply with HS&E standards or security plan	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
11.9	Accidents caused by or to resident communities or third parties	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	ĺ
11.10	Epidemic illness	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
11.11	Poor safety and environmental regulations	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
11.12	Poor performance of contractor in health and safety of work	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
11.13	Strict health and safety regulations	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
11.14	Poor planning of contractor for emergency measures	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
11.15	Public concerns related to health and safety of the project due to poor communication	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	
		0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	0	1	2	3	4	5	

Appendix E. Assessment of Causal Relationships between Risk and Opportunity Events

Please assess (i) the degree of causal influence of risk and opportunity event i (row) over risk and opportunity j (column) using the linguistic terms very low, low, medium, high, and very high (in addition to N/A-Not applicable); and (ii) the type of causal relationship between the risk and opportunity event as positive, negative, or not applicable (N/A).

Risk and opportunity Event	1.1 Lack of exper	ience and project	1.2 Poor coordina	tion and	1.3 Inadequate pr	oject organization	1.4 Poor relations	hip among	
	management skill	s of the project	communication an	mong various	structure		various parties in	volved in the	
	team	-	parties involved in	n the project		-	project		•••
	Degree of		Degree of		Degree of		Degree of		
	causal	Type of causal	causal	Type of causal	causal	Type of causal	causal	Type of causal	
	relationship	relationship	relationship	relationship	relationship	relationship	relationship	relationship	
1.1 Lack of experience and									
project management skills of									
the project team									
1.2 Poor coordination and									
communication among various									
parties involved in the project									
1.3 Inadequate project									
organization structure									
1.4 Poor relationship among									
various parties involved in the									
project									
1.5 Unavailability of sufficient									
professionals and managers									
2.2 Unanticipated engineering									
and design changes									
2.4 Delay in issuing									
construction drawing due to									
late approval									
2.8 Unproven engineering									
techniques (the techniques									
adopted are immature and									
cannot fulfill the standards and									
requirements as expected)									
3.1 Delays and interruptions									
causing cost increase to the									
work package/project									

Risk and opportunity Event	1.1 Lack of exper	ience and project	1.2 Poor coordina	tion and	1.3 Inadequate pr	oject organization	1.4 Poor relations	hip among	
	management skill	ls of the project	communication an	mong various	structure	, ,	various parties in	volved in the	
	team		parties involved in	n the project			project		
	Degree of		Degree of		Degree of		Degree of		
	causal	Type of causal	causal	Type of causal	causal	Type of causal	causal	Type of causal	
	relationship	relationship	relationship	relationship	relationship	relationship	relationship	relationship	
3.3 Unreasonably tight project									
schedule causing cost increase									
to the work package/project									
3.4 Complexity of proposed									
construction									
methods/techniques									
3.7 Adoption of improper,									
poor, or unproven construction									
methods/techniques									
3.8 Conflicting interfaces of									
work items									
3.9 Pressure to deliver project									
on accelerated schedule									
(pressure to crash project									
duration)									
3.10 Strict quality requirements									
3.12 Owner's improper									
intervention in construction									
phase									
3.13 Delay in approving the									
contractor work by consultant									
or owner of the project									•••
3.15 Vagueness of construction									
methods/techniques									•••
4.1.1 Unavailability of sufficient									
amount of skilled labour in project									
region									
4.1.5 Higher workforce attrition									
4.2.1 Unavailability or shortage of									
expected material									•••

Appendix F. Prioritized List of Risk and Opportunity Events for the

Risk ID	Description of risk and opportunity	Risk and opportunity	Net severity percentage $(\widetilde{NS}_{i1}^{Def})$	Rank
R3 1	Delays and interruptions causing cost	Construction	4.11	1
—	increase to the work package/project			
R3_8	Pressure to deliver project on accelerated schedule (pressure to crash project	Construction	1.52	2
	duration)			_
R3_9	Strict quality requirements	Construction	1.38	3
R7_5	Change in tax regulation	Economic and financial	1.18	4
R1_4	Poor project quality management including inadequate quality planning, quality assurance, and quality control	Management	1.16	5
R10_2	Force majeure (natural and man-made disasters that are beyond the control of the firm doing the risk analysis, e.g. floods, thunder and lightning, landslide, earthquake, hurricane, etc.)	Environmental	1.14	6
R10_1	Adverse weather conditions (continuous rainfall, snow, temperature, wind)	Environmental	1.12	7
R4_3_1	Unavailability or shortage of expected Equipment	Resource-related	1.05	8
R4 3 2	Equipment breakdown	Resource-related	1.05	8
R4_1_1	Unavailability of sufficient amount of skilled labour in project region	Resource-related	1.04	10
R5_10	Finding historical objects during excavation process	Site conditions	0.95	11
R4_3_4	Delay in equipment delivery to the project site	Resource-related	0.91	12
R10 6	Changes in environmental permitting	Environmental	0.89	13
R3_12	Delay in approving the contractor work by consultant or owner of the project	Construction	0.83	14
R3_13	Failure to identify construction defects	Construction	0.83	14
R4_1_5	Higher workforce attrition rates	Resource-related	0.82	16
R6_3	Change in codes and regulations	Contractual and legal	0.81	17

Structural Work Package

			Net severity	
	Description of risk and opportunity	Risk and opportunity	\widetilde{NC}^{Def}	
Risk ID	events	event category	(NS_{i1})	Rank
R3_3	Unreasonably tight project schedule	Construction	0.79	18
	causing cost increase to the work			
	package/project			
R9_1	Changes in government laws,	Political	0.79	18
	regulations, and policies affecting the			
	project			
R3_15	Technical mistakes during construction stage by contractor	Construction	0.78	20
R11_1	Accidents occurring during construction	Health and safety	0.73	21
R6_4	Possibility of contractual disputes and	Contractual and legal	0.71	22
	claims			
R6_5	Breach of contract by owner, contractor,	Contractual and legal	0.71	22
	or subcontractors			
R6_6	Contract and specification interpretation	Contractual and legal	0.69	24
	disagreement			
R1_5	Poor or incomplete definition of project	Management	0.59	25
	scope			
R1_3	Poor site management and supervision by	Management	0.53	26
54.4	the contractor			
R1_1	Poor coordination and communication	Management	0.51	27
	among various parties involved in the			
D2 7	project	Construction	0.46	20
K3_/	L ata acquatization site necessarian	Construction	0.46	28
K3_3	Delays in right of way process	Site conditions	0.45	29
KJ_9 D11 2	Incloquete sofety massures or unsofe	Site conditions	0.43	29
KII_2	operations	Health and safety	0.38	31
R11_12	Poor performance of contractor in health	Health and safety	0.38	31
	and safety of work			
R11_14	Poor planning of contractor for	Health and safety	0.38	31
	emergency measures			
R11_4	Damage to persons or property or	Health and safety	0.33	34
	materials due to poor health and safety			
	management of the project			
R5_15	Obstruction to surrounding business or	Site conditions	0.31	35
	others			

Appendix G. Prioritized List of Risk and Opportunity Events for the

Electrical	Work	Pac	kage
------------	------	-----	------

			Net severity	
			percentage	
	Description of risk and opportunity	Risk and opportunity	$(\widetilde{NS}_{i1}^{Def})$	
Risk ID	events	event category		Rank
R5_7	Security problems at project site	Site conditions	2.43	1
R4_2_2	Delay in materials delivery	Resource-related	1.51	2
R3_7	Conflicting interfaces of work items	Construction	1.39	3
R3_1	Delays and interruptions causing cost increase to the work package/project	Construction	1.36	4
R3_8	Pressure to deliver project on accelerated schedule (pressure to crash project duration)	Construction	1.32	5
R1_4	Poor project quality management including inadequate quality planning, quality assurance, and quality control	Management	1.19	6
R10_2	Force majeure (natural and man-made disasters that are beyond the control of the firm doing the risk analysis, e.g. floods, thunder and lightning, landslide, earthquake, hurricane, etc.)	Environmental	1.19	6
R7 5	Change in tax regulation	Economic and financial	1.18	8
R10_1	Adverse weather conditions (continuous rainfall, snow, temperature, wind)	Environmental	1.10	9
R4 4 6	Delay in appointing subcontractor	Resource-related	0.98	10
R4 4 3	Poor performance of subcontractors	Resource-related	0.95	11
R2_2	Delay in issuing construction drawing due to late approval	Technical	0.94	12
R3_3	Unreasonably tight project schedule causing cost increase to the work package/project	Construction	0.94	12
R3_9	Strict quality requirements	Construction	0.94	12
R4 4 1	Unavailability of qualified subcontractors	Resource-related	0.94	12
R11 1	Accidents occurring during construction	Health and safety	0.87	16
R2_8	Gaps between implementation and specifications; incompatibility between construction drawings and methods	Technical	0.85	17
R4_2_1	Unavailability or shortage of expected material	Resource-related	0.82	18

R9_1	Changes in government laws, regulations, and policies affecting the	Political	0.82	18
	project			
R3_4	Contractor's incompetence in executing	Construction	0.76	20
	the work package/project			
R3_15	Technical mistakes during construction stage by contractor	Construction	0.76	20
R3_13	Failure to identify construction defects	Construction	0.72	22
R3_10	Contractor's lack of experience in similar projects	Construction	0.68	23
R3_12	Delay in approving the contractor work by consultant or owner of the project	Construction	0.68	23
R6_4	Possibility of contractual disputes and claims	Contractual and legal	0.66	25
R6_6	Contract and specification interpretation disagreement	Contractual and legal	0.66	25
R8_5	Insecurity and crime (theft, vandalism and fraudulent practices)	Social	0.66	25
R1_1	Poor coordination and communication among various parties involved in the project	Management	0.61	28
R9_4	Delay or refusal of project approval and permit by government departments	Political	0.59	29
R1_2	Poor relationship among various parties involved in the project	Management	0.58	30
R7 3	Escalation of material prices	Economic and financial	0.54	31
R2_4	Unpredicted technical problems in construction	Technical	0.51	32
R4_2_3	Defective or non-conforming materials that do not meet the standard	Resource-related	0.42	33
R4_2_5	Import restrictions on materials needed in construction	Resource-related	0.39	34
R5_9	Delays in right of way process	Site conditions	0.36	35

Appendix H. Causal Loop Diagrams of Risk and Opportunity Event

Categories for the Structural Work Package



Causal loop diagram of the **management** risk and opportunity event category for the structural work package



Causal loop diagram of the **resource-related** risk and opportunity event category for the structural work package



Causal loop diagram of the **construction** risk and opportunity event category for the structural work package



Causal loop diagram of the **site conditions** risk and opportunity event category for the structural work package



Causal loop diagram of the contractual and legal, economic and financial, and political risk

and opportunity event categories for the structural work package



Causal loop diagram of the **health and safety** risk and opportunity event categories for the structural work package

Appendix I. Causal Loop Diagrams of Risk and Opportunity Event

Categories for the Electrical Work Package



Causal loop diagram of the management risk and opportunity event category for the electrical

work package



Causal loop diagram of the **technical** risk and opportunity event category for the electrical work

package



Causal loop diagram of the construction risk and opportunity event category for the electrical



Causal loop diagram of the **resource-related** risk and opportunity event category for the electrical work package



Causal loop diagram of the contractual and legal, economic and financial, and political risk

and opportunity event categories for the electrical work package

Appendix J. Sample User Interfaces of the FSD model

Importing the fuzzy arithmetic library to AnyLogic[®]

	Propertie	s 🖾		\bigtriangledown		
6	CivilW	orkF	Package1_AlpaCut - Agent Type			
	Name:	Civi	WorkPackage1_AlpaCı 🔲 Ignore			^
•	Paramete	ers pr	review			
Þ	Agent ac	tions				
•	Agent in	flow	charts			
•	Dimensio	ons ar	nd movement			
•	Space an	d net	work			
•	Advance	d Jav	a			
	Imports s impor impor impor	ection t fu t fu t fu	n: zzylogicarithmetic.*; zzylogicenumerations.*; zzylogicmembershipfunctions.*;]	ш
	Impleme	nts (c	omma-separated list of interfaces):		,	
	Additiona	al clas	s code: ed type]	
•	Advance	d				
•	Descripti	ion				-
٩.						

Creating dimensions for arrays

Name: RiskEventA	tributes 🔲 Ignore	
Sub-dimension of	-	
Define as: Enumerat Range	ion	
Name	Value]
RiskProbability	1	
RiskImpact	2	
RiskSeverity	3	
OpportunityProbability	4	
OpportunityImpact	5	
OpportunitySeverity	6	
CostOfWorkPackageAffectedIn	Pe 7	
CausalInteraction	8	

Specifying crisp values of parameters in the model

🔲 Properties 🛚		1	
C Forecasted	TotalWPCost_Civil - Parameter		
Name: Visible:	ForecastedTotalWPCost_Ci Show name	e 🔲 Ignore	A
Туре:	double 👻		_
Default value:	=, 12830614 amics array		
•			F

Defining parameters of fuzzy numbers for probability and impact of risk and opportunity events

Properties 🛛	1	▽ □	
ြူ R10_6 - Dynamic Variable			
Name: R10_6	how na	me	-
Ignore Visible on upper level			
Visible: 🔘 yes			
Color: teal 🔻			
Array { <u>RiskEventAttributes, FuzzyParameters</u> }	t 🔳 C	onstant	=
R10 6 [RiskProbability_a] =			
0.0/100.0		1	
6.02/100.0		1	
		_	
$\frac{R10_0 (RiskProbability, c)}{6.02/100.0} =$		1	
$R10_6 [RiskProbability, d] =$		1	
51.57/100.0			
R10_6 [<u>RiskImpact</u> , <u>a</u>] =		1	
16.12/100.0			
R10_6 [<u>RiskImpact</u> , <u>b</u>] =		7	
72.40/100.0			
R10_6 [<u>RiskImpact</u> , <u>c</u>] =		_	
78.62/100.0			
R10_6 [<u>RiskImpact</u> , <u>d]</u> =			
105.73/100.0			-
•			•

Creating table functions

🔲 Properties 🛛				~ -	' 🗆
G MonthlyPr	ogressPercentag	je_Civil - Table Func	tion		
Name:	MonthlyProgressPe	rcentag 🛛 Show name	🔲 Igno	ore	^
Visible:	yes				
Interpolation:	Spline 👻				
Out of range:	Nearest 👻				
- Table data					Ξ
• Table data					
Loaded from	n database				
Argument		Value			
0		0			
1		0.007			
2		0.012		=	
3		0.008			
4		0.025			
5		0.03			
6		0.098			
7		0.422			
8		0.234			
9		0.08		-	
[] ☆ ☆	• 🕹 💼 🔒				-
4		_			•

Specifying fuzzy arithmetic method and type of operation

□ Properties 🛛	2	7	7 🗆	
G _n R10_6 - Dynamic Variable				
				^
R10_6 [RiskSeverity, a] =				
FetchFuzzyMembershipParameters.getparametera				
AlphaCutArithmetic.multiplyfuzzysetsandreturnfuzzyset				
(new TrapezoidalMembershipFunction(R10_6[RiskProbability,a],R10_6[RiskProbability,b],R10_6[RiskProbability,c],R10_6[RiskProbability,c]	i])			
, new TrapezoidalMembershipFunction(R10 6[RiskImpact,a],R10 6[RiskImpact,b],R10 6[RiskImpact,c],R10 6[RiskImpact,d])				
				-
				1

Properties 🛛		~ -	- 1	3
G ₀ R10_6 - Dynamic Variable				
				*
R10_6 [RiskSeverity, a] =				
FetchFuzzyMembershipParameters.getparametera				
(ExtensionPrincipleArithmetic_HorizontalDiscretization.multiplyfuzzysetsandreturnfuzzyset /				=
new TrapezoidalMembershipFunction(R10_6[RiskProbability,a],R10_6[RiskProbability,b],R10_6[RiskProbability,c],R10_6[RiskProbability,d]	1)			
, new TrapezoidalMembershipFunction(R10_6[RiskImpact,a],R10_6[RiskImpact,b],R10_6[RiskImpact,c],R10_6[RiskImpact,d])				
, TNorm.DRASTICPRODUCT				
0.1				
				-
4			Þ	

Setting simulation properties of the model

Properties 🛛	T 🗸 🗖
O Simulation - Simulatio	on Experiment
Name:	Simulation Ignore
Top-level agent:	WindPowerProject1_Drastic +
Maximum available memory:	16384 ▼ Mb
▼ Model time	
Execution mode:	ime (as fast as possible) e with scale 500 -
Stop: Stop at spe	ecified time 🔻
Start time: 0	Stop time: 12
Start date: 01/12/2017	Stop date: 26/11/2018
12:00:00 AM	
•	4 III

Collecting data instances (e.g., total project contingency) at each time step

🔲 Properties 🛛		2 -	· 🗆			
TotalProjectCon	tingency_dataset_a - Data Set					
Name:	TotalProjectContingency_c 🕼 Show name	Ignore	^			
Visible:	yes					
🔽 Use time as horizon	tal axis value					
Horizontal axis value:						
Vertical axis value:	TotalContingency_Project.get(Ris	kSeverity, ▶				
Keep up to 100 latest samples O Update data automatically						
Do not update data	automatically					
Ose model time () Use calendar dates					
First update time:	🤿 0 n	nonths 👻				
Update date:	09/01/2019 🔍 × 8:00:00 AM					
Recurrence time:	🖓 1	nonths 🔻				
[♀]	ion logging		-			
•			•			



Plotting model outputs (e.g., total project contingency over the project duration)